
South Hams Audit 
Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Thursday, 30th June, 2016

Time: 10.00 am

Venue: Cary Room - Follaton House

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Wingate
Vice Chairman Cllr Pennington

Members: Cllr Bramble
Cllr Brazil

Cllr Pearce

Substitutes: Named substitutes are not appointed

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Member.Services@swdevon.gov.uk



Page No

1.  Minutes 1 - 6

To approve as a correct record and authorise the Chairman 
to sign the minutes of the Audit Committee held on 24 
March 2016;

2.  Urgent Business

Brought forward at the discretion of the Chairman;

3.  Division of Agenda

To consider whether the discussion of any item of business 
is likely to lead to the disclosure of exempt information;

4.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests they may have, including the nature and 
extent of such interests, in any items to be considered at 
this meeting;

5.  KPMG Interim Audit Report 2015/16 7 - 20

(Please note: the management response to this report will 
be presented to the next Committee meeting on 28 July 
2016);

6.  Annual Audit Fee 2015/16 - KPMG Report 21 - 28

7.  Local Authority Corporate Risk Register Analysis - KPMG 
Report 

29 - 36

8.  Annual Governance Statement 37 - 60

9.  Update on Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and 
Strategy, Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Confidential 
Reporting Policy 

61 - 128



Page No

10.  Internal Audit Annual Report 2015/16 129 - 154





 
Audit 24.3.16 

 
 
 

 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
HELD AT FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES ON THURSDAY 24 MARCH  2016 

 
Members in attendance  
* Denotes attendance 

Ø Denotes apology for absence 
 

* Cllr I Bramble * Cllr J T Pennington (Chairman) 
Ø Cllr J Brazil * Cllr K R H Wingate (Vice-Chairman) 
* Cllr R J Foss   

 
Members also in attendance:  

 
Cllrs M J Hicks, N A Hopwood and S A E Wright 

 
Item No  Minute  

Ref No below 
refers 

Officers and Visitors in attendance  

All 
Items 

 
 

Head of Paid Service, Executive Director (Service 
Delivery and Commercial Development), Monitoring 
Officer, Group Manager – Business Development, 
Section 151 Officer, Deputy Section 151 Officer, 
Representatives from the Devon Audit Partnership 
and KPMG and Senior Specialist – Democratic 
Services 

 
 
A.31/15 MINUTES 
 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 7 January 2016 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

 
 
A.32/15 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of the meeting, but none were 
made. 

 
 
A.33/15 LOCAL GOVERNMENT BUDGET SURVEY – KPMG REPORT 

 
 A report was presented that had been produced by KPMG with the 
purpose of enabling the Council to consider the budget information it 
required to help address the financial challenges it faced. 
 
In discussion, reference was made to:- 

 
(a) the Council Budget book.  Members were informed that the Budget 

book was currently being re-designed to reflect the new Operating 
Model arising from the Transformation Programme.  To support the re-
design, it was PROPOSED and SECONDED:- 



 
Audit 24.3.16 

 
 
 

 
 

 
‘That the Leader of Council be asked to nominate a small 
informal working group of Members with the remit of re-designing 
the Council’s Budget Book to reflect the new organisational 
structure and ways of working.’ 
 
When put to the vote, the recommendation was declared CARRIED. 
 
Members were also of the view that the working group should give 
consideration to the merits of establishing a brief summary document 
that outlined high level financial information (which was regularly 
updated) for the reference of Members; 
 

(b) levels of reserves.  When questioned, officers confirmed that they were 
content with the current level of unearmarked reserves and felt that the 
minimum level of £1.5 million was appropriate.  With regard to the 
earmarked reserves, it was confirmed that they currently stood at £3 
million. 

 
  It was then: 
 

RESOLVED  
 
1. That the report be noted; and 

 
2. That the Leader of Council be asked to nominate a small 

working group of Members with the remit of re-designing 
the Council’s Budget Book to reflect the new organisational 
structure and ways of working. 

   
  

A.34/15 EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN – KPMG REPORT 
 

The Committee considered a report from KPMG that presented their 
External Audit Plan for the Council. 
 
In discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 
(a) The Committee noted that the Council would be required before the 

middle of October to make a decision on whether or not to accept the 
four year funding settlement being offered by central government.  
Members noted the need for further information to be gleaned on the 
merits of the settlement before a decision was taken and that it was due 
to be discussed in detail at a meeting of the Devon Treasurers Group in 
April 2016.  Officers also gave an assurance that the Audit Committee 
would consider this issue before it was presented to full Council for a 
decision; 
 

(b) In terms of the resource implications arising from the elector challenge, 
officers confirmed that the Council had received one request last year 
that had amounted to two hours of officer time; 

 



 
Audit 24.3.16 

 
 
 

 
 

(c) Officers advised that the main driver for the change in revenue accruals 
de-minimis policy was to help with the process of closing down the 
accounts more quickly; 

 
(d) The KPMG representative informed the Committee that the 

organisation had recently completed its first on-site external audit.  It 
was noted that this visit had been successful and that no significant 
issues had arisen.  The representative also wished to put on record his 
gratitude for the support and enthusiasm that KPMG had received from 
the finance team. 

 
It was then: 

 
   RESOLVED 
 
   That the External Audit Plan be noted. 

 
 

A.35/15 APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS  
 

Members considered a report that advised the Committee of the: 
 
- requirement for the Council to appoint its own external auditor from 

2018/19; 
- necessary steps that need to be taken to meet this deadline; and 
- various options available.  
 
During discussion, it became apparent that the Committee currently 
favoured the concept of the sector-led option.  However, Members 
recognised the importance of more information being available on all 
potential future options before a decision was ultimately made. 

 
It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
 
1. That the implications of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 and the requirement for the Council to appoint a 
local auditor by 31 December 2017 be noted; and 
 

2. That a decision will be required as to whether South Hams 
either opts in to a sector-led body or decides to appoint its 
own local auditor (and if so, which further option is then 
selected). 

 
 
A.36/15 REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION 
 

The Committee was presented with a report that presented the annual 
review of the Council Constitution. 
 
In discussion, the Committee acknowledged the need for an imminent 



 
Audit 24.3.16 

 
 
 

 
 

review into both the Contract and Financial Procedure Rules. 
 
It was then: 
 

RECOMMENDED 
   
That Council be RECOMMENDED to:- 
   
1. approve the amendments to the Council Constitution (as 

summarised in paragraph 2 of the presented agenda report 
and fully outlined on the Council website) and that the 
revised Constitution be adopted at the Annual Meeting in 
May 2016; and 

 
2. acknowledge the need for an imminent review into both the 

Contract and Financial Procedure Rules. 
 
 
A.37/15 STRATEGIC RISK ASSESSMENT – REGULAR UPDATE 
 
 Members considered a report that presented the six-monthly update to the 

Committee.  In particular, the report included the current corporate strategic 
risk assessment and a summary of the management and mitigating actions 
to address the identified risks. 

 
 In discussion, the following points were raised:- 
 

(a) Since the implementation of the Local Authority Controlled Company 
(LACC) was identified in the Corporate Risk report, the Chairman took 
the opportunity to raise his concerns over the proposals and he 
proceeded to propose the following recommendation:- 

 
‘That the Committee RECOMMEND to the Council that all work relating 
to the Local Authority Controlled Company should be halted immediately 
due to the large number of financial, marketing, legal and staffing risks 
identified in the Grant Thornton ‘Options Appraisal for Establishment of a 
Local Authority Controlled Company (LACC) report.’ 
 
Whilst the proposal had not been seconded, the Chairman invited 
officers to respond.  In so doing, officers advised that: 
 
o the identified risk would only be applicable in the event of the LACC 

being established; 
o in the event of the commissioned independent Business Case 

concluding that the LACC would not be viable, then officers would not 
be recommending its establishment; 

o the business case itself would be designed to mitigate against each of 
the identified risks.  In addition, the Business Case would be looking 
at all aspects of risk, exit strategies and budgetary forecasts; 

o the intention being for the business case to be considered by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel and the Executive before it was 
ultimately presented to full Council at the end of June 2016; 



 
Audit 24.3.16 

 
 
 

 
 

o a series of Member Briefings and Drop-in Sessions had been put in 
the diary to aid Member understanding of the proposals. 

 
Members of the Committee felt that the Chairman’s proposal was 
somewhat pre-emptive and that it was therefore more appropriate to wait 
for the business case to be published.  As a consequence, the 
Chairman’s proposal was not seconded. 
 
However, Members did confirm their sympathy with some of the 
concerns expressed by the Chairman and felt it to be regrettable that the 
membership had not raised its concerns before the decision had been 
taken to spend a considerable amount of money to commission a 
Business Case.  In light of these views, the following recommendation 
was PROPOSED and SECONDED:- 
 
‘That, due to the large number of financial, marketing, legal and staffing 
risks identified in the Grant Thornton ‘Options Appraisal for 
Establishment of a Local Authority Controlled Company (LACC)’ report,  
the Committee wishes to make its extreme concerns regarding the 
LACC proposals known to the wider Council membership.’ 
 
When put to the vote, this recommendation was declared CARRIED. 
 

(b) The Committee was of the view that there was a lack of information 
currently available to Members in relation to recruitment and staffing 
levels.  For example, Members felt that information on staffing numbers, 
agency numbers, use of consultants and the associated costs of these 
were of particular interest and should therefore be a regular standing 
agenda item for the Committee. 
 
Members proceeded to PROPOSE and SECOND the following 
recommendation:- 
 
‘That information on staffing numbers, agency numbers, use of 
consultants and the associated costs should be a regular agenda item 
for the Audit Committee to consider for the foreseeable future.’  

 
 When put to the vote, the recommendation was declared CARRIED. 
 
 It was then: 
 
  RESOLVED 
 

1. That, due to the large number of financial, marketing, legal 
and staffing risks identified in the Grant Thornton ‘Options 
Appraisal for Establishment of a Local Authority Controlled 
Company (LACC)’ report,  the Committee wishes to make 
its extreme concerns regarding the LACC proposals 
known to the wider Council membership;  
 

  



 
Audit 24.3.16 

 
 
 

 
 

2. That information on staffing numbers, agency numbers, 
use of consultants and the associated costs should be a 
regular agenda item for the Committee to consider for the 
foreseeable future; and 
 

3. That the Committee has reviewed the six-monthly strategic 
risk assessment. 
 
 

A.38/15 2016/17 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 
 
 The Committee considered a report that provided it with the opportunity to 

review and comment upon the proposed internal audit plan for 2016/17. 
 
 In discussion, reference was made to:- 
 

(a) street cleaning.  During the proposed beach and street cleaning audit 
and, in light of some concerns raised by the Committee, officers agreed 
to review how the Council responded to complaints it received in relation 
to street cleaning; 
 

(b) planning enforcement.  It was noted that, as part of the proposed internal 
audit, officers had been tasked (at the end of quarter three) with 
reviewing how effective the recent Council decision to approve the 
planning enforcement plan had been (Minute 65/15 refers).  Having been 
informed by the lead Executive Member, the Committee also welcomed 
the diarised fortnightly meetings between legal and planning officers 
which were intended to support the process of reducing the backlog of 
enforcement cases.    
 

 It was then: 
 
  RESOLVED 
 

1. That the report be noted; and 
 

2. That the draft Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17 (as outlined 
at Appendix A of the presented agenda report) be 
approved. 

 
 
(Meeting commenced at 10.00 am and finished at 11.40 am)  
 
                                                                                                       ________________ 

Chairman 



Interim Audit 
Report 2015/16

South Hams District Council
June 2016



1

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Contents

The contacts at KPMG 

in connection with this 
report are:

Darren Gilbert
Director
KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 0292 046 8205
darren.gilbert@kpmg.co.uk

Adam Bunting
Manager
KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 0117 905 4470
adam.bunting@kpmg.co.uk

Page

Report sections

— Introduction 2

— Headlines 3

— Financial statements 4

Appendices

1. Key issues and recommendations 9

This report is addressed to the Authority and has been prepared for the sole use of the Authority. We take no responsibility to any member of staff acting in their individual capacities, or to 
third parties. Public Sector Audit Appointments issued a document entitled Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies summarising where the responsibilities of auditors 
begin and end and what is expected from audited bodies. We draw your attention to this document which is available on Public Sector Audit Appointment’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

External auditors do not act as a substitute for the audited body’s own responsibility for putting in place proper arrangements to ensure that public business is conducted in accordance with 
the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are dissatisfied with any part of KPMG’s work, in the first instance you should contact Darren 
Gilbert, the engagement lead to the Authority, who will try to resolve your complaint. If you are dissatisfied with your response please contact the national lead partner for all of KPMG’s work 
under our contract with Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, Andrew Sayers (on 0207 694 8981, or by email to andrew.sayers@kpmg.co.uk). After this, if you are still dissatisfied with 
how your complaint has been handled you can access PSAA’s complaints procedure by emailing generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk, by telephoning 020 7072 7445 or by writing to Public Sector 
Audit Appointments Limited, 3rd Floor, Local Government House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3H.



2

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

This document summarises 
the key findings arising from 
our work to date in relation to 
the audit of the Authority’s 
2015/16 financial statements.

Scope of this report

This report summarises the key findings arising from:

— Our interim audit work at South Hams District Council (‘the Authority’) 
in relation to the Authority’s 2015/16 financial statements

— This report does not cover our 2015/16 value for money (VFM) 
conclusion. Our work in relation to this will be undertaken during July 
2016.

Financial statements

Our External Audit Plan 2015/16, presented to you in March 2016, set out 
the four stages of our financial statements audit process. 

During January to May 2016 we completed our planning and control 
evaluation work. This covered:

— Review of the Authority’s general control environment, including the 
Authority’s IT systems;

— Testing of certain controls over the Authority’s key financial systems; 

— Review of relevant internal audit work which we are seeking to reply 
upon; and

— Review of the Authority’s accounts production process, including work 
to address prior year audit recommendations and the specific risk 
areas we have identified for this year.

VFM conclusion 

Our External Audit Plan 2015/16 explained our risk-based approach to 
VFM work, which is supported by the Code of Audit Practice, published by 
the NAO in April 2015. 

We will complete our work in response to the specific risks identified during 
our final visit in July.  The results of this work will be reported in our ISA 
260 Report 2015/16.

Structure of this report

This report is structured as follows:

— Section 2 summarises the headline messages.

— Section 3 sets out our key findings from our interim audit work in 
relation to the 2015/16 financial statements.

Our recommendations are included in Appendix 1. 

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to thank officers and Members for 
their continuing help and co-operation throughout our audit work.

Introduction
Section one



3

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

This table summarises the 
headline messages. The 
remainder of this report 
provides further details on 
each area.

Headlines
Section two

Organisational and IT 
control environment

Your organisational control environment is effective overall. 

The council has appropriate procedures for monitoring budgets, strategic plans and risks, and compliance with its 
constitution. Sufficient procedures are also in place for identifying related parties and responding to fraud.

The IT team and structure in place at the Council has been reduced in size, but provides the key functions that we would 
expect of such an authority. Our review of Internal Audit’s work, however, did suggest that annual disaster recovery 
exercises have not been performed which, combined with issues identified in relation to the communication and updating 
of documents in the area of emergency planning, form a recommendation that we have set out in Appendix 1.

Controls over key 
financial systems

In relation to those controls upon which we will place reliance as part of our audit, the key financial systems are generally
sound.

Despite this, we did identify potential improvements which are detailed further in Appendix 1.

Review of internal audit Reports and working papers produced by Internal Audit appeared to be of an appropriate standard.

In the main, these reports did not relate to the financial controls we sought to rely on for our audit purposes, however, so 
only limited reliance has been placed upon the work of Internal Audit.

Accounts production and 
specific risk areas for the 
Authority

The Authority’s overall process for the preparation of the financial statements is strong. 

The Authority has a closedown schedule in place identifying areas and responsibilities for key areas. We will revisit these 
areas during our final accounts audit.



4

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Your organisational control 
environment is effective 
overall. 

Work completed

Controls operated at an organisational level often have an impact on 
controls at an operational level and if there were weaknesses this would 
have implications for our audit. 

We obtain an understanding of the Authority’s overall control environment 
and determine if appropriate controls have been implemented. We do not 
complete detailed testing of these controls.

Key findings

We consider that your organisational controls are effective overall.

Despite this, Internal Audit identified areas where further improvements 
could be made in relation to:

— The expected annual IT disaster recovery exercise has not been 
undertaken during the year; and

— Policies, plans and guidance relating to disaster recovery had not 
been subject to formal review within a reasonable timeframe and 
access to such has been restricted to the extent that senior leadership 
may be unable to familiarise themselves with it.

As these matters have already been raised by Internal Audit, we have not 
included separate recommendations in this report.

Organisational and IT control environment
Section three – Financial statements

Aspect Assessment

Organisational controls:

Management’s philosophy and operating style 

Culture of honesty and ethical behaviour 

Oversight by those charged with governance 

Risk assessment process 

Communications 

Monitoring of controls 

IT Environment 

Keys:  Significant gaps in the control environment.
 Deficiencies in respect of individual controls.
 Generally sound control environment.

£



5

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

We placed limited reliance on 
Internal Audit’s work on the 
key financial systems.

Background

United Kingdom Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) apply 
across the whole of the public sector, including local government. These 
standards are intended to promote further improvement in the 
professionalism, quality, consistency and effectiveness of internal audit 
across the public sector. Additional guidance for local authorities is 
included in the Local Government Application Note on the PSIAS.

Work completed

The scope of the work of your internal auditors (the Devon Audit 
Partnership) and their findings informs our audit risk assessment.

We work with your internal auditors to assess the control framework for 
certain key financial systems and seek to rely on any relevant work they 
have completed to minimise unnecessary duplication of work. Our audit fee 
is set on the assumption that we can place appropriate reliance on their 
work. 

Where we intend to rely on internal audit’s work in respect of the 
Authority’s key financial systems, auditing standards require us to 
complete an overall assessment of the internal audit function and to 
evaluate and test aspects of their work. 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards define the way in which the 
internal audit service should undertake its functions. The Devon Audit 
Partnership updates the internal audit charter and strategy each year. This 
is subsequently reviewed by the Council’s Audit Committee. We have 
reviewed the latest 2015-16 internal audit charter and strategy and the 
Audit Committee’s subsequent review and approval of this.

We have also reviewed the internal audit function and the reports received 
at the time of our interim visit.

Key findings
Based on the Audit Committee’s review of the internal audit charter and 
strategy, our assessment of their reports, attendance at Audit Committee 
and other meetings during the course of the year, we have not identified 
any significant issues which would indicate internal audit are not compliant 
with the PSIAS. 

We were able to place reliance upon the work of Internal Audit in line with 
our planned usage for the year.

We are mindful that internal audit try to cover testing that covers the whole 
of the Authority’s financial year and in some instances because of the 
timing of their work, the close down meetings or draft internal audit reports 
have not been finalised in time for our interim work.

As a result of this there is a potential that findings will be revised. Where 
this happens, additional work may be required to meet our own 
requirements.  No such work has been required to date, and we will liaise 
with the Authority in the event that such a need arises.

Review of internal audit
Section three – Financial statements 



6

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

The controls over the majority 
of the key financial systems 
are sound.

However, there are some 
improvements noted in 
Appendix 1.

Work completed

We review the outcome of internal audit’s work on the financial systems to 
influence our assessment of the overall control environment, which is a key 
factor when determining the external audit strategy.

Where we have determined that this is the most efficient audit approach to 
take, we evaluate the design and implementation of the control and then 
test selected controls that address key risks within these systems. The 
strength of the control framework informs the substantive testing we 
complete during our final accounts visit. 

Our assessment of a system will not always be in line with your internal 
auditors’ opinion on that system. This is because we are solely interested 
in whether our audit risks are mitigated through effective controls, i.e. 
whether the system is likely to produce materially reliable figures for 
inclusion in the financial statements.

We considered that the most efficient approach for this first year audit was 
to perform our own controls review and testing of the accounts processes 
on the right. Depending on the process, this involved reviewing 
reconciliations and other checks, identifying documentation behind 
individual transactions, and reviewing evidence of arrangements ahead of 
year-end processes.

Key findings

Based on our work, in relation to those controls upon which we will place 
reliance as part of our audit, the key financial systems are generally sound. 
However, we have identified several improvements connected with 
individual processes as follows:

— There was a lack of evidence of review of reconciliations, following the 
council’s transition to being paperless. It is understood the possibility 
of using digital signatures is being explored, and we recommend this 
is pursued where practical;

— We also recommend formal monitoring of the level of ‘unmatched’ 
items in each month’s cumulative bank reconciliation to further 
improve cash processes;

— Our consideration of the Council’s monthly benefits review noted 
commentary was lacking in some months, although in each case, the 
benefits team did ‘catch up’ in the following month;

— The timeliness of reconciliations between the payroll system and 
general ledger could be enhanced;

— There was a lack of evidence of consideration of the reconciling items 
arising following the preparation of the monthly creditor and 
purchasing reconciliations; and

— Whilst payroll starter and leaver controls were deemed effective, 
documentation issues were noted regarding incomplete leaver forms.

Controls over key financial systems
Section three – Financial statements 

Keys:  Significant gaps in the control environment.
 Deficiencies in respect of individual controls.
 Generally sound control environment 

Financial system
Controls 

Assessment

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Pension Assets and Liabilities 
Non pay expenditure 
Payroll 
Housing benefits expenditure 
Business rates and council tax income 

£



7

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

The Authority’s overall 
process for the preparation of 
the financial statements is 
adequate. 

Accounts production process

We issued our Interim Accounts Audit Protocol to the Director of Finance 
on 23 February 2016. This document summarises the working papers and 
other evidence we require the Authority to provide to support our audit 
work.

We will continue to meet with the finance team on a regular basis to 
support them during the financial year end closedown and accounts 
preparation. 

Key findings

We consider that the plans for the preparation of your financial statements 
is adequate based on our review to date of the year end closedown 
process.

Accounts production process
Section three – Financial statements 

£



8

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

The Authority has a good 
understanding of the key 
audit risk areas we identified 
and is making progress in 
addressing them. 

However, these still present 
significant challenges that 
require careful management 
and focus. We will revisit 
these areas during our final 
accounts audit.

Specific audit risk areas
Section three – Financial statements 

£

Work completed

In our External Audit Plan 2015/16, presented to you in March, we 
identified the key audit risks affecting the Authority’s 2015/16 financial 
statements. 

Our audit strategy and plan remain flexible as risks and issues change 
throughout the year. To date we have identified one additional risk in 
relation to the Council’s provision for non-domestic rates appeals.

We have been discussing these risks with finance officers as part of our 
meetings. In addition, we will seek to review relevant workings and 
evidence, and agree the accounting treatment, as part of our final work. 

Key findings

The Authority has a clear understanding of the risks and making progress 
in addressing them. However, these still present significant challenges that 
require careful management and focus. We will revisit these areas during 
our final accounts audit.

The table below provides a summary of the work the Authority has 
completed to date to address these risks.

Significant Risk 1 - Allocation of Shared Costs

— Outline of risk:

The Authority operates a shared service with its neighbour, West Devon Borough Council. As a result of this arrangement, costs are initially borne by 
each council individually, and then an exercise is undertaken to ensure that these are shared on an appropriate and consistent basis. This is essential 
to ensuring that the Authority recognises its full costs and to prevent cross subsidy between the two councils. In order to operate effectively, the 
allocation of costs must be undertaken on an appropriate basis which reflects the nature of the underlying activities and the way in which the resources 
are consumed.

— Interim/Preliminary assessment and work undertaken:

This risk was discussed at our interim visit. It was established that whilst a number of overheads are relatively straightforward to apportion (for example, 
using the number of calls in the year), other areas (such as allocating other staff costs) requires more judgement. 

Our plan is to review the balances and the bases of apportionment during our year-end visit. We will consider obtaining confirmations from individuals 
alongside other audit procedures to gain reasonable assurance over the more judgemental apportionment.

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error.



9

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Significant Risk 2 – Non-Domestic Rates Appeals (new)

— Outline of risk:

As a result of the localisation of non-domestic rates, the Council has assumed responsibility in relation to payments arising from valuation appeals.  
There is currently potentially significant appeals awaiting conclusion in relation to properties located within the Council’s boundaries.  Whilst the exact 
outcome is still to be determined, there is a risk that the Council will be liable to significant back payment as well as ongoing reduction to annual non-
domestic rates income. As a result the Councils NNDR3 return for 2015/16 includes a significant increase of £26.7m in the appeals provision.  Whilst 
this would be shared with Central Government, Devon County Council and Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue, the impact on the Council would still be 
material as the Council receives 40% of non-domestic rates income.

— Interim/Preliminary assessment and work undertaken:

This risk has come to our attention within the last few weeks.  As a result, no detailed work has been undertaken to date.  We have, however, held 
preliminary discussions with the Finance Community of Practice Lead (S151 Officer) in relation to this matter.

During our final audit visit we will consider the methodology that the Council has used to calculate its provision for non-domestic rates appeals.  We will 
specifically consider the approach taken in relation to any individually significant appeals and the position of those appeals at the point of signing our 
audit opinion.

The Authority has a good 
understanding of the key 
audit risk areas we identified 
and is making progress in 
addressing them. 

However, these still present 
significant challenges that 
require careful management 
and focus. We will revisit 
these areas during our final 
accounts audit.

Specific audit risk areas (cont.)
Section three – Financial statements 

£



10

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

We have given each 
recommendation a risk rating 
and agreed what action 
management will need to 
take. 

The Authority should closely 
monitor progress in 
addressing specific risks and 
implementing our 
recommendations.

We will formally follow up 
these recommendations next 
year.

Key issues and recommendations
Appendix 1

Priority rating for recommendations

 Priority one: Issues that are fundamental 
and material to your system of internal 
control. We believe that these issues 
might mean that you do not meet a 
system objective or reduce (mitigate) a 
risk.

 Priority two: Issues that have an 
important effect on internal controls but 
do not need immediate action. You may 
still meet a system objective in full or in 
part or reduce (mitigate) a risk adequately 
but the weakness remains in the system. 

 Priority three: Issues that would, if 
corrected, improve the internal control in 
general but are not vital to the overall 
system. These are generally issues of 
best practice that we feel would benefit 
you if you introduced them.

No. Risk Issue and recommendation Management response/responsible officer/due date

3  Review of Benefit Payments
We reviewed the Benefits team’s monthly checking of benefits 
claims and related payments. For each month tested, the 
spreadsheet extracted from Northgate was appropriately 
produced. However, the manual checking to supplement these 
was not always evident.

If benefit payments go unchecked, there is a risk that 
administrative errors in payment could approach more material 
levels.

We did note that in the case of each month we selected where 
this was noted, checking was performed in the subsequent 
month.

Recommendation
Due to business needs, it may be difficult to fully evidence such 
checks each month, although we recommend that this is 
performed. It may be possible to assign specific areas of 
checking to different team members to the extent that no single 
individual completes a month’s checks. This might also enable 
better segregation of duties.

Ensure that the checks are signed off or more formally reviewed 
in line with our recommendation regarding reconciliations more 
generally.



11

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Key issues and recommendations (cont.)
Appendix 1

No. Risk Issue and recommendation Management response/responsible officer/due date

2  Review of Reconciliations
There is a lack of formal evidence of review following the 
council’s transition to being paperless. In some cases, it is 
possible to follow comments and to assess whether the 
reconciliations have been adequately prepared. However, staff 
with access to the saved locations could amend such 
comments. 

Furthermore, in the case of some of the prepared 
reconciliations, it is harder to judge management’s awareness 
of the items contained therein. The monthly purchasing and 
creditors reconciliations are generated and produced, but with 
the absence of comments.  As a result it is hard to assess 
whether management is content for reconciling items to be left 
until the next month or whether further investigation is required. 
Equally, while commentary is evident on bank reconciliations, 
part of the reconciliation to the bank balance is categorised by 
‘unmatched’ items next to which no further commentary is 
provided.

Recommendation
Explore the possibility of implementing digital signatures. 
Assessing which reconciliations should be signed off is a matter 
of judgement and practicality. In particular, we recommend
signing the monthly bank reconciliations, as this adds a layer of 
accountability and traceability against the risk of material fraud.

Introduce further commentary and/or monitoring of the level of 
‘unmatched’ items in each month’s reconciliation to address the 
points above.

We have given each 
recommendation a risk rating 
and agreed what action 
management will need to 
take. 

The Authority should closely 
monitor progress in 
addressing specific risks and 
implementing our 
recommendations.

We will formally follow up 
these recommendations next 
year.



12

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Key issues and recommendations
Appendix 1

No. Risk Issue and recommendation Management response/responsible officer/due date

4  Payroll and HR Documentation
We reviewed the process for new joiners and leavers in the 
year. In most cases, sufficient documentation was available and 
payroll cut-off was appropriate. We noted two of the leavers 
sampled lacked leaver forms, and we are also awaiting 
documentation on two further items.

While we did not identify issues in terms of the checking and 
processing of payroll runs, we noticed that the monthly payroll 
reconciliations to the ledger were not up-to-date in South Hams 
at the time of our interim visit. There is a risk that any incorrect 
payments or differences could go unchecked.

Recommendation
Implement the policy to ensure that all the documents and 
forms required to meet HR’s procedures are obtained. Payment 
runs should be reconciled to the ledger on a timely basis.

We have given each 
recommendation a risk rating 
and agreed what action 
management will need to 
take. 

The Authority should closely 
monitor progress in 
addressing specific risks and 
implementing our 
recommendations.

We will formally follow up 
these recommendations next 
year.



Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

kpmg.com/socialmedia kpmg.com/app

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with 
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

The KPMG name and logo are registered trademarks or trademarks of KPMG International. | Create Graphics: CRT060265A

KPMG LLP is multi-disciplinary practice authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. For full details of our professional 
regulation please refer to ‘Regulatory Information’ at www.kpmg.com/uk

http://kpmg.com/socialmedia
http://kpmg.com/socialmedia


 

        

 KPMG LLP  Tel +44 (0) 29 2046 8205 

  Audit  Fax +44 (0) 29 2046 8119 
  3 Assembly Square  darren.gilbert@kpmg.co.uk 

  Britannia Quay   
  Cardiff CF10 4AX   
  United Kingdom   

     
 

  

KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the 
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  

Registered in England No OC301540 
Registered office: 15 Canada Square, London, E14 5GL 
For full details of our professional regulation please refer to ‘Regulatory 
Information’ at www.kpmg.com/uk 

 

Lisa Buckle 
Finance Community of Practice Lead 
South Hams District Council 
Follaton House 
Plymouth Road 
Totnes 
Devon  TQ9 5NE 

5 April 2016 

 
  
  
  

Our ref SHDC/1617/Fee Letter 
  

Contact Adam Bunting 
 +44 (0)117 905 4470 
  

   

 
  

  

  
  

   

Dear Lisa 

Annual audit fee 2016/17 
 

I am writing to confirm the audit work and fee that we propose for the 2016/17 financial year at 
South Hams District Council. Our proposals are based on the risk-based approach to audit 
planning as set out in the Code of Audit Practice and Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd’s 
(PSAA’s) published work programme and fee scales. 

Planned audit fee 

The planned audit and certification fees for 2016/17 are shown below, along with a comparison 
to the prior year’s fee. All fees are exclusive of VAT. 

Audit area Planned fee 2016/17 Planned fee 2015/16 

Code of Audit Practice audit fee 43,404 43,404 

Certification of housing benefit grant claims  7,328 7,670 

 
PSAA has set the 2016/17 scale fee for the audit of Council’s financial statements at the same 
level as for 2015/16, thereby preserving the 25 per cent reductions that were applied that year 
which in turn was in addition to the savings of up to 40 per cent in scale audit fees and certification 
fees in 2012/13.  The planned fee is in line with the scale fee.  

As we have not yet completed our audit for 2015/16 the audit planning process for 2016/17, 
including the risk assessment, will continue as the year progresses and fees will be reviewed and 
updated as necessary. We will naturally keep you informed. 

mailto:darren.gilbert@kpmg.co.uk


ABCD 

 

 KPMG LLP 
 Annual audit fee 2016/17 
 5 April 2016 

 

SHDC/1617/Fee Letter 2 
 

Redistribution of Audit Commission surplus 

Following completion of the Audit Commission’s 2014/15 accounts, PSAA received a payment 
in respect of the Audit Commission’s retained earnings. PSAA will distribute this and any other 
surpluses from audit fees to audited bodies, on a timetable to be established by the PSAA 
Board.  

This distribution will be made directly by PSAA and not via KPMG. Based on current 
information, PSAA anticipates that the amount of the redistribution is likely to be in the order of 
15% of the scale fee. 

Factors affecting audit work for 2016/17 

We plan and deliver our work to fulfil our responsibilities under the Code of Audit Practice (the 
Code) issued by the National Audit Office (NAO). Under the Code, we tailor our work to reflect 
local circumstances and our assessment of audit risk. We do this by assessing the significant 
financial and operational risks facing an audited body, and the arrangements it has put in place 
to manage those risks, as well as considering any changes affecting our audit responsibilities or 
financial reporting standards. 

CIPFA/LASAAC has confirmed that the 2016/17 Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom will adopt the measurement requirements of the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Transport Infrastructure Assets for highways network assets. 
CIPFA/LASAAC has indicated that it is unlikely that these changes will apply to district 
councils as it is unlikely that they hold assets which form part of the highways network, 
however this will need to be assessed by the Authority. If the Authority does hold material 
highways network assets then this change will require additional work in 2016/17, but PSAA 
has indicated that it is not appropriate to increase the scale fees to cover the costs of this work 
because the amount of work required at individual authorities will vary based on local 
circumstances. The fees for this additional work will therefore be discussed and agreed with you 
in due course and will be subject to PSAA’s normal fee variation process. PSAA expects that 
the additional fees for a non-highways authority to be up to £5,000, where authorities are able to 
provide the information required and the auditor is able to rely on central assurance of the 
valuation models in use. This amount is indicative and therefore higher costs may be necessary.  

Under the Code, we have a responsibility to consider an audited body’s arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to do this we will undertake 
appropriate value for money (VFM) audit work. The 2016/17 fees have been set on the basis 
that the NAO’s Code and supporting guidance does not change the level of work required on the 
VFM audit. Should this not be the case, or if new or increased significant VFM audit risks arise 
that require further audit work, additional fees will be necessary over and above the scale fee. 
Any such additional fees will be subject to approval through PSAA’s fee variation process.  



ABCD 

 

 KPMG LLP 
 Annual audit fee 2016/17 
 5 April 2016 

 

SHDC/1617/Fee Letter 3 
 

Certification work 

As well as our work under the Code, we will certify the 2016/17 claim for housing benefit 
subsidy to the Department for Work & Pensions. The PSAA indicative scale fee for this work 
has decreased slightly for 2016/17, reflecting the outcome of previous certification of the 
Council’s housing benefit subsidy claim. 

There are no longer any other claims or returns that we are required to certify under the PSAA 
audit contract. Assurance arrangements for other schemes are a matter for the relevant grant-
paying body, and may be the subject of separate fees and tri-partite arrangements between the 
grant-paying body, the audited body, and the auditor. We would be happy to discuss any such 
certification needs with you. 

Assumptions 

The indicative fees are based on a number of assumptions, including that you will provide us 
with complete and materially accurate financial statements with good quality supporting 
working papers, within agreed timeframes. It is imperative that you achieve this. If this is not 
the case and we have to complete more work than was envisaged, we will need to charge 
additional fees for this work. Our assumptions are set out in more detail in Appendix 1 to this 
letter. 

In setting the fee at this level, we have assumed that the general level of risk in relation to the 
audit of the financial statements and certification work is not significantly different from that 
identified for the current year’s audit. A more detailed audit plan will be issued early next year. 
This will detail the risks identified, planned audit procedures and (if required) any changes in 
fee. If we need to make any significant amendments to the audit fee during the course of the 
audit, I will first discuss this with you and then prepare a report for the Audit Committee, 
outlining the reasons why the fee needs to change. 

We expect to issue a number of reports relating to our work over the course of the audit. These 
are listed at Appendix 2. A statement of our independence is included at Appendix 3.  

The proposed fee excludes any additional work we may agree to undertake at the request of 
South Hams District Council. Any such piece of work will be separately discussed and a 
detailed project specification agreed with you. 



ABCD 

 

 KPMG LLP 
 Annual audit fee 2016/17 
 5 April 2016 

 

SHDC/1617/Fee Letter 4 
 

Our team 

The key members of our audit team for the 2016/17 audit are:  

Name Role Contact details 

Darren Gilbert Engagement Leader darren.gilbert@kpmg.co.uk  
0292 046 8205 

Adam Bunting Manager adam.bunting@kpmg.co.uk  
0117 905 4470 

Quality of service 

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are 
dissatisfied with any part of KPMG’s work, in the first instance you should contact me and I 
will try to resolve your complaint. If you are dissatisfied with your response please contact the 
national contact partner for all of KPMG’s work under our contract with PSAA, Andy Sayers 
(andrew.sayers@kpmg.co.uk). After this, if you are still dissatisfied with how your complaint 
has been handled you can access PSAA’s complaints procedure by emailing 
generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk, by telephoning 020 7072 7445 or by writing to: 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
3rd Floor 
Local Government House 
Smith Square 
London 
SW1P 3HZ 

Yours sincerely 

 

Darren Gilbert 
Director, KPMG LLP 

mailto:andrew.sayers@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk


ABCD 

 

 KPMG LLP 
 Annual audit fee 2016/17 
 5 April 2016 

 

SHDC/1617/Fee Letter 5 
 

Appendix 1 – Audit fee assumptions 
 

In setting the fee, we have assumed that: 

• the level of risk in relation to the audit of the financial statements is not significantly 
different from that identified for 2015/16; 

• you will inform us of significant developments impacting on our audit work; 

• internal audit meets the appropriate professional standards; 

• internal audit undertakes appropriate work on all systems that provide material figures in the 
financial statements sufficient that we can place reliance for the purposes of our audit;  

• you will identify and implement any changes required under the CIPFA IFRS-based Code 
of Practice on local Authority Accounting within your 2016/17 financial statements; 

• your financial statements will be made available for audit in line with the timetable we 
agree with you; 

• good quality working papers and records will be provided to support the financial 
statements in line with our prepared by client request and by the date we agree with you; 

• requested information will be provided within agreed timescales;  

• prompt responses will be provided to draft reports;  

• complete and accurate claims and returns are provided for certification, with supporting 
working papers, within agreed timeframes; and 

• additional work will not be required to address questions or objections raised by local 
government electors or for special investigations such as those arising from disclosures 
under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998. 

Improvements to the above factors may allow reductions to the audit fee in future years. Where 
these assumptions are not met, we will be required to undertake additional work and charge an 
increased audit fee. The fee for the audit of the financial statements will be re-visited when we 
issue the detailed audit plan. 

Any changes to our audit plan and fee will be agreed with you. Changes may be required if: 

• new residual audit risks emerge; 

• additional work is required by KPMG, PSAA, the NAO or other regulators; or 

• additional work is required as a result of changes in legislation, professional standards or as 
a result of changes in financial reporting. 



ABCD 

 

 KPMG LLP 
 Annual audit fee 2016/17 
 5 April 2016 

 

SHDC/1617/Fee Letter 6 
 

Appendix 2: Planned outputs 
 

Our reports will be discussed and agreed with the appropriate officers before being issued to the 
Audit Committee. 

Planned output Indicative date 

External audit plan February 2017 

Interim audit report April 2017 

Report to those charged with governance (ISA260 
report) 

September 2017 

Auditor's report giving the opinion on the financial 
statements, value for money conclusion and audit 
certificate 

September 2017 

Opinion on Whole of Government Accounts return September 2017 

Annual audit letter October 2017 

Certification of grant claims and returns December 2017 

 

  



ABCD 

 

 KPMG LLP 
 Annual audit fee 2016/17 
 5 April 2016 

 

SHDC/1617/Fee Letter 7 
 

Appendix 3 – Independence & objectivity requirements 

Professional standards require auditors to communicate to those charged with governance, at 
least annually, all relationships that may bear on the firm’s independence and the objectivity of 
the audit engagement partner and audit staff. The standards also place requirements on auditors 
in relation to integrity, objectivity and independence. 

The standards define ‘those charged with governance’ as ‘those persons entrusted with the 
supervision, control and direction of an entity’. In your case this is the Audit Committee. 

KPMG LLP is committed to being and being seen to be independent. APB Ethical Standard 1 
Integrity, Objectivity and Independence requires us to communicate to you in writing all 
significant facts and matters, including those related to the provision of non-audit services and 
the safeguards put in place, in our professional judgement, may reasonably be thought to bear 
on KPMG LLP’s independence and the objectivity of the Engagement Lead and the audit team. 

Further to this auditors are required by the NAO’s Code of Audit Practice to:  

• Carry out their work with integrity, independence and objectivity; 

• Be transparent and report publicly as required; 

• Be professional and proportional in conducting work;  

• Be mindful of the activities of inspectorates to prevent duplication; 

• Take a constructive and positive approach to their work;  

• Comply with data statutory and other relevant requirements relating to the security, transfer, 
holding, disclosure and disposal of information. 

PSAA’s Terms of Appointment includes several references to arrangements designed to support 
and reinforce the requirements relating to independence, which auditors must comply with. 
These are as follows: 

• Auditors and senior members of their staff who are directly involved in the management, 
supervision or delivery of PSAA audit work should not take part in political activity. 

• No member or employee of the firm should accept or hold an appointment as a member of 
an audited body whose auditor is, or is proposed to be, from the same firm. In addition, no 
member or employee of the firm should accept or hold such appointments at related bodies, 
such as those linked to the audited body through a strategic partnership. 

• Audit staff are expected not to accept appointments as Governors at certain types of schools 
within the local authority. 



ABCD 

 

 KPMG LLP 
 Annual audit fee 2016/17 
 5 April 2016 

 

SHDC/1617/Fee Letter 8 
 

• Auditors and their staff should not be employed in any capacity (whether paid or unpaid) by 
an audited body or other organisation providing services to an audited body whilst being 
employed by the firm. 

• Auditors appointed by the PSAA should not accept engagements which involve 
commenting on the performance of other PSAA auditors on PSAA work without first 
consulting PSAA. 

• Auditors are expected to comply with the Terms of Appointment policy for the Engagement 
Lead to be changed on a periodic basis. 

• Certain other staff changes or appointments require positive action to be taken by Firms as 
set out in the Terms of Appointment. 

Confirmation statement 

We confirm that as of April 2016 in our professional judgement, KPMG LLP is independent 
within the meaning of regulatory and professional requirements and the objectivity of the 
Engagement Lead and audit team is not impaired. 

 



0© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

Local Authority 
Corporate Risk 
Register Analysis

South Hams District Council



1© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

Local authority corporate risk 
register analysis 
Background

Risk management is a critical management tool to manage, assess and prioritise risks, therefore 
enabling resources to be applied to minimise, monitor and control the probability and/or the impact of 
negative events.

An important component of the risk management process is the corporate risk register, which 
identifies those risks which are critical for management to minimise, monitor and control.

KPMG has used its extensive audit client base to undertake Corporate/Strategic risk register analysis. 
The exercise compared the corporate risk registers from a range of local authorities covering:

— Single Tier Councils;

— County Councils;

— District Councils;

— Fire and Rescue Services; and

— Police bodies.

The outcome highlights the most frequently featured risks across local authority risk registers and 
changes from 2014 when a similar exercise was carried out.

We also considered the arrangements in place to maintain and review risk registers at the local 
authorities and fire and police bodies.

Finally, we considered the degree to which risk registers are used as an integrated management and 
assurance tool, which is especially important given other parts of the Public Sector are increasingly 
using tools such as Board Assurance Frameworks and Assurance Mapping.

Purpose

Organisations should use the comparative information to help consider:

— Whether there are potential risks that may have been omitted from their own risk register;

— Whether potential risks are given sufficient priority;

— The mechanics of the risk management process at their organisations; and

— How managing risks and providing assurance can be developed further.



2© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

Local authority corporate risk 
register analysis (cont.)
Most frequently featured risks across all authority types

The top three residual risks occurring most frequently are: 

— Delivering the medium term financial plan/saving targets/delivering funding cuts;

— Business continuity/disaster recovery incidents/emergency planning; and

— Data loss/information security/information governance risks.

A much higher number of bodies (80% compared to 62% in 2014) identified Delivering the medium 
term financial plan/saving targets/delivering funding cuts as a risk, although this is still not as 
high as might be expected given the significant reduction in grants seen in recent years and on-going 
financial pressures. 

Risks in relation to Business continuity and disaster recovery were identified in 53% of risk 
registers (compared to 61% in 2014) and Data loss/information security and information 
governance were identified in 29% of risk registers (compared to 61% in 2014). So whilst these risks 
remain high in terms of frequently occurring risks – It is noticeable that both risks occur less often 
than in prior years. This fall is a surprise but may be as a result of investments in arrangements 
reducing the residual risks across the sector.

The risk that no longer features in the above analysis is Partnership arrangements/governance, 
which is surprising given the emergence and growth of initiatives such as the Better Care Fund.

Compared to the same analysis last year the following risks have increased in frequency and emerged 
into the set of most frequently seen risks in 2015:

— Asset management; and

— Planning and development issues.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Delivering the financial
plan

Business
Continuity/Disaster

recovery/Emergency
planning

Data loss / Information
security / Information

Governance

Staff morale Safeguarding  vunerable
children or adults

Delivering major
projects

Asset Management Planning and
Development

2015 2014



3© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

Most frequently featured risks across district councils

The chart below shows the eight most frequently identified risks at district councils included in 
the exercise. 

The three most common risks for district councils are the same as the all authority type analysis with 
delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan again the highest risk. 

We note we see more risks in relation to Significant IT Failures, (21% of districts) and Planning and 
development compared to 2014, however Delivery of major projects, Staff morale and Corporate 
capacity remain significant residual risks throughout local government. Partnership governance and 
Welfare reform, which were seen in 60% and 38% of registers respectively in the 2014 analysis, do 
not feature in the top eight risks, suggesting mitigating control arrangements are better developed. 

Human resources issues in relation to staff morale and corporate capacity also feature in the most 
frequent risks in district councils. Linked to corporate capacity is also the ability to deliver major 
projects which again features in the assessment above.

South Hams District Council (the Council) has adopted a consolidated Corporate Risk Register that is 
shared with West Devon Borough Council.  This includes a specific risk in relation to the delivery of 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy which makes particular reference to the impact in reductions in 
central government funding.  This is currently assessed with a risk rating of 12 (from a maximum of 
25) with plans in place to reduce it to six.  Like many authorities, the Council has recognised a risk in 
relation to IT systems as part of its wider Business Continuity risk.  This is again scored as 12 at 
current but with plans to reduce it to a score of two.

The Council’s Corporate Risk Register includes risks relating to the majority of the common risks set 
out above.  Whilst there is no risk identified in relation to staff morale, a related concern over the 
adequacy of staffing resources is specifically recorded.  There is, however, no risk identified in 
relation to planning and development.

Local authority corporate risk 
register analysis (cont.)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Delivering the
financial plan

Business
Continuity /

Disaster
recovery
incident /

Emergency
planning

Data loss /
Information
security /

Information
Governance

Delivering
major projects

Significant IT
failure leading

to service
disruption

Staff morale Corporate
capacity

Planning and
development

2015 2014



4© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

Survey Responses on Risk Register Reporting and Responsibilities 

The chart above analyses the risk registers reviewed across all types of local authority. As expected, a 
high level of registers score risks on impact, probability and the controls in place and risks are 
allocated to lead officers.

However, fewer risk registers clarify when a risk is to be reviewed, which could result in the risk not 
being dealt with appropriately and provides less assurance. Further to this, risks do not appear to be 
regularly/widely allocated to lead members, which could reduce the scrutiny of these risks.

The Council’s approach to risk management requires that all risks are scored in relation to both 
likelihood and impact.  This is undertaken in relation to both the current position and the target 
position after planning mitigating actions have been considered.  Based upon the current risk rating, a 
decision as to the response to be made is formally recorded.  This includes both the overall response 
(to mitigated, tolerate, transfer or terminate the risk) and the detailed actions to be completed.  All 
risks are allocated a risk owner and updates are taken to the Audit Committee on a six-monthly basis.

Local authority corporate risk 
register analysis (cont.)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Risks scored on impact
probability/likelihood

Risks allocated to lead
officers

Mitigating controls in
place

Register identifies
movement of risk

Clarity on when
specific risks will be

reviewed

Risks allocated to
leading members



5© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

Local authority corporate risk 
register analysis (cont.)
Software used to support risk management

The chart below shows that 75% of authorities do not use specific risk management software, often 
preferring to use spreadsheet systems to record the risks. Spreadsheet systems are potentially less 
robust, offer reduced analysis and reporting functionality and usually involve more manual interaction 
compared to specific software, but are often seen as simpler and more flexible. Of the authorities 
that do use specific software, the most commonly used packages are Covalent, 4risk and MK Insight.

The Council has adopted the use of Covalent as its risk management system.  This system is 
currently used by just over 6% of our client base.

Moving forward

It is noted that in the wider Public Sector many bodies are now using Board Assurance 
Frameworks/Assurance Mapping. Assurance mapping is the process where risk reports set out the 
controls and assurances in place to confirm that risks are being addressed. Setting out the assurances 
can give lead Officers and Members confirmation that assurance is in place and that the quality of the 
assurance is sufficient against the risk.

Our work has identified limited use of such tools in the local authority sector.

Our comparison exercise identified that:

— Risks were linked to strategic objectives in 57% of reports;

— Assurances were reported in 53% of the reports; and

— Effectiveness of controls were reported in 49% of the reports.

These are important elements of assurance mapping processes and our work suggests there is 
significant scope for local authorities to develop in this area.

3.80%
6.33%

6.33%

2.53%

3.80%

2.53%

74.68%

Percentage

4Risk Other Specific Risk Software Covalent JCAD MK Insight TEN Generic software



kpmg.com/uk

The information contained herein is of a general nature and is not intended to 
address the circumstances of any particular individual or entity. Although we 
endeavour to provide accurate and timely information, there can be no guarantee 
that such information is accurate as of the date it is received or that it will continue 
to be accurate in the future. No one should act on such information without 
appropriate professional advice after a thorough examination of the particular 
situation.

© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the 
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International 
Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

The KPMG name and logo are registered trademarks or trademarks of 
KPMG International.

Produced by Create Graphics/Document number: CRT059749A 

http://kpmg.com/socialmedia




 
 

 
 

Report to: Audit Committee 

Date: 30 June 2016 

Title: Annual Governance Statement 2015-16 

Portfolio Area: Support Services – Cllr S Wright 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance 

obtained: 

Y  

  

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Finance Community of 
Practice Lead (S151 

Officer) 

Contact: lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk, (01803) 861413 

 

 

 

Recommendations:   

It is RECOMMENDED that: 

1. The processes adopted for the production of the 
2015/16 Annual Governance Statement are noted 

2. The adequacy and effectiveness of the system of 
internal audit is endorsed 

3. Members consider the draft Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS) for 2015/16 and the supporting 

evidence provided by this report and that the AGS is 
approved prior to the signature by the Leader and 

Executive Director (Strategy & Commissioning). 



 
 

 
 

 

1. Executive summary 
1.1 Regulation 4(3) of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 

requires all relevant bodies to prepare an Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS). 

 
1.2 The purpose of the AGS is to provide evidence of a continuous review of the 

Council’s internal control and risk management processes, to provide 
assurance as to their effectiveness and to identify actions being taken or 

planned to address any key weaknesses identified.  
 

2.  Background  
2.1 The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2006 also 

introduced a requirement to include an annual review of the effectiveness 

of the internal audit system.  
 

2.2 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting also requires that, within 
the AGS, there should be a statement on whether the Authority’s financial 

management arrangements conform with the governance requirements of 
the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 

Government.  
 

2.3 Maintaining sound systems of internal control and risk management enables 
the council to monitor and review the key risks that may prevent it from 

achieving its corporate and service objectives. 
 

 
3.  Outcomes/outputs  

 

 
3.1 The purpose of the AGS process is to provide a continuous review of the 

effectiveness of an organisation’s internal control and risk management, in 
order to give assurance as to their effectiveness and/or to produce a 

management action plan to address identified weaknesses in either process.  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 

3.2 The diagram sets out the key stages for the review of governance internal 
control and the AGS assurance gathering process as follows: 

 

Establish principal statutory obligations and 

organisational objectives 

| 

Identify principal risks to achievement of objectives 

| 

Identify and evaluate key controls to manage principal 
risks 

| 

Obtain assurances on effectiveness of key controls 

| 

Evaluate assurances and identify gaps in 

control/assurances 

| 

Action plan to address weaknesses and ensure 

continuous improvement of the system of internal 
control 

| 

Annual Governance Statement 

| 

Report to delegated member body. 

 
 

 
 

 
4.  Options available and consideration of risk  

 
4.1 The purpose of the AGS is to provide evidence of a continuous review of the 

Council’s internal control and risk management processes, to provide 
assurance as to their effectiveness and to identify actions being taken or 

planned to address any key weaknesses identified.  
 

4.2  Continuous review of the effectiveness of the Council’s internal audit 
system is conducted by the Audit Committee whose terms of reference 

include, specifically, inter alia:  

 
o To agree the annual Internal Audit Plan  

o To monitor the progress and performance of Internal Audit  
o To consider the Head of the Devon Audit Partnership’s annual 

report, and comment annually on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
internal control systems within the Council  

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

5.   Proposed Way Forward  
 

5.1 The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) sets out any significant 
governance issues identified and progress made against these. 

 
  

6. Implications  
 

Implications 

 

Relevant  

to  
proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 

 

 Regulation 4(3) of the Accounts and Audit 

(England) Regulations 2011 requires all 
relevant bodies to prepare an Annual 

Governance Statement.  

 
There is also a requirement under the 

Accounts and Audit (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2006 for the AGS to 

include a review of the effectiveness of the 
internal audit system.  

 
The Audit Committee has delegated powers 

to approve the Annual Governance 
Statement on behalf of the Council. 

 

Financial 
 

 There are no direct financial implications 
arising directly from this report. 

 

Risk  The statutory responsibility to publish an 

Annual Governance Statement requires the 
Council to review its key risks, and to 

identify and publish the actions that it 
intends taking to improve or resolve those 

risks.  

 
These risks primarily relate to the 

achievement of the Council’s core 
objectives and strategies and, therefore, 

the AGS provides an opportunity to 
formally review governance structures and 

processes that underpin their delivery.  
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 

 There are no specific issues arising from 
this report. 

Safeguarding 
 

 There are no specific issues arising from 
the report. 

Community 
Safety, Crime and 

Disorder 
 

 There are no specific issues arising from 
the report. 

Health, Safety and 

Wellbeing 

 There are no specific issues arising from 

the report. 

Other implications  None identified. 

 

 
 

Supporting Information 
Background Papers: 

30th July 2015 Audit Committee – Annual Governance Statement 2014/15 
 

 
 

 
 

 



APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

Authority Policies, 
Service Plans and 

Risk Registers 

 
Annual Governance 

Statement 

Framework - Key documents/process 
guidelines  

• Performance management 
• Business strategy and planning process 
• Budget and budgetary control 
• Code of corporate governance 
• Project management/  Risk Management / counter 

Fraud Policy 
• Ethical Governance 
• Policies, procedures, codes of conduct 
• Partnership protocol 

Approval by Committee or by 
members of body meeting as a 

whole 

Statutory Officer’s  Group 
with responsibility for 
drafting AGS, evaluate 
assurances and 
supporting evidence  

Ongoing assurance on adequacy 

and effectiveness of controls over 
key risks 

Assurances 
by SLT 

Members 

Financial 
control 

assurance 

Other 
sources of 
assurance 

(MO/S151/
Third party) 

External 
Audit  

Risk 
Management 

Performance 
Management 

& Data 
Quality 

Internal 
Audit  

Members’ 
assurance 

Review of the 
effectiveness of the 

system of   
Internal Audit  

 
Legal and 

Regulatory  
 Assurance 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT FRAMEWORK 



 

 

 
South Hams District Council 

Annual Governance Statement   
2015 – 2016 

  
1. Scope of Responsibility 

 

South Hams District Council is responsible for ensuring that: 
• its business is conducted in accordance with legal requirements and 

proper standards 
• public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, and used 

economically, efficiently and effectively.  
 
The Council has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way its functions 
are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness.  
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, South Hams District Council is 
also responsible for ensuring that there is a sound system of governance 
(incorporating the system of internal control) and maintaining proper 
arrangements for the governance of its affairs, which facilitate the effective 
exercise of its functions, including arrangements for the management of 
risk. A Statutory Officers’ Panel was set up in 2015-16 and a key role of 
this Panel is strategic risk management. 
 
South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council have been 
shared services partners since 2007. As two of the very first Councils to 
share a Chief Executive in 2007, the Councils have been bold in 
challenging the traditional local government model and have always been 
at the forefront of radical change and innovation. 
 
 
In early 2015 a completely new leadership team were appointed to lead 
the organisation through the transformation programme, become more 
customer-focused, save money, and explore ways of generating income 
for the Council.  The Councils are now led by a small leadership team 
consisting of two Executive Directors and three Group Managers. The 
Senior Leadership Team (SLT) provide the strategic and operational 
direction of the Council and are supported by an Extended Leadership 
Team (ELT).  The ELT includes the principal people managers and 
professional lead officers in areas such as Housing, Planning, 
Environmental Health, Asset Management, and Support Services such as 
Finance, Legal, and Human Resources.  
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
The Council’s Community of Practice Lead for Finance is the officer with 
statutory responsibility for the administration of the Council’s financial 
affairs as set out in section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
The S.151 Officer, who acts as the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), will have 
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council; 
will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular 
through the provision of professional financial advice; will provide advice 
on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity, and budget and policy framework issues to 
all Members and will support and advise Members and officers in their 
respective roles; and, will provide financial information to the media, 
Members of the public and the community. (Constitution Article 10) 
 
The CFO leads the promotion of good financial management including 
through the provision and publication of Financial and Contract Procedure 
Rules. The Council’s S.151 Officer is a qualified accountant. 

 
A review of the Council’s arrangements against the CIPFA guidance on the 
Role of the Chief Finance Officer in Local Government concluded that the 
recommended criteria have been met in most areas.  There is one exception 
to the standard in that the Chief Finance Officer is not a member of the 
Council’s Senior Leadership Team (SLT). However, she has full access to 
the SLT agenda, reports and actions arising from the meetings and is able 
to attend SLT on any item. In addition, the S151 Officer attends SLT on a 
monthly basis to give a financial review and update. Direct access to the 
Head of Paid Service is also available on a regular basis.  Her influence and 
impact on financial management is not deemed to be compromised by this 
local arrangement. 

 
 

2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework 

 

The governance framework comprises the cultural values, systems and 
processes used by the Council to direct and control its activities, enabling 
it to engage, lead and account to the community.  The framework allows 
the Council to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to 
consider whether appropriate, cost-effective services have been delivered. 
 
A significant part of the framework is the Council’s system of internal control 
which is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate 
all risks of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The 
system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council’s policies, 
aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those 
risks being realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 



 

 

 
The governance framework was in place at South Hams District Council for 
the year ended 31 March 2016 and is expected to continue up to the date 
of approval of the Accounts by the Audit Committee. 

 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) have 
identified six principles (key elements) of corporate governance that 
underpin the effective governance of all local authorities. South Hams 
District Council has used these principles when assessing the adequacy of 
its governance arrangements. The main items that contribute to these key 
elements are listed below: 
 
Core principle/key element 1: focusing on the purpo se of the Council 
and on outcomes for the community and creating and implementing 
a vision for the local area 

 
• The Council’s policies, aims and objectives are well established and 

monitored at various levels, for example forward plans, annual service 
planning process and personal development reviews 
 

• The Council’s adopted Priorities are confirmed in Article 6 of the 
Constitution and are published on the Council’s website 

 
•  In March 2016 the Overview and Scrutiny Panel and the Executive  

considered the ‘Our Plan: South Hams’ which is a single strategic 
document that sets out the vision, objectives and activities of the 
Council. It brings together all strategies and plans and sets out a 
comprehensive story of what the Council wants to achieve through 
two blended and inter-related elements; 

 
i) The corporate plan establishing the Council’s vision, 

objectives, priorities, actions and delivery approaches 
and  

ii) The Local Plan establishing land use planning policies 
and allocations – the Council’s work on the Joint Local  
Plan between Plymouth City, South Hams, West 
Devon and Dartmoor National Park is described 
further below. 

 
http://mg.swdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=4

8&Ver=4 
 
 

Through ‘Our Plan’ we are striving to achieve communities that have 
access to housing, employment, services and facilities that meet their 
needs, communities that are resilient, safe and able to make choices 
about their future. Our communities are places where businesses can 
develop and grow. We want to ensure Our Plan makes a positive 
contribution to the equality, fairness and wellbeing of our communities. 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
The Our Plan Themes and Objectives are:- 
 
Economy – Creating places for enterprise to thrive and business to grow 
Homes – Enabling homes that meet the needs of all 
Infrastructure – Securing the services and facilities that meet the needs of our 
communities 
Communities – Empowering residents to create strong communities 
Wellbeing – Supporting positive safe and healthy lifestyles 
Environment – Protecting, conserving and enhancing our built and natural 
environment 
Heritage – Celebrating our past and protecting our heritage for the future 
Resources – Promoting energy efficiency and more effective use of our 
natural resources 
 
In tandem, work has begun to develop a Joint Local Plan between Plymouth 
City, South Hams, West Devon and Dartmoor National Park.   Work on this 
joint plan is due to be completed by early 2017;  a key milestone for those 
wishing to progress their Neighbourhood Plans. 
 
 
• All staff briefings undertaken by SLT articulate the vision and new ways 
      of working; 
• The Council’s corporate strategy (T18) has been implemented supported by 

a detailed project plan that has been made widely available; 
• Regular consultation is undertaken on a range of issues;  
• Effective budgetary monitoring takes place regularly and is reported 

quarterly to Members 
• Cashable savings identified in the T18 programme are on target; 
• Performance management and reporting is embedded including quarterly 

reporting to the Overview and Scrutiny Panel; 
• Scrutiny teams have delivered tangible outcomes. 
 
Core principle/key element 2: members and officers working together to 
achieve a common purpose with clearly defined funct ions and roles 

 
• The Council’s T18 programme clearly identifies it’s priorities, goals and 

promises statement which exemplifies its vision and values 
• Performance measures are linked to drivers, goals and the 

service/Council priorities and these have continued through 2015/16. 
 

• The Council uses a suite of performance indicators that includes 
measurement of the quality of service. A ‘Balanced Scorecard’ system 
of regular reporting of the key indicators to the Senior Leadership Team 
(SLT) and Members (Overview and Scrutiny Panel) is in place. 



 

 

• The Council is also instigating a new suite of performance management 
dashboards, which will give Members and management access to near 
real-time information on demand and service levels. 
 

• The Council publishes a Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) each 
year, which covers a five year period. That for the period 2016/17–2020/21 
was approved by the Executive in October 2015 and has regard to the 
Priorities, business planning – pressures and savings 
 

• There is a single organisation approach between Members and Officers   
• The Council’s Constitution clearly states the  roles and responsibilities of 

Members and Senior Officers 
• Terms of reference for Committees and Member responsibilities are clearly 

defined  
• Clear delegations and accountabilities are laid down in the Constitution 
• Officers are appointed with clear job descriptions 
• Adoption of statutory and professional standards  
• Compliance with Financial Procedure and Contract Procedure Rules that 

are reviewed and approved by the Council 
• Appropriate segregation of duties and management supervision 

 
 

• The role of the Chief Finance Officer  (s151 Officer), as documented in the 
Constitution, has responsibility for ensuring that appropriate advice is given 
on all financial matters, for keeping proper financial records and accounts, 
and maintaining an effective system of internal financial control. 

• The role of the Monitoring Officer (MO), as documented in the Constitution, 
has responsibility for ensuring agreed procedures are followed and that all 
applicable statutes and regulations are complied with. 

• There is an annual process to review and agree the Pay Policy Statement 
in accordance with the Localism Act Section 38. 
 
Core principle/key element 3: promoting values for the authority and 
demonstrating the values of good governance through  upholding 
high standards of conduct and behaviour 

• Staff assessed against a set of key behaviours (known as ‘IMPACT’)  to 
establish the right values and culture 

• The Council’s whistle-blowing policy, known as the Confidential Reporting 
Policy, is available to all staff on the Council’s Intranet (including Frequently 
Asked Questions) and is also publicised internally on an occasional basis 
to maintain its profile. 

• The Council’s Constitution also defines the roles of Members and officers. 
Part 5 of the Constitution includes a Protocol on Councillor / Officer 
Relations. The Protocol is a guide to Members and Officers in their dealings 
with each other, and applies equally to co-opted Members of Council bodies 
in their dealings with officers where appropriate. 

• There are codes of conduct in place for Members and Officers which 
include arrangements for registering interests and managing conflicts of 
interest. 



 

 

• The Overview and Scrutiny Panel is responsible for overseeing the 
Members’ Code of Conduct and good governance by Members, and its 
terms of reference are set out in the Constitution  

• There is an effective Audit Committee in place with clear terms of 
reference. 

 
Core principle/key element 4: taking informed and t ransparent 
decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny a nd management of 
risk   
 
Following the Boundary Review and the local elections, 2015/16 was the 
first year for the new 31 Member Council.  To coincide with the reduction in 
Members, a new governance structure was implemented whereby all 31 
Members served on one of either: the Executive; the Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel, or the Development Management Committee.  Other notable 
changes were that the Executive membership was reduced from eight to 
six and the number of Overview and Scrutiny Panels was reduced from 
three to one. 
 
With regard to the Executive portfolio areas, these were no longer linked to 
service areas, but were each now aligned to a representative of the 
Council’s Senior Leadership Team. 
 
 
• Members on the Overview and Scrutiny Panel receive training on 

effective scrutiny practices 
• Decisions taken are formally minuted 
• Committee Members are aligned to service areas and regularly 

communicate with and provide strategic direction to the relevant SLT 
lead 

• The formal management of risk is in place and subject to monitoring 
by the Senior Leadership Team and reporting to the Audit Committee.  

 
 

• A Statutory Officers’ Panel which meets quarterly has been set up 
comprising of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer with other key officers invited as appropriate. This 
Panel amalgamates the former Probity Group, Risk Management Group 
and Governance Group, and its key roles are to ensure that the Councils 
comply with, and manage: 

 
Governance frameworks  
Strategic risk management, and  
Regulatory framework  

 
The Statutory Officers’ Panel has important links with the Audit 
Committee and the Overview & Scrutiny Panel.  

 
 



 

 

• A separate risk register is maintained for the T18 Transformation 
Programme. 

• Active health and safety arrangements, including a robust policy, 
reviewed and approved by members, regular consideration of issues at 
SLT. 

• Continuous managerial review of services to ensure continuous 
improvement and the economic, effective and efficient use of resources 

• Financial management arrangements, where managers are 
responsible for managing their services within available resources and 
in accordance with agreed policies and procedures. Quarterly budget 
monitoring reports are presented to the Executive. 

• Formal quarterly budgetary monitoring reports on T18 are reviewed as 
part of the T18 programme and are reported quarterly to the Executive 

• Active performance management arrangements  
• A robust complaints/ compliments procedure is in place and is widely 

publicised 
• Freedom of Information requests are dealt with in accordance with 

established protocols 
• All committee reports include reference where relevant to the potential 

impact on the Council’s priorities and community plan themes, and 
address as appropriate any financial, staffing, risk, legal and property 
implications. 

 
 
Core principle/key element 5: developing the capaci ty and capability 
of members and officers to be effective 
• An induction programme is in place for Officers and Members 
• A  Member training and development programme is in operation  
• Deputy s151 and Monitoring Officer in place 
• Officer training programmes are considered at each Staff Appraisal 
• Focused training is delivered on specific issues (e.g. complaints, data 

protection) 
• A staff survey was carried out to gauge employee satisfaction and assist 

in improving the organisation for employees as a place to work and 
consequently improve how the organisation performs. 

 
Core principle/key element 6: engaging with local p eople and other 
stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability  
 
• Our Plan was considered by Members in March 2016 
• There  is regular community engagement and participation both in 

general and for  specific community groups and services provided, for 
example, Parish Councils 

• Committee and Council meetings are open to the public, with papers 
available in advance on the internet (save where ‘exempt’ under the 
Local Government Act 1972 following formal evaluation of the public 
interest) 
 
 



 

 

 
1. Process for maintaining and reviewing  effective ness of the Council’s 

Governance arrangements  
 

The Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of 

the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of 

internal control. This responsibility is in practice carried out by Senior 

Managers, with the Executive Director informing the Executive of any 

significant matters warranting their attention.  

The Council ensures the delivery of services in accordance with Council 

policies and budgets, which includes long term financial planning, good 

financial management and ensuring up to date risk management across the 

Council. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Panel is responsible for performing a review 

function which in 2015/16 included specific work on;  

• Overview and Scrutiny Member Learning and Development Plan 
• Service Level Agreement for the Citizen’s Advice Bureau 
• Service Level Agreement for the CVS 
• Waste Task and Finish Group – Review and Future Plan 
• Dartmouth Lower Ferry Task and Finish Group 
• Performance Measures – Task and Finish Group 
• Partnerships Task and Finish Group 
• Events Policy Task and Finish Group 
• Devon Home Choice and Local Allocations Policy Review 
• Ombudsman Update and Annual Review Letter 
• Community Safety Partnership 
• Disabled Facilities Grants 
• Review of Fees and Charges 2016/17 
• New Homes Bonus Allocation to Dartmoor National Park Authority 
• Progress against Our Plan: South Hams 
• Dispensations for Dual Hatted Members 
• Business Development Group Manager Update 
• Income Generation Opportunities 
• Update report of RDPE – LEAF/LAG Programme 
• Budget Proposals 2016/17 
• Performance Updates – e.g. Contact Centre, Development Management 

Service 



 

 

• Health and Wellbeing (Leisure) procurement update 
• Complaints Policy 
• Homeless Strategy 
• Locality Delivery 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Panel continue to review and scrutinise the 

Council’s performance monitoring reports via T18 programme against the 

Council’s corporate strategy and quarterly performance indicator reports.   

In addition, the Committee also considered agenda items related to the 

attendance of representatives from the following external 

agencies/partners: 

• Dartmouth and District Indoor Pool Trust 

• Maritime and Coastguard Agency 

• Annual Devon & Cornwall Housing (DCH) Presentation 

 

The Audit Committee has a specific role in relation to the Council’s financial 

affairs including the internal and external audit functions and monitors the 

internal workings of the Council (broadly defined as ‘governance’). It is 

responsible for making sure that the Council operates in accordance with 

the law and laid down procedures and is accountable to the community for 

the spending of public money.  The Audit Committee reviewed all aspects 

of the Council’s strategic performance and resource management 

arrangements, including budgeting, accounting and treasury management. 

 



 

 

The review of effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by 

three main sources: the work of Internal Audit; by managers who have 

responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 

environment; and also by comments made by external auditors and other 

review agencies/inspectorates. 

 

Internal Audit 

South Ham’s responsibility for maintaining an effective internal audit 

function is set out in Regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 

2011. This responsibility is delegated to the Community of Practice Finance 

lead and S151 Officer. 

The Internal Audit Shared Service Team operates in accordance with best 

practice professional standards and guidelines. It independently and 

objectively reviews, on a continuous basis, the extent to which the internal 

control environment supports and promotes the achievement of the 

Council’s objectives and contributes to the proper, economic, efficient and 

effective use of resources. All audit reports go to the Senior Leadership 

Team who agree any recommendations. Members receive an annual report 

of internal audit activity and approve the annual audit plan for the 

forthcoming year. 

The Internal Audit annual report for 2015/16 is also due to be considered 

by the Audit Committee on 30 June 2016. The report contains the Head of 

Internal Audit’s Opinion which is that “Based on the work performed during 

2015/16 and that of their experience from previous year’s audit, the Head 



 

 

of Internal Audit’s Opinion is of “Significant Assurance” on the adequacy 

and effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control framework. This view 

forms part of the Annual Governance Statement for 2015/16. 

 

Senior Managers 

Individual managers are responsible for establishing and maintaining an 

adequate system of internal control within their own sections and for 

contributing to the control environment on a corporate basis. There are a 

number of significant internal control areas which are subject to review by 

internal audit. All managers acknowledge their responsibilities and confirm 

annually that they have implemented and continuously monitored various 

significant controls. This is done on a checklist covering the following areas: 

Council objectives and service plans, staffing issues, corporate procedure 

documents, service specific procedures, risk management, performance 

management and data quality, and action on independent 

recommendations. This checklist is reviewed by the Executive Directors. 

External auditors and other review agencies/inspectorates 

Our external auditors (Grant Thornton) have not identified any significant 

weaknesses in our internal control arrangements when working with us 

throughout the year and in their ‘Audit Findings’ report. For the 2015-16 

year our external auditors have changed to KPMG and at the time of writing 

the Annual Governance Statement their report on their Interim Audit  

findings was awaited. An update will be provided at the Audit Committee 

meeting. 



 

 

The Grant Thornton ‘Audit Findings’ report for 2014-15 was presented to 

the Audit Committee in September 2015. Grant Thornton gave an 

unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial statements and stated: 

- The accounts were free of significant errors; and 

- Grant Thornton have not identified any adjustments that would affect 

the Council’s reported financial position. 

 

Value for Money audit conclusion – Also contained within the ‘Audit 

Findings’ report, Grant Thornton stated that they were satisfied that in all 

significant respects the Council has put in place proper arrangements to 

secure economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in its use of resources for 

the year ending 31 March 2015. The report gave the Council a ‘Green’ 

rating (the highest rating possible, which indicated adequate arrangements 

are in place) in all the areas assessed of strategic financial planning, 

financial control, financial governance, prioritising resources and improving 

efficiency and productivity.   

 

The ‘Audit Findings’ report identified two areas of Internal Control which 

were given an ‘Amber’ rating which signified Adequate arrangements were 

in place, but with areas for development. These were:- 

 

- Fixed Asset Register – The asset software system should be 

updated to ensure it agrees with the amounts disclosed in the 

Accounts. There was a small imbalance of 0.5% between the 

classification between cost or valuation and accumulated 

depreciation. (The Council has progressed meetings with the 

software supplier in 2016 to rectify this issue). 

- Journals – All journals should have a narrative description to explain 

the nature and purpose of the transaction. (A reminder was sent to 

all staff who processed journals to emphasize the importance of 

adequate narrative on all journals). 

 



 

 

Significant Governance Issues 
The following action plan has been drawn up to address the weaknesses 

identified and ensure continuous improvement of systems or to deal with 
governance issues: 

Issues and action plan from the Compliance Review of the Code of 

Corporate Governance  

Principle 1: Focusing on the purpose of the Council and on outcomes for 

the community and creating and implementing a vision for the local area: 

Issue Identified Action to be Taken Responsible Officer  

T18 Transformation 

Programme 

South Hams District Council 
and West Devon Borough 
Council have undertaken 

innovative plans to transform 
the way the Councils carry out 

their work, casting aside the 
traditional ways of local 

government. Long-established 
Council departments have 
been replaced by customer-

focussed teams of officers who  
work out of the office and 

more within the community. 

The Councils have invested in 
the latest technology and the 
Councils' workforce is smaller, 

reducing the need for office 
accommodation, and all staff 

roles have changed.  

The introduction of a new IT 
system whilst at the same 

time the Council’s workforce 
having been reduced by 30%, 
has meant that performance in 

some key areas has been 
below that which should be 

expected. 

 

On 16th June 2016 the 
Executive considered a report 
on Transitional Resources. The 

Executive have recommended 
to Council (on 30th June) to 

approve the re-investment of 
£0.5 million of T18 savings 

and new homes bonus 
funding, to fund the 
transitional staffing resources 

set out in the report.  

Quarterly monitoring 

reports on the 
Transformation 
Programme are presented 

to the Council’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel and 

Executive.  

 

The T18 risk register is 
reviewed quarterly as a 

minimum by the Senior 
Leadership Team (SLT) 
and Programme Board, 

and is presented to the 
Audit Committee every six 

months. This will continue 
for the duration of the 
programme. 

 

In recognition of the early 
successes of this 
innovative transformation 

programme the Council 
achieved national 

recognition as Council of 
the Year for 2016 at the 
recent iESE (the 

Improvement & Efficiency 
Social Enterprise) Awards. 

 

The Council’s Head of Paid 

Service and Group 
Manager have regular 

weekly meetings with the 
IT software supplier. 

 

Transitional Resources 

Report to Executive 
(16/6/16) and Council 
(30/6/16) 

 

Senior Leadership 
Team 

S.151 Officer 

Monitoring Officer 

Internal Audit 

Manager 

Timescale in line 
with the 

Programme. 

 

Programme Board 
for T18 

 

 

Audit Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

Issues and action plan from the System of Internal Control: 

 
The system of internal control is described in section 2 above. 

 

Issue Identified Action to be Taken Responsible Officer 
& Target Date 

Financial Uncertainty 

As Local Authorities experience 

reductions in funding, although 
South Hams District Council 

currently has a balanced budget, 
we must continue to review 
spending and monitor financial 

plans in order to balance future 
budgets in the face of the further 

government funding reductions. 

 

A Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) was presented 

to the Executive in October 2015 
setting out the current position 
and was regularly updated 

throughout the 2016-17 Budget 
Setting process. 

 

There is still more to be done but 

the Council is establishing a solid 
base from which to become more 

commercial in its approach to 
meeting the forecast budget gap 
of £1,009,835 by 2020/2021, 

whilst protecting its much valued 
services. 

The next MTFS is due to be 

presented to Members in 
September 2016. The Council has 
commenced several initiatives 

that aim to help us to reduce our 
costs and meet the enormous 

challenge of a significant funding 
gap. These include the T18 
Transformation Programme. The 

programme has delivered new 
and very different ways of 

working (see above); 

 

 

Other initiatives in 

progress  include: 
 

• Strategic Asset 
Review; and 

• Income generation 

initiatives 
 

• Local Authority 
Controlled Company 
(LACC) - On 25/2/16 

(Minute CM63) 
Council agreed that a 

detailed business 
case and 
implementation plan 

be produced to 

enable further 
consideration of the 

merits of establishing 
a Local Authority 

Controlled Company 

jointly with West 
Devon Borough 
Council to deliver 

services for South 
Hams District Council 

and West Devon 
Borough Council, and 
to other organisations 

as contracts 

are won 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Senior Leadership 

Team 

S151 Officer 

On-Going 

 

 

 

Report to Council 

at the end of July 
2016 for a decision 
on the LACC 

 



 

 

Issue Identified Action to be Taken Responsible 
Officer and 

Target Date 

Business Rates Appeals 
Provision 

The way that Councils receive 

income from Business Rates 
changed from 1 April 2013. 

Business Rates retention was 
introduced to enable authorities 
to be able to retain a share of 

any growth that is generated in 
Business Rates revenue in their 

areas. The business rate 
retention scheme allows 
authorities to voluntarily form a 

business rates retention pool.  

 

The membership of the Devon 
Pool consisted of all Devon 

District Councils, Devon County 
Council, Torbay Unitary and 

Plymouth Unitary. 

 

The Valuation Office provided a 
list of outstanding appeals for the 

Council, and these have been 
taken account of when 
completing the government 

return NNDR3 for 2015/16 
(section relating to business 

rates appeals provision).  

 

There is uncertainty and risk 
surrounding the calculation of the 

business rates appeals provision 
as future events may affect the 
amount required to settle an 

obligation. 

 

The Council has taken external 
specialist advice on the 

accounting for its appeals 
provision for 2015/16 and has 

also engaged the Council’s 
external auditors (KPMG) in early 
discussion on the subject. 

 

 

 

The Council took a 
decision to withdraw 

from the Devonwide 
Business Rates Pool for 

2015/16, due to the risk 
of some large Business 
Rates appeals. If the 

Council had remained in 
the Pool, the Council 

would not receive a 
safety net payment from 
the Government if its 

business rates income 
fell by more than 7.5%. 

This financial burden 

would have fallen on all 
of the Devon Councils 

and this financial risk 
was deemed too high.  

 

The Council has 

submitted its NNDR3 
return for 2015/16 and 
this includes a 

significant increase in 
the appeals provision of 

£26.7 million. The 
Council’s share of this is 
40% (£10.68 million). 

 

This has meant that the 
Council is eligible for a  
safety net payment from 

DCLG of £9.86 million in 
15/16. 

 

 

The Council will further 
liaise with KPMG during 

the audit of the 
Accounts in July 2016 

 

 

Already actioned. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The NNDR3 return 
for 2015/16 was  

submitted at the 
end of May 2016. 
The Council’s 

preceptors were 
informed of the 

level of the appeals 
provision and the 
reasons for this. 

 

S151 Officer 

Already actioned 
May 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

S151 Officer 

July 2016 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Issue Identified Action to be Taken Responsible 
Officer & Target 

Date 

Heart of the South West 
Devolution Bid 

 

On 11/2/2016 (Minute CM 57) 

Members considered a report on 
the Devolution Bid that sought to 

endorse the current approach to 
devolution and the drafting of 
proposals, their submission and 

negotiation of a deal for the 
Heart of the South West. 

Devolution for the Heart of the 

South West (HotSW) is being led 
by the Leaders of Somerset and 

Devon County Councils, all 
Somerset and Devon Districts, 
Torbay Council, Plymouth City 

Council, Dartmoor and Exmoor 

National Parks, three Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and the 

Local Enterprise Partnership. 

 

The partnership submitted their 
Prospectus for Productivity to 

Government in February 2016. 
The three goals are around: 

 

People: who are healthy, with 

the skills they need to access 
higher value jobs and grow their 
careers. 

Business: more businesses 

creating new jobs and increasing 
productivity. 

Place: sustainable growth across 

the geography, supported by 
modern infrastructure and 

accelerated housing delivery. 

Key outcomes by 2030 
include:  

163,000 new jobs 

179,000 new homes 

100% broadband coverage 

60% of workforce qualified to 

NVQ Level 4 or above 

 

 
 

The Partnership is 
undertaking a full 

governance review 
which will report back in 
July 2016. 

 
A report will be 

presented to Members 
at the July 2016 Council 
meeting to recommend 

agreeing to sign up to 
the principle of creating 

a Combined Authority 
for the Heart of the 
South West, as set out 

in the Prospectus for 
Productivity, as the 

basis for negotiation 
with Government 
towards a Devolution 

Deal for the area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Executive Director 

(Strategy & 
Commissioning) 

 

July 2016 



 

 

Issue Identified 

 

Action to be Taken Responsible 
Officer and 

Target Date 

Internal and External Audit 
Reports 

Some issues have been identified 

in audit reports by the Council’s 
external auditor, (Grant Thornton 

for 2014-15 and KPMG for 2015-
16), and the shared in-house 
internal audit team. 

Individually the 

recommendations do not impact 
on the wider system of internal 

control, but action plans for 
remedial action have been 
agreed. 

 

All remedial actions 
detailed in external and 

internal audit reports 
will be completed in line 

with the agreed 
timescales. These 
actions will be 

monitored by the 
auditors’ ‘follow up’ 

procedures.  

 

Extended 
Leadership Team 

(ELT) 

S151 Officer 

Internal Audit 
Manager 

In line with agreed 

timescales 

 
 
We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above 

matters to further enhance our governance arrangements. We are 
satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that 

were identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their 
implementation and operation as part of our next annual review. 
 

 

Signed:   

Cllr R Tucker 
Leading Member,  

on behalf of South Hams District Council  
  

 
 

Signed: 
Steve Jorden 

Executive Director (Strategy and Commissioning) 

and Head of Paid Service, on behalf of South Hams 
District Council 

 
        

Date:         To be inserted 
 

 





Report to: Audit Committee   

Date: 30 June 2016  

Title: UPDATE ON ANTI-FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND 
BRIBERY POLICY AND STRATEGY, ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY AND 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POLICY 

Portfolio Area: Cllr Wright Support Services (Governance)  

 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Panel  

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken:  Special Council 
     28 July 2016  
 

 

Author: Catherine Bowen 

 

Role: Legal Community of Practice 
Lead and Monitoring Officer   

Contact: Catherine.bowen@swdevon.gov.uk 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

That the Audit Committee recommends that the Council adopts the 
following reviewed polices and documents: 

 
a) Anti-fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy & Strategy 

(Appendix A refers); 
b) Anti-fraud, Corruption and Bribery Response Plan (Appendix 

B refers); 
c) Anti-money Laundering Policy Procedures and Guidance for 

Staff (Appendix C refers); 
d) Anti-money Laundering Policy (Appendix D refers); 
e) Confidential Reporting Policy (Appendix E refers); and 
f) Confidential Reporting Policy Frequently Asked Questions 

(Appendix F refers). 
 

 
 



1. Executive summary  
1.1 The Audit Committee is asked to consider the following policies and 
 documents and recommend their adoption to Council: 
 

a) Anti-fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy& Strategy (Appendix A) 
b) Anti-fraud, Corruption and Bribery Response Plan (Appendix B) 
c) Anti-money Laundering Policy Procedures and Guidance for Staff 

(Appendix C) 
d) Anti-money Laundering Policy (Appendix D) 
e) Confidential Reporting Policy (Appendix E) 
f) Confidential Reporting Policy Frequently Asked questions 

(Appendix F) 
 
1.2  It is important that the Council regularly reviews its governing 

documents concerning anti-fraud, anti-money laundering together with 
its confidential reporting policy (sometimes referred to as the Whistle 
Blowing Policy) to ensure that they are fit for purpose and reflect both 
current legislation and best practice, and reflect the way that the 
Council’s practices in relation to these important issues.  

 
2. Background  
2.1 The Statutory Officers’ Panel (comprising the Head of Paid Service, 

Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and Executive Director (Service 
Delivery & Commercial Development)) meets at least quarterly to 
consider the extent that the Council complies and manages its 
governance and regulatory frameworks, risk, and its governance 
policies. 
   

2.2 The Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy & Strategy 
(Appendix A to this report) sets out the Council’s position on fraud, 
corruption and bribery and its objective is to minimise the risk to the 
Council by promoting a culture of integrity and accountability supported 
by procedures and guidance designed to prevent and detect fraud, 
corruption and bribery and identify a clear way for any necessary 
investigation. 

 
2.3 The Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy & Strategy also contains 

a Housing Benefit and Council Tax Prosecution and Sanction 
Policy which relates specifically to prosecutions and sanctions relating 
to benefit and council tax fraud (attached as appendix to the Policy). 

 
2.4 The Anti-Fraud strategy is supported by a Response Plan (attached 

as Appendix B to this report) which sets out how staff can notify the 
Council about suspicions relating to fraud, corruption or bribery and 
how these concerns will be investigated  (this also links to the 
Confidential Reporting Policy discussed in paragraph 2.6 below).  

 
 
 



2.5 The Council’s Anti-money Laundering Policy Procedures and 
Guidance for Staff is attached at Appendix C and sets out how we will 
endeavour to protect the Council and its staff from being exposed to 
money laundering, and the Guidance is designed to help staff 
understand the legal and regulatory requirements relating to money 
laundering, and what steps to take if there are suspicions of money 
laundering.  This document supports the Anti-money Laundering 
Policy attached at Appendix D which introduces safeguards to help 
identify and report on instances where money laundering is suspected. 
It emphasises the Council’s commitment to the prevention, detection, 
and reporting of actual, alleged or suspected money laundering. 

 
2.6 The Confidential Reporting Policy is attached at Appendix E and is 

sometimes referred to as the Whistle Blowing Policy as its objective is 
to protect workers from consequences (real or feared) of raising 
concerns about serious misconduct or malpractice such as fraud, 
cheating, or unsafe practices at work. This has clear overlaps with the 
Anti-fraud and Anti-money laundering policies but it is broader in nature 
(and a statutory requirement) covering agency staff and contractors, 
and covers a wider range of concerns regarding misconduct and other 
suspected malpractice. The policy is designed to encourage 
confidential reporting within the Council without fear of recrimination, 
and is in addition to the Council’s complaints procedures.   

 
2.7 The Confidential Reporting Policy is summarised in the supporting 

document Frequently Asked Questions (Appendix F) which identifies 
the key provisions of the Policy.  

 
2.8 At its meeting in March 2016, the Statutory Officers’ Panel reviewed 

the documents set out in paragraph 1 above to ensure compliance with 
the law and Government guidance. Only minor amendments have 
been required to update the policies and documents to reflect current 
Council practice and they otherwise remain fit for purpose.  

 
2.9 These governance policies and documents support and are integral to 

the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure 
Rules.  

 
3. Outcomes/outputs  
3.1 The Council needs to ensure that its documents are up to date with 

legislative requirements and best practice, and also reflect the how the 
Council operates, and this is achieved by annual monitoring by the 
Statutory Officers’ Panel and regular review by the Audit Committee 
through its responsibilities for governance and regulatory frameworks. 

3.2 Through a review of the Council’s governance policies the Council 
minimises the risk of misconduct, fraud, corruption and bribery which is 
reinforced by raising awareness of these issues with all staff and 
providing robust mechanism for prevention and reporting real or 
alleged incidents.  



3.3 The reviewed policies will be available on the staff intranet and the 
internet.  

 
4. Options available and consideration of risk  
4.1 The Council has a duty to regularly monitor and review these policies 

and documents and the Council would be failing in this duty if it did not 
review the policy documents, leading to increased risk to the Council.     

 
5.  Proposed Way Forward  
5.1 The Audit Committee is requested to consider the reviewed documents 

attached at Appendices A-F and recommend their approval to the 
Council.  

 
6. Implications  
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The policies are required by various pieces of 
legislation including: 

• Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 
• Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 
• Fraud Act 2006 
• Bribery Act 2010 
• Money Laundering Regulations 2007  
• Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003, 2006, 

2011 
 
These requirements are also reflected in the Council’s 
Constitution through the Financial Procedure Rules 
and the Contract Procedure Rules. The Audit 
Committee has a responsibility to consider and review 
its governance and regulatory policies and make any 
necessary recommendations to the Council.  The 
policies and documents attached at Appendices A-F 
have been reviewed and only minor amendments 
have been made to reflect the Council’s current 
structure and ways of working, and they otherwise 
remain fit for purpose. 
 

Financial 
 

N There are no financial implication’s to the review of 
the polices and documents 
 

Risk Y The report identifies that the Council has a duty to 
regularly review its policy documentation to minimise 
risk of fraud, corruption, bribery and money 
laundering and to ensure that there are robust 
mechanisms of which staff are aware to prevent, 



detect, and investigate these issues where 
appropriate.  
 
Failure to do so will increase the risk to the Council 
through challenge, malpractice and potential damage 
to the Council’s reputation.  
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 These are contained within the documentation.   

Safeguarding 
 

 Not applicable    

Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder 
 

 This was considered within the policies  
 
 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 This is considered within the policies  

Other implications  N/a 
 

 
 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
a) Anti-fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy (Appendix A) 
b) Anti-fraud, Corruption and Bribery Response Plan (Appendix B) 
c) Anti-Money Laundering Policy Procedures and Guidance for Staff 

(Appendix C) 
d) Anti-Money Laundering Policy (Appendix D) 
e) Confidential Reporting Policy (Appendix E) 
f) Confidential Reporting Policy Frequently Asked questions (Appendix F) 
 
Background Papers: 
 
[under provisions of the Local Government Act 1972] 
 
None 
 
 





   
 

  July 2016 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

South Hams District Council  
And 

West Devon Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Anti Fraud, Corruption and Bribery 
Policy and S trategy 

 
 
 
 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 This document sets out the non-tolerance position held by South Hams 
District Council and West Devon Borough Council on fraud, corruption 
and bribery. 

 
1.2 The objectives of an Anti Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and 

Strategy are to: 
 

� Provide a clear statement of the Councils’ position on fraud, 
corruption and bribery; 

� Minimise the risk to the Councils’ good name and loss of its assets; 
� Promote a culture of integrity and accountability, two of the 

fundamental principles of good governance, in members, staff and 
all those the Council does business with; 

� Enhance existing procedures aimed at preventing, discouraging 
and detecting fraud, corruption and bribery; and  

� Raise awareness of the risk of fraud, corruption and bribery being 
perpetrated against the Council. 

 
1.3 In managing its responsibilities the Council is determined to protect 

itself against fraud and corruption both from within the authority and 
from outside. The Council is committed to an effective Policy and 
Strategy which is designed to: 

 
� Encourage prevention; 
� promote detection; and 
� Identify a clear pathway for investigation. 
 

1.4 To combat fraud, corruption and bribery the Councils’ Policy and 
Strategy is based on a series of comprehensive procedures. These 
cover: 

 

� Risk Management (paragraph 3); 
� Policy Statements (paragraph 5); 
� Deterrence and Prevention (paragraph 6); 
� Detection, Investigation, Sanctions and Redress (paragraph 7); and 
� Publicity and Training (paragraph 8). 

 

1.5 There is an inter-relationship between the Strategy and other existing 
Councils’ policy documents. These include; 
 
• Financial Regulations (Financial and Contract Procedure Rules), 

and 
 
dealing with action to be taken when irregularities or suspected 
irregularities arise, the; 
 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

• Confidential Reporting (Whistle Blowing) Policy,  
• Gift and Hospitality Registers for Members and Offi cers,  
• Codes of Conduct for Members and Staff; and 
• Disciplinary Procedures.  

 
1.6 There is a separate Anti Money Laundering Policy  and related 

guidance and procedures. 
 
1.7 All references to ‘Members’ within this document refer to both elected 

members and co-opted members who sit on the Standards Committee, 
and any other co-optees from time to time appointed. Likewise 
references to ‘staff’ should be taken to include full and part-time staff 
and permanent, temporary and agency staff. 

 
Benefits Fraud 

 

1.8 Whilst the general principles outlined in this Strategy apply to all areas 
of the Councils’ operations, it should be noted that a specific policy 
document is in place in respect of the prevention and detection of 
benefit fraud.  

 

1.9 This deals with the requirements of the Councils’ Benefits Service and 
dedicated Fraud Team, and that of the equivalent in the Department of 
Work and Pensions, attached in the Councils’ Benefit Fraud 
Prosecution and Sanction Policy  (Appendix A). 

 

2. DEFINITION OF FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY  
 

Fraud 

 
2.1 Fraud has been defined as: the intentional and dishonest distortion of 

financial statements and other records by persons internal or external 
to the Council which is carried out to conceal the misappropriation of 
assets or otherwise for gain. (Source: CIPFA) 

 
2.2 The Fraud Act 2006 came into effect on 15 January 2007. The Act 

created a new general offence of fraud with three ways of committing it: 
 

� Fraud by false representation (dishonest representation) to gain or 
cause loss or risk of loss; 

� Fraud by failing to disclose information (where there is a legal duty, 
e.g. under written or oral contracts); and 

� Fraud by abuse of position. 
 

It also created new offences: 
 

� Obtaining services dishonestly; 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

� Possessing, making and supplying articles for use in frauds; and 
� Fraudulent trading applicable to non-corporate traders (extends 

Companies Acts to sole traders etc.). 
 

Corruption 

 
2.3 Corruption has been defined as: the offering, giving, soliciting or 

acceptance of an inducement or reward, which may influence a person 
to act against the interests of the organisation (Source: Audit 
Commission). 

 

Bribery 

 
2.4 Bribery is defined as: The offering, giving or soliciting of an inducement 

or reward which may influence a person to perform a function or 
activity improperly. 

 
2.5 The 2010 Bribery Act says that a person is guilty of an offence if either 

of the following cases applies: 
 

Person A offers, promises or gives  a financial or other advantage to 
another person, and 
 
� Intends the advantage to induce Person B to perform improperly a 

relevant function or activity, or to reward a person for the improper 
performance of such a function or activity, or knows or believes that 
the acceptance of the advantage would itself constitute the 
improper performance of a relevant function or activity 

 
Person B is guilty of an offence if any of the following cases applies. 

 
� Where Person B requests, agrees to receive or accepts  a 

financial or other advantage intending that, in consequence, a 
relevant function or activity should be performed improperly 
(whether by Person B or another person); or where the request, 
agreement or acceptance itself constitutes the improper 
performance by Person B of a relevant function or activity under the 
Bribery Act and organisation can be prosecuted if it has failed to 
prevent bribery.  

 

2.6 Public sector organisations are explicitly covered by the offences in 
sections 1, 2 and 6 of the Act. 

 
2.7 Members and staff must note that this Policy and Strategy reflects the 

Councils’ zero tolerance of both the offering and receipt of bribes. 
 

 
 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

 
3. RISK MANAGEMENT  

 

3.1 Areas most commonly at risk from fraud are both internal and external 
and include those involving the handling of any asset of an attractive 
and portable nature. Among typical high risk areas are cash, cheques, 
credit cards, contracts, income, payments, expense claims, housing 
benefits, loans, investments, payroll, grants and stores etc. 

 

3.2 Areas where corrupt practices or bribery may be found may include, 
but are not limited to, the award of permissions, planning consents and 
licences, canvassing for appointments, hospitality, interests of 
members and officers, secondary employment of staff which may 
influence their work for an authority, pressure selling, tendering and 
award of contracts, settlement of contractors’ final accounts and claims 
and the disposal of assets. 

 

3.3 The risk of fraud, corruption and bribery is reflected in the Councils’ 
Risk Register. The Risk Registers link to the Councils’ objectives and 
priorities and the System of Internal Control.  

 
3.4 These processes require managers to identify the key risks to 

achieving their service objectives and the controls to mitigate these 
risks, which may include fraud or corruption. Assurance that the 
controls to mitigate the risks are in place and operating satisfactorily is 
required, also annually, and give consideration to 3.1 and 3.2 above.  

 

4. EXTERNAL SCRUTINY 
 

4.1 The Councils are aware of the high level of external scrutiny of its 
affairs by a variety of bodies and individuals including: 

 

� Local tax payers and community groups; 
� Pressure groups; 
� Service users; 
� Local press; 
� The Councils’ external auditors; 
� Government Departments and Agencies; and 
� HM Revenue and Customs. 

 

4.2 The adoption of a formal Anti Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and 
Strategy will provide a degree of assurance to those external bodies 
and individuals interested in the Councils’ activities.  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

5. POLICY STATEMENTS  
 

Culture 

 
5.1 The Councils are determined that the culture and tone of the 

organisation will be, and is seen to be, one of openness, honesty and 
opposition to fraud, corruption or bribery. 

 
5.2 The Councils are committed to discouraging, preventing and detecting 

fraud, corruption and bribery where attempted on, or from within, the 
Councils’ organisation. 

 

5.3 The Councils expect members and staff at all levels to be aware of the 
standards of conduct expected of them and the procedures designed to 
reduce the risk of fraud, corruption and bribery occurring. 

 

5.4 Members and staff are responsible for their own conduct and 
compliance with this strategy and are required to comply with their 
respective codes of conduct. 

 

5.5 There is an expectation and requirement that individuals, suppliers and 
organisations associated in whatever way with the Councils will act 
with integrity, and that members and Council staff will lead by example 
in these matters. 

 

Members and Staff 

 
5.6 Members and staff are positively encouraged to raise any concerns on 

fraud, corruption and bribery matters normally, but not exclusively, 
through a Group Manager or other line manager. This they can do in 
the knowledge that such concerns will be treated in confidence and 
properly investigated. If necessary a route other than through a line 
manager may be used to raise such concerns, e.g. Internal Audit, 
Executive Directors, S.151 Officer or Monitoring Officer. 

 

5.7 The Councils have drawn up a separate policy and procedure to deal 
with any area of concern that an employee may wish to bring to the 
attention of the management, the ‘Confidential Reporting (Whistle 
Blowing) Policy’ . 

 

5.8 The Councils’ Monitoring Officer needs to be informed of any actual or 
suspected breaches of the law or codes of practice. Regular formal 
meetings between the S.151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and related 
officers, an officer group known as the Statutory Officers Panel, 
discuss potential issues and the Group holds urgent meetings when 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

suspected breaches of the law or codes of practice are identified. (See 
section 7 of this document relating to investigation). 

 

5.9 The primary responsibility for maintaining sound arrangements to 
prevent and detect fraud, corruption and bribery rests with 
management. Any manager made aware of suspected fraud, 
corruption and bribery will adopt defined procedures by: 

 

• Dealing promptly with the matter; 
• Recording all evidence received; 
• Ensuring that evidence is sound and adequately supported; 
• Ensuring security of evidence collected; 
• Notifying the s.151 Officer, and the Councils’ Monitoring Officer; 

and 
• Implementing Council disciplinary procedures were appropriate. 

 

5.10 Any abuse of this process by knowingly raising unfounded and/or 
malicious allegations may be dealt with as a disciplinary matter. 

 

5.11 The Councils can be expected to deal swiftly and thoroughly with any 
member or member of staff who defrauds or attempts to defraud the 
Council or who is corrupt. The Councils will be robust in dealing with 
financial malpractice. 

 

Partner Organisations and Members of the Public 

 

5.12 In addition, partner organisations or members of the public are also 
encouraged to report concerns through any of the above avenues. The 
principles and processes described in this Strategy and its Appendices, 
and the Councils’ Confidential Reporting (Whistle Blowing) Policy , 
will be applied to any concerns formally reported by partner 
organisations or members of the public. 

 

Monitoring 

 

5.13 The S.151 Officer will monitor the effectiveness of all aspects of the 
arrangements for the anti fraud, corruption and bribery culture including 
the approach to investigations, success of sanctions and processes for 
recovering loss. On a risk basis, the S.151 Officer will make informed 
judgements about the levels of budgetary investment in work to counter 
fraud, corruption and bribery. 

 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

5.14 The Audit Committee’s terms of reference require them to monitor 
Council policies on confidential reporting, anti-fraud, anti-
corruption and anti-bribery . 

 
5.15 A regular report to the Committee by the Internal Auditor will inform 

Members of any suspected or proven fraud, corruption or bribery 
identified and the system changes required to ensure that the 
circumstances are not repeated.  

 

6. DETERRENCE AND PREVENTION 
 

6.1 The effectiveness of the Councils’ financial arrangements will have a 
major bearing on its ability to minimise fraud, corruption and bribery. To 
actively prevent fraud the Councils must identify and remove the 
opportunity to commit crime from new policies and systems and to 
revise existing ones to remove apparent weaknesses. 

 
6.2 The Councils will endeavour to act robustly and decisively when fraud, 

bribery or corruption is suspected and proven. This will be 
demonstrated through disciplinary action or prosecution. The Council 
will take action to help ensure the maximum recoveries for the Council.  

 
Prevention – Internal Controls 

 

6.3 As the appointed officer under ‘Section 151’ of the Local Government 
Act, 1972 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations (various years) 
responsible for making arrangements for the proper administration of 
the Councils’ financial affairs, the Community of Practice (COP) Lead 
Finance (S. 151 Officer) is required to: 

 

� Maintain an effective accounting system; 
� Comply with statutory financial reporting deadlines; and 
� Maintain an adequate and effective internal audit. 
 

6.4 The Regulations required that a Deputy S.151 Officer be formally 
nominated. 
 

6.5 The 2003, 2006 and 2011 Accounts and Audit Regulations require the 
Councils to ensure that they have adequate and effective financial 
management and a sound System of Internal Control  (SIC). It must 
review the system annually and publish a statement with the accounts 
(the annual Governance Statement). 

 
6.6 The Councils’ Financial Procedure Rules (part of the Constitution) also 

require the S.151 Officer to maintain a planned continuous internal 
audit  to form part of the system of internal control, assist in the 
protection of the Councils’ assets and the detection and prevention of 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

fraud and error. In consultation with the internal and external audit 
managers, special attention within audit plans is paid to those activities 
particularly exposed to the risk of fraud, corruption and bribery 
(paragraph 3.0). 

 

6.7 The adequacy and appropriateness of the Councils’ financial systems 
is independently reviewed by both internal and external audit. Senior 
management are required to be responsive to audit recommendations, 
and any issues.  

 
6.8 The Councils’ arrangements for preventing fraud will be considered by 

the Audit Committee on a regular basis. The arrangements will include 
Internal Audit and the Benefits Fraud Team carrying out pro-active and 
reactive work. 

 
6.9 The Internal Auditor will take the appropriate steps to communicate to 

the appropriate managers, on a timely basis, the details of any fraud 
bulletins (warnings) received from the external auditor and any other 
source to ensure safeguards are in place.  

 
6.10 The Councils will liaise and co-operate with other interested agencies 

and authorities, including the Audit Commission, Department for Work 
and Pensions, the Police, professional bodies, and other local authority 
networks, by, for example, exchanging information on current trends 
and remedies and membership of the National Anti Fraud Network 
(NAFN). 

 
Prevention – Staff 

 

6.11 The Councils recognise that a key preventative measure in the fight 
against fraud, corruption and bribery is to take effective steps at the 
recruitment stage to establish, as far as possible, the previous record 
of potential staff in terms of their propriety and integrity. Staff 
recruitment is therefore required to be in accordance with procedures 
laid down by the Head of Corporate Services, and, to obtain a written 
reference regarding known honesty and integrity of potential staff 
before employment offers are made. 

 
6.12 In the case of agency staff, references will have been taken by the 

agency to establish the honesty and integrity of the employee. 
 

6.13 Council staff are expected to follow any Code of Conduct  related to 
their employment or to their professional bodies or qualifications. This 
will be emphasised in staff induction procedures. 

 
6.14 Employees who hold professional, trade or other appropriate 

qualifications are expected to comply with codes of conduct issued by 
the organisations of which they are members. 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

 
6.15 Council staff are required to notify the Councils’ Monitoring Officer of 

offers of gifts or hospitality in any way related to their employment. 
 

6.16 Any relevant pecuniary interests which, if publicly known, could be 
perceived as being likely to interfere with their independent judgement, 
must also be notified to, and recorded by, the Monitoring Officer.  

 

Prevention – Members 

 

6.17 The Councils’ constitution contains a statement of the roles, functions, 
rights and duties of Members of the Council of Councillors. All 
members are required to comply with the Constitution, which includes a 
Code of Conduct.  

 
6.18 All members of the Councils are required under the Councils’ Code of 

Conduct  to notify the Councils’ Monitoring Officer of:  
 

� Any areas of conflict between their Council duties and other areas 
of their personal or professional lives; and 

� Any offers of gifts or hospitality as specified in the code (to a value 
exceeding £25), which are in any way related to the performance of 
their duties to the Council. 

 
6.19 The Authority has in place a Standards Committee that promotes and 

maintains high standards of member conduct and assists members to 
observe the code of conduct. 

 

7. DETECTION, INVESTIGATION, SANCTIONS AND REDRESS  
 

7.1 Prevention systems, particularly internal control systems, within the 
Council have been designed to provide indicators of any fraudulent 
activity. 

 

7.2 It is often the alertness of staff and the public to such indicators that 
enables detection to occur and the appropriate action to take place 
when there is evidence that fraud or corruption may be in progress. 

 

7.3 Despite the best efforts of financial managers and auditors, many 
frauds are discovered by chance or ‘tip off’, and the Councils have in 
place arrangements to enable such information to be properly dealt 
with - the Confidential Reporting (Whistle Blowing) Policy an d the 
Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Response Plan both of which are 
available on the Councils’ Intranet. 

 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

7.4 Other methods of detection will be employed, on a risk basis, by those 
officers of the Councils charged to do so.  

 
7.5 These will include analytical intelligence techniques and the sharing of 

information, within the data protection rules, with other agencies both 
locally and nationally. Examples of bodies involved in sharing such 
intelligence and data are External Audit, The Cabinet Office - National 
Fraud Initiative (NFI) and Department for Works and Pensions (DWP). 

 

Investigation 

 

7.6 An Investigating Officer will be appointed by the Executive Directors 
and/or S.151 Officer, following liaison with the Monitoring Officer, for 
fraud, corruption or bribery investigations (normally the Internal 
Auditor). 

 

7.7 A detailed Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Response Plan  has been 
written which contains Flow Diagrams showing the Reporting, 
Investigation and Action stages under the following headings: 

 
• Notifying Suspected Fraud; 

o Line Management; 
o Confidential Reporting - S.151 Officer, Executive Directors, 

Monitoring Officer, Group Managers and/or Internal Audit; 
• Investigating Suspected Fraud; 

o Steps to be taken; 
o Responsibilities of the Investigating Officer; 

• Liaison with External Audit and the Police; 
• Interim Report/Final Report; 
• Outcomes; 

o Disciplinary; 
o Prosecution; 
o Exoneration; 

• Confidentiality; and 
• Postscript – Defamation. 
 

7.8 The Response Plan is available to all staff on the Councils’ Intranet. 
 
7.9 Depending on the nature and anticipated extent of the allegations, 

Internal Audit will normally work closely with management and other 
agencies such as the Police to ensure that all allegations and evidence 
are properly investigated and reported upon. 

 
7.10 Any control weaknesses identified by an investigation must be reported 

to the relevant manager to allow improvements to be made that will 
ensure that there is no opportunity for further fraud or corruption. 

  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

Sanctions and Redress 

 

7.11 The Councils’ Disciplinary Procedures  will be used where the 
outcome of the Investigation indicates improper behaviour of staff. 

 
7.12 Sanctions by Standards Committee for members would follow a finding 

of the breach of the Members Code of Conduct. 
 

7.13 For both staff and Members In cases where financial impropriety is 
discovered, the Councils will normally wish the Police and Crown 
Prosecution Service to assess evidence and make the decision to 
prosecute or not. 

 

7.14 The Councils will always seek to recover any losses incurred as a 
result of fraud, corruption or bribery, wherever this is practical, 
including the use of the civil law if appropriate. Losses will be 
calculated using a professional statistical methodology for making 
accurate estimates, building in a proper level of independent valuation 
as required.  

 

Investigations Not Involving Fraud or Corruption 

 

7.15 The investigation process related to the Councils’ Disciplinary 
Procedures  will only be used to for those enquiries where no fraud, 
corruption or bribery is suspected. 

 

7.16 The manager responsible for human resources will outline any 
investigations undertaken under the Disciplinary Procedures to the 
S.151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and relevant officers, who meet as an 
officer group known as the Statutory Officers Panel, on a regular basis. 

 

8. TRAINING AND PUBLICITY  
 

8.1 The Councils recognise that the continuing success of its Anti Fraud, 
Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy and its general credibility 
will depend largely on the effectiveness of programmed training and 
responsiveness of staff throughout the organisation through 
publication. 

 

Training 

 
8.2 It is, therefore, apparent that all staff involved in fraud work should be 

properly and regularly trained in all aspects of it. The training plans of 
all relevant staff, produced annually as part of the Councils’ appraisal 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

system, will reflect this requirement and include both internal and 
externally training provision. Such training will be tailored to the needs 
of the individual staff member concerned, and is therefore dependent 
upon knowledge and experience.  

 

8.3 The Councils support the concept of induction and subsequent training 
for all staff in this area, but particularly for staff involved in internal 
control systems to ensure that their responsibilities and duties are 
regularly highlighted and reinforced. This can be linked with training 
and awareness of other key documents such as the Confidential 
Reporting Policy and Anti-Money Laundering Procedures. 

 

8.4 The possibility of disciplinary action against staff that ignore such 
training and guidance is clear. 

 
Publicity 

 

8.5 Methods of publication of the Strategy and Response Plan will be 
sought, with the clear goal of ensuring that all staff are aware of the 
zero tolerance culture and targeting those officers in areas of high risk 
of fraud loss. 

 

• The Councils’ Website; 
• Externally through the Councils’ community publications; 
• The Councils’ Intranet; 
• Member’s Bulletin or equivalent; 
• Promotional sessions at section team meetings; 
• Flyer on Notice Boards or accompanying payslips; and 
• Occasional reminder e-mails to all staff and members. 

 

9. POLICY REVIEW 
 

9.1 The Councils have in place a clear network of systems and procedures 
to assist in the fight against fraud, corruption and bribery. It is 
determined that these arrangements will keep pace with any future 
developments in both preventative and detection techniques regarding 
fraudulent or corrupt activity that may affect its operation. 

 

9.2 To this end, the Councils maintain a continuous overview of such 
arrangements through, in particular, its S.151 Officer and its Internal 
and External Auditors and through the probity role of the Monitoring 
Officer and the Statutory Officers Panel. 

 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION and BRIBERY POLICY and STRAT EGY 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy 
July 2016 

9.3 This policy will be reviewed annually by the S.151 Officer or at the 
specific request of the Councils’ Monitoring Officer, and formally 
updated at least every 3 years. 



APPENDIX A 

 

July 2016 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

South Hams District Council 
And 

West Devon Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Benefit Fraud 
Prosecution and Sanction P olicy 

 
 
 



 APPENDIX A 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT AND WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
BENEFIT FRAUD PROSECUTION AND SANCTION POLICY 
 

Housing and Council Tax Benefit Fraud Prosecution and Sanction Policy 
July 2016 
 

This Policy relates specifically to benefit fraud but links to the principles set out in the 
Councils’ Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy  and Strategy . 
 
Statement of Intent 
 
West Devon and South Hams Councils’ Revenue and Benefits Section is committed 
to protecting the public purse. Local Authorities have been vigorously encouraged by 
District Audit and the Benefit Fraud Inspectorate to develop prosecution and sanction 
policies to deal with those who commit fraud against their Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit administration. This policy allows the Revenue and Benefits 
Service to ensure, an equitable and consistent approach to the prosecution and 
sanction of offenders and that when Fraud is identified it is dealt with effectively and 
in the public’s best interest. 
  
Where sufficient evidence has been gathered to show that a fraud has been 
committed, then a sanction or prosecution should be the normal outcome. 
 
However, there are instances, where prosecution is not the correct option and the 
policy must identify those offences which should be cautioned or sanctioned. 
Conversely, it should also set out those types of cases where these remedies are not 
applicable.  Prosecution and Sanction principles have been drawn up to enable 
consistent decisions to be made on each case that falls to be considered so that it 
can be shown that each instance has been treated fairly and reasonably. However 
comprehensive the policy might appear, it still will not cover every circumstance or 
series of events and should be regarded as providing the general principles and 
guidance to make a consistent and fair decision  
 
Where it is decided that the case does not fall within the Councils’ criteria to 
prosecute or sanction, the Councils are still committed to recovering all overpaid 
benefit.  
 
When proceedings are considered, there are four basic standards to be borne in 
mind by the Councils.  
 

• Is there sufficient evidence to justify the laying of information before the 
magistrate?  

• Is a prosecution in the public interest? 
• Does the prosecution meet the criteria laid down in the Councils’ policy 

(equivalent to that in the Code for Crown Prosecutors)? 
• Should an administrative penalty or formal caution be issued as an 

alternative? 
  
Prosecutions 
 
If any of the factors below are present in a case and the quality of the evidence is 
such that a successful prosecution could be brought, then prosecution should be 
seriously considered: 
 



 APPENDIX A 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT AND WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
BENEFIT FRAUD PROSECUTION AND SANCTION POLICY 
 

Housing and Council Tax Benefit Fraud Prosecution and Sanction Policy 
July 2016 
 

• The amount of money obtained is substantial and in excess of £2,000; 
• Whether there is evidence of the offence being pre-meditated; 
• The fraud has continued over a long period; 
• Any previous incidence of fraud; 
• Whether multiple claims are involved; 
• Whether the alleged offender is in a position of trust; 
• Whether there is Landlord/tenant or employer/employee collusion; 
• Whether the offence, although not serious itself, is widespread in the area it 

was committed; 
• Whether there are grounds for believing that the offence is likely to be 

continued or repeated, for example by a history of recurring conduct; 
• Whether there would be  positive publicity which would act as a deterrent to 

others; 
• An involvement by the perpetrator in other fraudulent benefit or allowance 

claims; and 
• A refusal of the perpetrator to accept a caution or an administration penalty 

when offered. 
 
Factors present in a case which might argue against prosecution: 
 

• The alleged offender’s physical and mental condition; 
• Voluntary disclosure and full co-operation with the investigation by the alleged 

offender; 
• Mitigating social/domestic factors e.g. if the perpetrator is elderly or infirm 
• First offence; 
• Where a more fitting sanction would be an administration penalty or Local 

Authority caution; 
• Offer of restitution [either in full or by instalments]; 
• Adverse publicity; 
• Failure in benefits administration, including delay; and 
• Most crucially concerns or doubts about the quality of the evidence obtained.  

 
Whereas the factors laid out above are general guiding principles, each case still 
needs to be treated on its own merits and a decision then reached as to whether a 
prosecution would be both in the Councils and the general public interest. 
 
As an alternative to prosecution it may be appropriate to offer either an administrative 
penalty or a caution. 
 
Administrative Penalties 
 
An administrative penalty is a financial penalty amounting to 30% of the gross 
adjudicated overpayment. It can be offered in any of the following cases: 
 

• Where there is enough evidence to prosecute; 
• The amount involved is more than £750 and less than £2000, and not so 

serious as to warrant prosecution at the outset; 



 APPENDIX A 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT AND WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
BENEFIT FRAUD PROSECUTION AND SANCTION POLICY 
 

Housing and Council Tax Benefit Fraud Prosecution and Sanction Policy 
July 2016 
 

• A first time offence where it is considered that the imposition of the financial 
penalty is sufficient punishment in itself; 

• The fraud has not continued over a considerable period [should be less than 6 
months]; 

• The fraud was not planned or premeditated; 
• There has been no previous agreement by the perpetrator to pay an 

administration penalty; 
• There has been no collusion, or 
• The person has not been in a position of trust as an officer or member. 

 
The administration penalty will be recovered over and above the fraudulent 
overpayment. Where the administrative penalty is refused by the perpetrator, or 
where it is not in the public interest to offer such a penalty, the Council will prosecute, 
unless there are very exceptional circumstances not to do so. 
 
Cautions 
 
There are cases where it may be appropriate to issue a formal Local Authority 
caution. This is a written warning issued by the Local Authority for a benefit offence 
and is intended to act as a deterrent or warning against future conduct. The written 
warning is to be signed by the perpetrator clearly stating that the offence is admitted 
and the caution accepted. A copy of the caution will be given to the person receiving 
it and will state that should that person be reported for another offence then the 
original caution may be taken into consideration.  In adopting this procedure we are 
following the Department of Work and Pensions, who regularly invoke a similar 
procedure. 
 
A caution is an alternative to prosecution and can only be considered in cases where 
enough evidence exists to prosecute. Refusal to accept a caution should generally 
result in a prosecution being instituted. 
 
Cautions may be appropriate in the following instances: 
 

• The fraud is a first time offence; 
• The amount involved is more than £750 but less than £2,000; 
• The perpetrator voluntarily disclosed the fraud or admits it;  
• There are mitigating social or domestic or personal factors; and 
• An offer of restitution has been made. 
 

The formal Local Authority caution will be issued by the Investigations Manager and 
should be recorded in a register. These cautions will also be recorded by the CFIS 
team at Plymouth Department of Work and Pensions who record sanctions which 
have been imposed as a result of Department of Work and Pensions and Local 
Authority investigations. 
 
It may not be appropriate to consider a caution where the perpetrator has already 
been involved in other offences involving Housing/Council Tax Benefit or has been 
previously cautioned or convicted of benefit fraud.  



 APPENDIX A 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT AND WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
BENEFIT FRAUD PROSECUTION AND SANCTION POLICY 
 

Housing and Council Tax Benefit Fraud Prosecution and Sanction Policy 
July 2016 
 

 
 
 
General Policy 
 

• The general policy is that prosecution is not likely to be considered in those 
cases where the fraud overpayment is less than £750.  

• An administrative penalty or caution will not normally be offered if the fraud 
overpayment is less than £750 or more than £2,000. 

• Prosecution will be strongly considered for all cases where the fraud 
overpayment is greater than £2,000 or where the suspect has a history of 
fraudulently claiming benefit. 

• The decision as to whether to prosecute, issue a caution or offer an 
administrative penalty will be made by the Investigations Manager after 
consideration of all relevant details and the prosecution criteria detailed 
above.   

• Legal Services will undertake a scrutiny role of a percentage of those cases 
processed for administration penalties and cautions to ensure that the correct 
standards are being applied.  

 
Implementing and Using This Policy 
 
To implement an active sanctions policy as envisaged by the Benefit Fraud 
Inspectorate and the External Auditor requires an investment of time and manpower.  
 
There will be regular consultations between the Investigation staff and the Councils’ 
Solicitor concerning prosecution cases in order to ensure that: 
 

• Evidence is gathered in the appropriate manner and that the evidence will be 
of the quality necessary to secure judgement in favour of the Council. 

• Interviews are conducted in accordance with approved practices. and 
• There is agreement over the final course of action in respect of the file.  

 
Investigations and prosecutions will be carried out in accordance with the 
recommendations laid down in the Attorney General’s guidelines on criteria for 
prosecution, the Code for Crown Prosecutors, the Criminal Procedures and 
Investigation Act, Police and Criminal Evidence Act, the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act, and the Social Security Fraud Act and any other relevant legislation.  
 
In the event of the decision being made to prosecute a case, in the vast majority of 
cases the prosecution will be conducted through the Councils’ Solicitor, though in 
certain circumstances it may be more appropriate to prosecute through the Police or 
the Department of Work and Pensions, especially in the light of the closer working 
arrangements with the Department of Work and Pensions. 
 
Fraudsters involved in Housing Benefit and or Council Tax Benefit Fraud are likely at 
the same time to be perpetrating other benefit or allowance fraud. So it will be 
imperative to liaise with Department of Work and Pensions and other agencies 



 APPENDIX A 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT AND WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
BENEFIT FRAUD PROSECUTION AND SANCTION POLICY 
 

Housing and Council Tax Benefit Fraud Prosecution and Sanction Policy 
July 2016 
 

regarding these policy proposals and to be receptive to valid concerns and requests 
in order to incorporate them into this policy. 
 
There is a warning on the Councils’ application forms that in the event of customer 
giving incorrect information on the form they may be prosecuted. This statement will 
always be a separate paragraph within the declaration, to emphasise that the 
Councils have a strong commitment to deter fraud and to prosecute those who 
ignore the warning. 
 
The Councils will attempt to seek appropriate publicity whenever it is believed that 
the outcome of the prosecution sends a strong message of deterrence to fraudsters. 



 
 

July 2016 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

South Hams District Council  
And 

West Devon Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND 
BRIBERY 

- RESPONSE PLAN 
 
 
 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY - RESPONSE PLAN 
 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery - Response Plan 
July 2016 

1. Introduction   
 

The Council is committed to the values of probity and accountability, but the 
determined perpetrator will always seek a way round systems and 
procedures. It is therefore necessary for all managers to be aware of the 
Councils’ Anti-Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Policy and Strateg y, and what 
is required in the event of being notified of a suspected fraud.  
 
This document sets out the process for staff who wish to notify any suspicions 
and also how the Councils’ officers should respond.  
 
It also links to the Councils’ Confidential Reporting Policy and Disciplinary 
Procedures . 
 
The term Fraud in this document means Fraud or Corruption or Bribery. 
 

2. Notifying Suspected Fraud  
 

Suspected fraud can be discovered in a number of ways but in all cases it is 
important that staff feel able to report their concerns and are aware of the 
means by which they are able to do so. 

 
The Council has several means available to its staff. 

 
Line Management 
 
If an employee discovers a suspected fraud then it should be reported to the 
line manager as a matter of urgency. Whilst line managers should establish 
as many details as possible by discussion with the notifying officer only, 
he/she should formally report the incident to the S.151 Officer without delay.  
 
The Monitoring Officer also needs to be informed of any actual or suspected 
breach of the law or codes of practice. 
 
In some cases the notifying individual may prefer to report the suspicion to an 
independent officer or even to remain anonymous, thus the Council has other 
means available (see paragraph 5.6 of the Anti-Fraud, Corruption & 
Bribery Policy and Strategy) . 

 
S.151 Officer, Executive Directors, Monitoring Officer and/or Internal Audit 

 
 Concerns may be raised directly with any of the officers above. 

 
Internal Audit 

 
The primary role of Internal Audit is to objectively assess and report upon the 
adequacy of systems and procedures, the control environment and 
governance framework, as part of the Councils’ ‘System of Internal Control’. 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY - RESPONSE PLAN 
 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery - Response Plan 
July 2016 

However, they are also charged with the responsibility for being the usual 
means of investigating suspected fraud.  
 
Internal Audit has many years’ experience in fraud investigation and the 
Internal Audit Team will always be receptive to discussing concerns raised by 
staff or the general public. The team’s Internal Audit Manual and the Councils’ 
Confidential Reporting Policy sets out their conduct for such investigations.  

 
 Contact direct to Internal Audit by telephone may be the most appropriate 

vehicle for staff to raise concerns. Where it is the wish for the individual to 
report suspicions in an anonymous manner then this provides a suitable 
medium.  

 
However, the Council will always encourage individuals to come forward and 
be identified as this is an indication that it is not merely someone with a 
‘grudge’ making false accusations and also allows the suspicion to be acted 
upon with greater effectiveness and efficiency. The Councils’ Confidential 
Reporting Policy  highlights the protection that is available to those that do 
come forward.  
 

3. Investigating Suspected Fraud  
 
Housing and Council Tax Benefits 
 
See the separate document Benefit Fraud Prosecution and Sanction 
Policy.  
 
All Other Suspected Fraud 
 
Initial Steps 

 
If a fraud is suspected it is critical that any investigation is conducted promptly 
in a professional manner aimed at ensuring that the current and future 
interests of both the Council and the suspected individual(s) are protected. 
The latter is equally important, as a suspicion must be substantiated before 
guilt is proved. 

 
It is also crucial that the notifying employee does not feel threatened. The 
Council undertakes to protect the identity of such employees in line with its 
policy on confidential reporting. 

 
For each notified suspicion the Line Manager concer ned, the S.151 
Officer and Group Manager, must in consultation wit h the COP Lead for 
Human Resources: 

 
� Involve the Councils’ Monitoring Officer  if a breach of the law, code of 

conduct or maladministration is suspected or has occurred;  
 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY - RESPONSE PLAN 
 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery - Response Plan 
July 2016 

� Initially assess whether there is a need for any employee to be suspended 
in accordance with the Councils’ Disciplinary Procedure; 

 
� Identify a course of action (what, who, when, how, where); 

 
� Identify the reporting process (who by, to whom, when and how) to ensure 

the strict confidentiality is continuously maintained; and 
 

� Bring the matter to the attention of the Executive Directors and Leader of 
the Council when fraud is evident. 

 
Responsibilities of the Investigating Officer 
 
An Investigating Officer will be appointed by the E xecutive Directors 
and/or S.151 Officer for fraud, corruption or bribe ry investigations , who 
must have regard to the Disciplinary Procedures  at all stages of the 
investigation.  
 
Investigating Officers for ‘non-fraud related’ only  allegations of 
misconduct will be appointed in accordance with the  Disciplinary 
Procedures though the COP Lead for HR.  
 
The Investigating Officer will: 
 
(a) Open a file to record chronologically; 
 

� Telephone conversations; 
� Face-to-face discussion; 
� Records/documents reviewed; and 
� Tests undertaken and results. 

 
The file should be indexed and all details recorded no matter how 
insignificant they initially appear. 

 
(b) Ensure the correct form of evidence is obtained and appropriately 

retained, namely; 
 

� Prime documents; 
� Certified copies; 
� Physical items; 
� Secondary evidence (e.g. discussions, etc.); 
� Circumstantial; and 
� Hearsay. 

 
(c) Ensure that the requirements of the Data Protection Act, and 

Regulation of Investigating Powers Act (RIPA) 2000 are met, in respect 
of any surveillance work to be carried out, as directed by the Monitoring 
Officer in accordance with the related procedures.  

 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY - RESPONSE PLAN 
 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery - Response Plan 
July 2016 

(d) Ensure interviews are conducted in the right manner. The important 
requirements of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 have to be 
considered but it will actually be appropriate if fraud is suspected for 
the matter to be referred to the Police so as to ensure evidential 
requirements are strictly observed. 

 
Where the Investigating Office is not within Internal Audit then the latter will 
always be available to offer advice and guidance and the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer should also be sought where appropriate. 
 

4. Liaison with External Audit and the Police 
 
External Audit 

 
The Council has a duty to report all frauds to their external auditors to allow 
them to take a view on the Councils’ control environment and the potential 
impact on their opinion to the statement of accounts. The S.151 Officer will do 
this at the earliest opportunity were the fraud is significant, and for all other 
fraud annually in line with the external auditor’s requirements. 
 
Police 

 
The experts at investigating fraud are the Police. The Crown Prosecution 
Service will also make a decision as to whether or not a prosecution is to be 
initiated. Initial contact with the Police should only be undertaken following 
discussion between the S.151 Officer, the Investigating Officer, the Monitoring 
Officer and usually, the Executive Directors. It is the policy of the Police to 
welcome early notification of suspected fraud. 

 
If the Police decide that formal investigation is necessary, all staff should co-
operate fully with any subsequent requests or recommendations. All contact 
with the Police following their initial involvement will usually be via the 
Investigating Officer. 

 
Where the Police decide to formally investigate this will not impede any 
internal disciplinary procedures; these should continue as normal. However, 
the internal investigation and the Police’s should be co-ordinated both to 
make maximum use of resources and information and in order not to 
prejudice each other’s investigation. 
 

5. Interim Report 
 
As soon as the initial ‘detection’ stage of the investigation has been completed 
an interim confidential report, which may be verbal but is more likely to be in a 
written format, should be made by the Investigating Officer. The report is to be 
made to the S.151 Officer and any other officer decided upon at the 
preliminary stage. 

 
The Interim Report should set out: 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY - RESPONSE PLAN 
 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery - Response Plan 
July 2016 

 
� The findings to date; 
� The interim conclusions drawn from those findings; and 
� To seek approval to continue the investigation if this is appropriate, 

including providing an initial estimate of the cost, in staff time or money, 
of the investigation. 

 
If it is decided to continue the investigation then future reporting arrangements 
and any changes to the planned action should be confirmed.  
 
This may also require a need to extend the Regulation of Investigating 
Powers Act (RIPA) approval if any covert surveillance is involved. 
 

6. Final Report 
 
This report will supersede all other reports and be the definitive document on 
which management (in a disciplinary situation) and possibly the Crown 
Prosecution Service (in a criminal situation) will base their initial decisions. 
 
� The format of the Final Report will not always be the same as each case is 

unique, but will frequently set out: 
 

� How the investigation arose; 
� Who the suspects are; 
� Their position in the Council and their responsibilities; 
� How the investigation was undertaken; 
� The facts and evidence which were identified; and 
� A summary of findings and recommendations, both regarding the fraud 

itself and any additional work required on the system weaknesses, 
identified during the investigation. 

 
The Investigating Officer must ensure that the Regulation of Investigating 
Powers Act (RIPA) approval is closed as required by the Act. 

 
7. Outcomes 

 
Likely outcomes will be dependent upon the evidence and conclusions of the 
final report following any audit investigation, Police Investigation or Council 
Investigation (via Investigating Officer) under this Policy and Procedure are: 
 

� Implementation of disciplinary proceedings (under the Disciplinary 
Procedure ); 

� Criminal Prosecution; 
� Civil Prosecution; 
� Exonerate person(s) concerned; and/or 
� Take no further action. 

 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI FRAUD, CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY - RESPONSE PLAN 
 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery - Response Plan 
July 2016 

Where appropriate, the Investigating Officer will also calculate the loss to the 
Council and advise the S.151 Officer accordingly to enable redress to be 
sought. 
 
The Investigating Officer will also make recommendations to managers to 
improve systems and processes where weaknesses have been identified 
during the course of the investigation. 

 
8. Confidentiality 
 

All proceedings under the Anti-Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Policy and 
Strategy  and this response plan shall remain confidential except as may be 
required to be disclosed by law or in the preparation and course of legal 
proceedings. 

 
9. Postscript – Defamation 
 

Any reports adverse to an individual must be substantiated by clear evidence 
if the risks of inadvertent defamation are to be minimised.  
 
Defamation in law is defined as: 
 
“The publication (i.e. communication) of a statement which tends to lower a 
person in the estimation of the right-thinking members of society generally or 
which tends to make them shun or avoid that person”. 

   



FLOW DIAGRAM A 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery - Response Plan 
July 2016 

 
FRAUD – DETECTION AND INVESTIGATION STAGE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     
                        

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
*Other options for reporting of fraud are detailed at Section 2 of this Response Plan.   
For example Internal Audit may be contacted direct by telephone. 

You suspect fraud or other 
illegal act, or receive allegations 
from colleagues or members of 
the public, involving the Council 
by an employee or perpetrated 

on the Council 

Discuss with your Line Manager 
or others* 

Discuss matter with 
Internal Audit 

If suspicions appear well 
founded, Line Manager informs, 
Group Manager, S.151 Officer 
or Internal Audit  Management  

Does it appear that a criminal action 
has taken place? 

S.151 Officer and/or Executive 
Directors, Monitoring Officer, and 

Investigating Officer   
To consider whether Police to be 

involved or extent to which 
Investigating Officer continues 

S.151 Officer and/or Executive  
Directors  

To appoint Investigating Officer 
who completes initial work and 

Interim Report 
 

Police and External Audit 
to be informed as 

necessary 

Advise COP HR and  
 Monitoring Officer if a breach of 

the law or code of practice is 
suspected or has occurred 

Refer to 
Confidential 

Reporting Policy 

 
To Flow Diagram B  



FLOW DIAGRAM B 
 

Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery - Response Plan 
July 2016 
 

Error of Judgement,  
Negligence, 

General or Gross Misconduct 

Executive  Dir’s , S.151 Officer  
& COP HR  

To consider prosecution (on advice 
of Police), and/or implement 

disciplinary procedures with legal 
advice if necessary 

COP HR to initiate 
Disciplinary Procedures   

where appropriate 

Consider recovery of loss 
including civil action and 

pensions 

Where applicable S.151 Officer 
and Internal Audit 

Management  to Initiate action 
to correct system weaknesses 

with the relevant  
Group Managers  to implement 
recommendations of final report 

Executive Directors or S.151 
Officer  to Inform the Leader of 
the Council of the outcome as 

appropriate 

 
FRAUD – DECISIONS AND ACTIONS STAGE 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 

Which 
  type of 

 case?  
  
 
 
 
 
  Executive Dir’s 
and S.151 Officer,  
to decide outcome 

 

Investigations  completed  
Final Report  

Evidence and Conclusion 

No case to 
Answer 

 
From Flow Diagram A 

 





 

July 2016 

 

 

 

 

South Hams District Council  
And 

 West Devon Borough Council 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Anti-money Laundering Policy 
Procedures and Guidance for Staff 

 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY – GUIDANCE AND PROCEDU RE 
 

Anti-money Laundering Policy - Guidance 
July 2016 
 

1. Introduction and the Councils’ Policy 
 
West Devon and South Hams Councils will do all that they can to practically do to 
prevent the Councils and their staff being exposed to money laundering, to identify 
the potential area where exposure may occur and to comply with all legal 
requirements especially with regard to the reporting of actual, alleged or suspected 
cases. 
 
The Anti Money Laundering Policy has been approved by the Councils and is 
available on the Councils’ Intranet or from the Community of Practice Lead Finance 
or Internal Audit. 
 
The broad definition of money laundering means that  potentially anybody (and 
therefore any Council employee, irrespective of wha t sort of Council business 
they undertake) could contravene the money launderi ng offences if they 
become aware of, or suspect existence of, criminal or terrorist property, and 
continue to be involved in the matter without repor ting their concerns. 
 
These notes are important. They are designed to hel p you familiarise yourself 
with the legal and regulatory requirements relating  to money laundering, as 
they affect both the Councils and you personally. 
 
We cannot stress too strongly, however, that it is every member of staff’s 
responsibility to be vigilant. 
 
Requirements in the Policy include: 
 
• Officers being precluded from accepting cash for individual transactions above 

£10,000 and completing a report to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO) if tendered (section 5 of the Policy and section 5 of these notes); and 

• Client identification procedures for those involved in ‘Relevant Business’ (section 
6 of the Policy and section 9 of these notes). 

 
2. What is money laundering? 
 
Money laundering is the term used for removing from criminal property (including 
funds) any indication or trace of its being the proceeds of crime or terrorist funds, 
most often by passing it through various transactions (which may be bona fide) in 
order to disguise its ill-gotten origin. 
 
The following acts constitute money laundering: 
 
• Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property 

from England and Wales, or from Scotland, or from Northern Ireland; 
• Becoming concerned in an arrangement in which someone knowingly or suspects 

facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or on 
behalf of another person; and 

• Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 
 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY – GUIDANCE AND PROCEDU RE 
 

Anti-money Laundering Policy - Guidance 
July 2016 
 

Although the term ‘money laundering’ is generally used when describing the activities 
of organised crime – for which the legislation and regulations were first and foremost 
introduced – to most people who are likely to come across it or be affected by it, it 
involves a suspicion that someone they know, or know of, is benefiting financially 
from dishonest activities. 
 
‘Criminal property’ is defined very widely in the law relating to money laundering. It 
includes not only the proceeds of crime committed by somebody else, but also 
possession of the proceeds of an individual’s own crime – for example, the retention 
of monies from non-payment of income tax. It does not matter how small the amount 
of money involved is. It also includes the proceeds of crimes that take place abroad. 
 
3. What laws exist to control money laundering? 
 
In recent years, new laws have been passed which shift the burden for identifying 
acts of money laundering away from government agencies and more towards 
organisations and their employees.  
 
The main obligations are contained in the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (POCA) 
and the Money Laundering Regulations 2007,  which broaden the definition of 
money laundering and increases the range of activities caught by the statutory 
control framework. In particular, the duty to report suspicions of money laundering is 
strengthened and criminal sanctions can be imposed for failure to do so. 
 
4. What are the main money laundering offences? 
 
There are three PRINCIPAL offences – concealing, arranging and acquisition. 
 
Concealing  is where someone knows or suspects a case of money laundering, but 
conceals or disguises its existence. 
 
Arranging is where someone involves himself or herself in an arrangement to assist 
in money laundering. 
 
Acquisition  is where someone seeks to benefit from money laundering by acquiring, 
using or possessing the property concerned. 
 
There are also two THIRD PARTY offences – failure to disclose  and tipping off:  
 
Failure to disclose  one of the three principal offences above or, 
 
Tipping off  is where someone informs a person or people who are, or are suspected 
of being, involved in money laundering, in such a way as to reduce the likelihood of 
them being investigated, or prejudicing an investigation. 
 
All the money laundering offences may be committed by the Councils or by the 
individuals working for them.  
 
 
 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY – GUIDANCE AND PROCEDU RE 
 

Anti-money Laundering Policy - Guidance 
July 2016 
 

5. What are the implications for the Councils and t heir staff? 
 
The Councils have accepted the responsibility to ensure that those of its staff who 
are most likely to be exposed to money laundering can make themselves fully aware 
of the law and, where necessary, are suitably trained.  
 
The Councils have also implemented procedures for reporting suspicious 
transactions and, if necessary, making an appropriate report to the National Crime 
Agency (NCA).  
 
These procedures include officers being precluded from accepting cash for 
individual; transactions above £10,000, and should complete a report to the 
MLRO in the circumstances where such amounts are te ndered . For the 
purposes of this requirement cash is defined as including notes, coins or travellers 
cheques in any currency. 
 
Whilst it is considered most unlikely that a member of staff would commit one of the 
three principal offences, the failure to disclose a suspicion is a serious of fence 
in itself , and there are only very limited grounds in law for not reporting a suspicion.  
 
Whilst stressing the importance in reporting your suspicions, you should understand 
that failure to do so is only an offence if your suspicion relates, in the event, to an 
actual crime. 
 
6. What are the penalties? 
 
Money laundering offences may be tried at a magistrate’s court or in the Crown 
Court, depending on the severity of the suspected offence. Trials at the former can 
attract fines of up to £5,000, up to six months in prison or both. In a Crown Court, 
fines are unlimited, and sentences from two to fourteen years may be handed out. 
 
7. What should you do if you suspect a case of mone y laundering? 
 
There is no clear definition of what constitutes suspicion – common sense will be 
needed. If you are considered likely to be exposed to suspicious situations, you will 
be made aware of these by your middle manager and, where appropriate, training 
will be provided. 
 
If you suspect a case of money laundering, you should report the case immediately 
to the MLRO, or the Deputy MLRO in his/her absence either using a form that he/she 
will give to you (and is also available on the Intranet) or, if you prefer, in a discussion. 
He/she will decide whether the transaction is suspicious and whether to make a 
report to the National Crime Agency (NCA). 
 
You should also enclose copies of any relevant supporting documentation. Once you 
have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions given to you. 
You must not make any further enquiries into the matter yourself. All members of 
staff will be required to co-operate with the MLRO and other authorities during any 
subsequent investigation. 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY – GUIDANCE AND PROCEDU RE 
 

Anti-money Laundering Policy - Guidance 
July 2016 
 

 
You must still report your concerns, even if you believe someone else has already 
reported their suspicions of the same money laundering activity. 
 
If you are in any doubt as to whether or not to file a report with the MLRO then you 
should err on the side of caution and do so. Remember, failure to report may render 
you liable to prosecution (for which the maximum penalty is an unlimited fine, five 
year’s imprisonment, or both). The MLRO will not refer the matter to NCA if there is 
no need. 
 
Tipping Off Offences 
 
Where you suspect money laundering and report it to the MLRO, be very careful 
what you say to others afterwards: you may commit a further offence of “tipping off” 
if, knowing a disclosure has been made, you say or do anything which is likely to 
prejudice any investigation that might be conducted.  
 
Even if you have not reported the matter to the MLRO, if you know or suspect that 
such a disclosure has been made and you mention it to someone else, this could 
amount to a tipping off offence.  
 
You must not, therefore, make any reference on a file to a report having been made 
to the MLRO because, should the client exercise the right to see the file under Data 
Protection or Freedom of Information Acts, such a note will obviously “tip them off” 
and may render you liable to prosecution. The MLRO will keep the appropriate 
records in a confidential manner. 
 

8. What will the MLRO do? 
 
When the MLRO receives a disclosure from a member of staff and concludes that 
there is actual money laundering taking place or there are reasonable grounds to 
suspect so, then a report must be made as soon as practicable to NCA on their 
standard report form and in the prescribed manner, unless there are reasonable 
grounds for non-disclosure. 
 
The MLRO commits a criminal offence under the legislation if she/he knows or has 
reasonable grounds to suspect, through a disclosure having been made, that another 
person is engaged in money laundering and this is not disclosed as soon as 
practicable to the NCA. 
 
The MLRO will undertake such other reasonable enquiries deemed appropriate in 
order to ensure that all available information is taken into account in deciding 
whether a report to the NCA is required. Such enquiries should be made in such a 
way as to avoid any appearance of tipping off those involved. The MLRO may also 
need to discuss the report with you. 
 
Where the MLRO concludes that there are no grounds to suspect money laundering, 
or suspects money laundering but has a good reason for non-disclosure, then this 
must be noted in the report accordingly and consent given in writing for any ongoing 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY – GUIDANCE AND PROCEDU RE 
 

Anti-money Laundering Policy - Guidance 
July 2016 
 

or imminent transactions to proceed. The MLRO should consult with the relevant 
Councils’ Monitoring Officer before reaching a non-disclosure decision. 
Where relevant, the MLRO will also need to request appropriate consent to proceed 
with the transaction from NCA for any acts/transactions which would amount to 
prohibited acts under section 327 to 329 of the 2002 Act. 
 
Where consent is required from the NCA for a transaction to proceed, then the 
transaction(s) in question must not be undertaken or completed until the NCA has 
specifically given consent or there is deemed consent through the expiration of the 
relevant time limits without objection from the NCA. 
 
All disclosure reports referred to the MLRO and reports subsequently made to the 
NCA must be retained by the MLRO in a confidential file kept securely for that 
purpose, for a minimum of five years. 
 
9. Client Identification Procedure (Policy Section 6) 
 
Where the Councils are carrying out ‘relevant business’ and as part of this: 
 
• Forms an ongoing business relationship with a client; 
• Undertakes a one-off transaction involving payment by or to the client of £10,000 

or more; 
• Undertakes a series of linked one-off transactions involving total payment by or to 

the client(s) of £10,000 or more; or 
• It is known or suspected that a one-off transaction (or series of them) involves 

money laundering; 
 
then the Client Identification Procedure  (as set out below) must be followed before 
any business is undertaken for that client.  
 
‘Relevant Business’  is defined as the: 
 
• Provision, by way of business, of advice about the tax affairs of another person 

by a body corporate; 
• Provision, by way of business, of accountancy services  by a body corporate; 
• Provision, by way of business, of audit services ; 
• Provision, by way of business, of legal services  by a body corporate which 

involves participation in a financial or real property transaction (whether by 
assisting in the planning or execution of any such transaction or otherwise by 
acting for, or on behalf of, a client in any such transaction); 

• Provision, by way of business, of services in relation to the formation, operation 
or management of a company or a trust ; 

• Activity of dealing in goods of any description, by  way of business, 
whenever a transaction involves accepting a total c ash payment of 15,000 
euros (approximately £12,000 April 2016) or more ; or 

• Activity of dealing in and managing investments ‘by  way of business’ . 
 
Unlike the reporting procedure above, the Client Id entification Procedure is 
restricted to those operating relevant business i.e . Financial Services and 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY – GUIDANCE AND PROCEDU RE 
 

Anti-money Laundering Policy - Guidance 
July 2016 
 

Legal Services. This requirement does not apply if a business relationship with 
the client existed before 1st March 2004. 
Where the ‘relevant business’ is being provided to another public sector body then 
officers responsible must ensure that you have signed, written instructions on the 
body’s headed paper before any business is undertaken. 
 
Where the ‘relevant business’ is not a public sector body, then the officer responsible 
should seek: 
 
• Additional evidence of identity, for example: 

 
o Checking with the organisation's website to confirm their business address; 
o Conducting an on-line search via Companies House; or 
o Seeking evidence from the key contact of their personal identity and position 

within the organisation. 
 
With instructions from new clients or further instructions from a client not well known 
to the Councils, the officer responsible may seek additional evidence of the identity 
of key individuals in the organisation and of the organisation itself. 
 
If satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset then the business 
relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot proceed any further. 
 
Record Keeping 
 
Where the Councils are carrying out ‘relevant business’ and as part of this the 
‘relevant business’ is carried out then the client identification evidence and details of 
the relevant transaction(s) for that client must be retained for at least five years. 
 
10. Possible Indications of Money Laundering: 
 
It is impossible to give a definitive list of ways through which to identify money 
laundering or how to decide whether to make a report to the MLRO. The following 
are types of risk factors which may, either alone or cumulatively with other factors, 
suggest the possibility of money laundering activity: 
 
• A new client; 
• A secretive client: e.g. refuses to provide requested information without a 

reasonable explanation; 
• Concerns over the honesty, integrity, identity or location of a client; 
• Illogical third party transactions: unnecessary routing or receipts of funds from 

third parties or through third party accounts; 
• Involvement of an unconnected third party without logical reason or explanation; 
• Payment of a substantial sum in cash (over £10,000) – see Section 5 above; 
• Overpayments by a client; 
• Absence of an obvious legitimate source of the funds; 
• Movement of funds overseas, particularly to a higher risk country or tax haven; 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY – GUIDANCE AND PROCEDU RE 
 

Anti-money Laundering Policy - Guidance 
July 2016 
 

• Where, without reasonable explanation, the size, nature and frequency of 
transactions or instructions (or the size, location, type of a client) is inconsistent 
with normal expectations; 

• A transaction without obvious legitimate purpose or which appears uneconomic, 
inefficient or irrational; 

• The cancellation or reversal of an earlier transaction; 
• Requests for release of client account details other than in the normal course of 

business; 
• Companies and trusts: extensive use of corporate structures and trusts in 

circumstances where the client’s needs are inconsistent with the use of such 
structures; 

• Poor business records or internal accounting controls; and 
• A previous transaction for the same client, which has been, or should have been, 

reported to the MLRO. 
 
Property Matters: 
 
• Unusual property investment transactions if there is no apparent investment 

purpose or rationale; 
• Instructions to receive or pay out money where there is no linked substantive 

property transaction involved (surrogate banking); and 
• Funds received for property deposits or prior to completion from an unexpected 

source or where instructions are given for settlement funds to be paid to an 
unexpected destination. 

 
Facts that tend to suggest that something odd is happening may be sufficient for a 
reasonable suspicion of money laundering to arise. 
 
In short, the money laundering offences apply to your own actions and to matters in 
which you become involved. If you become aware that your involvement in the 
matter may amount to money laundering under the 2002 Act then you must discuss it 
or report it to the MLRO and not take any further action until you have received, 
through the MLRO, the consent of the NCA.  
 
For example, if you receive cash that you suspect is from the proceeds of crime, you 
must not bank it but set it aside securely until you receive an instruction from the 
MLRO on how to proceed. 
 

Conclusion 
 
Robust money-laundering procedures are essential if the Councils and their staff are 
to comply with our responsibilities and legal obligations. It falls to you as a member 
of the Councils’ staff, as well as to the Councils themselves, to follow these 
procedures rigorously. 
 
Further information can be obtained from the MLRO or his/her Deputies, or Internal 
Audit. 
 



 July 2016 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

South Hams District Council  
And 

West Devon Borough Council 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Anti Money Laundering Policy 
 
 
 
 
 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 
 

Anti Money Laundering Policy 
July 2016 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Councils will do all that they are practically able to do to prevent the 

Councils and their staff being exposed to money laundering, identify the 
potential areas where it may occur and to comply with all legal and 
regulatory requirements, especially with regard to the reporting of actual or 
suspected cases.  

 
1.2 This policy has therefore been adopted in order to introduce safeguards to 

help identify and report on instances where money laundering is 
suspected. 

 
1.3 In summary: 
 

• The Councils are committed to the prevention, detection and reporting of 
actual, alleged or suspected money laundering; 

• All employees must be vigilant for the signs of money laundering; 
• Any employee who suspects money laundering activity must report this 

promptly to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) – Section 
151 Officer o 

• r in his/her absence the relevant Deputy Section 151 Officer; and 
• Where the Councils are carrying out relevant business then the Client 

Identification Procedure must be followed. 
 
1.4 This policy applies to all employees of both Councils and aims to maintain 

high standards of conduct, by preventing criminal activity through money 
laundering. The policy sets out the procedures which must be followed to 
enable the Councils to comply with its legal obligations. 

 
2 What is Money Laundering? 
 
2.1 Money laundering can be defined as the process of moving illegally 

acquired cash through financial systems so that it appears to be from a 
legitimate source. 

 
2.2 Money laundering offences include: 
 

• Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal 
property from England and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern 
Ireland (section 327); 

• Being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects 
facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property 
(section 328); and 

• Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property (section 329). 
  

2.3 Other offences: 
 

• Failure to disclose money laundering offences (sections 330-332); 
• Tipping off a suspect either directly or indirectly (section 333); and 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 
 

Anti Money Laundering Policy 
July 2016 
 
 

• Doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, 
falsifying a document (section 342). 
 

3 To Whom Does it Apply and How Will they be Made Aware? 
 
3.1 Any member of staff could potentially be caught by the money laundering 

provisions, if they suspect money laundering and either become involved 
with it in some way and/or do nothing about it. This policy sets out how any 
concerns should be raised.  

 
3.2 Whilst the risk to the Councils of contravening the legislation is low, it is 

important that all employees are familiar with their responsibilities. Serious 
criminal sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation. The key 
requirement on employees is to promptly report any suspected money 
laundering activity to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer. 

 
3.3 The guidance, general and targeted training that will be provided is set out 

at section 6 of this policy. 
 
4 Staff Concerns and Reporting? 
 
Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) 
 

4.1 The MLRO nominated to receive disclosures about money laundering 
activity within the Councils is the Section 151 Officer. In his/her absence 
such disclosures should be made to the relevant Deputy Section 151 
Officer.  

 
Reporting Procedures 
 

4.2 Any employee who suspects money laundering activity must report their 
suspicion promptly to the MLRO, either by discussing the suspicion or 
using the appropriate money laundering form. A copy of the form is 
attached at Annex A and included with the guidance notes made available 
to employees. 

 
4.3 The employee must follow any subsequent directions of the MLRO, and 

must not themselves make any further enquiries into the matter. They must 
not take any further steps in any related transaction without authorisation 
from the MLRO.  

 
4.4 The employee must not disclose or otherwise indicate their suspicions to 

the person suspected of the money laundering. They must not discuss the 
matter with others or note on the file that a report has been made to the 
MLRO in case this results in the suspect becoming aware of the situation.  

 
4.5 The MLRO must promptly evaluate any disclosure report, to determine 

whether it should be reported to the National Crime Agency (NCA). 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 
 

Anti Money Laundering Policy 
July 2016 
 
 

 
4.6 The MLRO must, if they determine it is necessary, promptly report the 

matter to the NCA on their standard form and in the prescribed manner.  
 

4.7 The MLRO will commit a criminal offence if they know or suspect, or have 
reasonable grounds to do so, through a disclosure being made, that 
another person is engaged in money laundering and they do not disclose 
this as soon as practicable to the NCA. 

 
5 Acceptance of Cash 
 
5.1 Officers are precluded from accepting cash for individual transactions 

above £10,000 and should complete a report to the MLRO in the 
circumstances where such amounts are tendered. 

 
5.2 For the purposes of this requirement cash is defined as including notes, 

coins or travellers cheques in any currency. 
 
6 Client Identification Procedures 
 

6.1 Where the Councils are carrying out ‘relevant business’ and as part of this: 
 

• Forms an ongoing business relationship with a client; 
• Undertakes a one-off transaction involving payment by or to the client of 

£10,000 or more; 
• Undertakes a series of linked one-off transactions involving total 

payment by or to the client(s) of £10,000 or more; or 
• It is known or suspected that a one-off transaction (or series of them) 

involves money laundering; 
 

then the Client Identification Procedure (as set out below) must be followed 
before any business is undertaken for that client.  
 

6.2 ‘Relevant Business’ is defined as the: 
 

• Provision, by way of business, of advice about the tax affairs of another 
person by a body corporate; 

• Provision, by way of business, of accountancy services by a body 
corporate; 

• Provision, by way of business, of audit services; 
• Provision, by way of business, of legal services by a body corporate 

which involves participation in a financial or real property transaction 
(whether by assisting in the planning or execution of any such 
transaction or otherwise by acting for, or on behalf of, a client in any 
such transaction); 

• Provision, by way of business, of services in relation to the formation, 
operation or management of a company or a trust; 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 
 

Anti Money Laundering Policy 
July 2016 
 
 

• Activity of dealing in goods of any description, by way of business, 
whenever a transaction involves accepting a total cash payment of 
€15,000 (approximately £11,900 May 2012) or more; or 

• Activity of dealing in and managing investments ‘by way of business’. 
 

6.3 Unlike the reporting procedure above, the Client Identification Procedure is 
restricted to those operating relevant business i.e. Financial Services and 
Legal Services. This requirement does not apply if a business relationship 
with the client existed before 1st March 2004. 

 
6.4 Where the ‘relevant business’ is being provided to another public sector 

body then officers responsible must ensure that you have signed, written 
instructions on the body’s headed paper before any business is 
undertaken. 

 
6.5 Where the ‘relevant business’ is not a public sector body, then the officer 

responsible should seek additional evidence of identity, for example: 
 

• Checking with the organisation's website to confirm their business 
address; 

• Conducting an on-line search via Companies House; or 
• Seeking evidence from the key contact of their personal identity and 

position within the organisation. 
 

6.6 With instructions from new clients or further instructions from a client not 
well known to the Councils, the officer responsible may seek additional 
evidence of the identity of key individuals in the organisation and of the 
organisation itself. 

 
6.7 If satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset then the 

business relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot proceed any further. 
 
Record Keeping 

 
6.8 Where the Councils are carrying out ‘relevant business’ and as part of this: 

the ‘relevant business’ is carried out then the client identification evidence 
and details of the relevant transaction(s) for that client must be retained for 
at least five years. 

 
7 Guidance and Training 
 
7.1 In support of this policy, the Councils will: 

 
• Draft and publicise, on the Intranet and other relevant places, detailed 

guidance to officers to support this policy; 
• Make all staff aware of the requirements and obligations placed on the 

Councils and on themselves as individuals by the Anti Money 
Laundering legislation; and 



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 
 

Anti Money Laundering Policy 
July 2016 
 
 

• Provide targeted training to those most likely to encounter money 
laundering e.g. cashiers or other officers accepting cash on behalf of the 
Councils. 

 
As a minimum staff will be made aware of the: 
 

• Money Laundering Regulations 2007; 
• Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, part 7; 
• Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001, section 117; and 
• Terrorism Act 2000, sections 18 & 21a. 

 
8 Further Information 
 
8.1 Further information can be obtained from the MLRO and the following 

sources: 
 

• www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk – website of the National Crime 
Agency (NCA); 

• Proceeds of Crime (Anti-Money Laundering) Practical Guidance for 
Public Service Organisations – CIPFA: available from Internal Audit; 

• The Consultative Committee of Accountancy Bodies CCAB 
(www.ccab.org.uk) Anti-Money Laundering (Proceeds of Crime and 
Terrorism) – Guidance for Accountants; and 

• www.lawsociety.org.uk – Money Laundering Guidance from the Law 
Society. 

 
 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL      ANNEX A 
WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PROCEEDS OF CRIME (ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING) 

1 
Confidential Report of Suspected Money Laundering Activity 
 

 
REPORT TO THE MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING OFFICER 
  
Confidential Report of Suspected Money Laundering Activity 
  
To: Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) Deputy; or 

Money Laundering Reporting Officer  
  
  
From: ________________________________ [Name of employee]  
  
  
Service: ________________________________ [Post Title and Service]  
  

Ext/Tel No: ________________________________  
  
URGENT: YES / NO  
  
CONSENT - Required and By When: YES / NO  Date:  
  
Details of suspected offence:  
  

Name(s) and Address(es) of Person(s) Involved:  

[if a company/public body please include details of nature of business]  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Nature, Value and Timing of Activity Involved:  
[Please include full details e.g. what, when, where, how. Continue on a separate 
sheet if necessary]  
  
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL      ANNEX A 
WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PROCEEDS OF CRIME (ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING) 

2 
Confidential Report of Suspected Money Laundering Activity 
 

  

Nature of Suspicions Regarding Such Activity:  
[Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary]  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Has any investigation been undertaken (as far as you are 
aware)? [Delete as appropriate]  

Yes / No  

  
If yes, please include details below:  
  

  
  
  
 
  
  
  
  

 Have you discussed your suspicions with anyone?  
  

Yes / No  

  
If yes, please specify below, explaining why such discussion was necessary:  
  

  
  
 
  
  
  
Please set out below any other information you feel is relevant:  
  

  
  
  
 
  
  
  

Signed: _________________________ Dated: _______________________  
  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL      ANNEX A 
WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PROCEEDS OF CRIME (ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING) 

3 
Confidential Report of Suspected Money Laundering Activity 
 

 
Please do not discuss the content of this report with anyone you believe to be 
involved in the suspected money laundering activity described. To do so may 
constitute a tipping off offence, which carries a maximum penalty of 5 years 
imprisonment and an unlimited fine.  
 
Data Protection 
Your information will be used for the investigation of the offence and held securely by 
South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council. 
 
The Council may share the information with the National Crime Agency (NCA) and 
others to ensure this service is delivered but only where this is essential to provide 
the service or if required by law. 
 
If you wish to see the personal data that the Council holds, please contact the Data 
Protection Officer. 
 
We must protect the public funds that we handle, so we may use the information you 
have provided on this form to prevent and detect fraud. We may also share this 
information with other organisations that handle public funds. Information you 
provide may also be used to check the accuracy of records held elsewhere in the 
council. 
  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL      ANNEX A 
WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PROCEEDS OF CRIME (ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING) 

4 
Confidential Report of Suspected Money Laundering Activity 
 

 
THE FOLLOWING PART OF THIS FORM TO BE COMPLETED BY THE MLRO 
  

Date report received: _____________________________  
  
Date receipt of form acknowledged: _____________________________  
 
 
 
 
CONSIDERATION OF DISCLOSURE:  
 

Action plan:  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
OUTCOME OF CONSIDERATION OF DISCLOSURE:  
  

Are there reasonable grounds for suspecting money laundering activity?  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
If there are reasonable grounds for suspicion, will a report 
be made to the NCA? [Delete as appropriate]  
  

  
Yes / No  

  
If yes, please confirm date and type of report to NCA:   
And complete the box below:  
  

Details of liaison with the NCA regarding the report:  

  
Notice Period: from:                                             to:  
  
Moratorium Period: from:                                    to:  
  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL      ANNEX A 
WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PROCEEDS OF CRIME (ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING) 

5 
Confidential Report of Suspected Money Laundering Activity 
 

  

Is consent required from the NCA to any ongoing or 
imminent transactions which would otherwise be 
prohibited acts? [Delete as appropriate]  
  

  
Yes / No  

  
  
If consent is required, please confirm full details in the box below:  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
Date consent received from NCA:  
  
Date consent given by you to employee:  
  
If there are reasonable grounds to suspect money laundering, but you do not 
intend to report the matter to the NCA, please set out below the reason(s) for 
non-disclosure:  
  
[Please set out any reason for non-disclosure]  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
Date consent given by you to employee for any prohibited act transactions to 
proceed:  
  

 Other relevant information:  

  
  
  
  
 
  
  
  
  

  
Signed: ______________________                 Dated: _____________________  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL      ANNEX A 
WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PROCEEDS OF CRIME (ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING) 

6 
Confidential Report of Suspected Money Laundering Activity 
 

  
  

THIS REPORT TO BE RETAINED FOR AT LEAST FIVE YEARS 
 
Data Protection 
Your information will be used for the investigation of the offence and held securely by 
South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council. 
 
The Council may share the information with the National Crime Agency (NCA) and 
others to ensure this service is delivered but only where this is essential to provide 
the service or if required by law. 
 
If you wish to see the personal data that the Council holds, please contact the Data 
Protection Officer. 
 
We must protect the public funds that we handle, so we may use the information you 
have provided on this form to prevent and detect fraud. We may also share this 
information with other organisations that handle public funds. Information you 
provide may also be used to check the accuracy of records held elsewhere in the 
council. 
 

  
 

 



  July 2016 

 

 
 
 

South Hams District Council  
And 

West Devon Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy 
 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POLICY 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy 
July 2016 

“Whistle-blowing”  

  

1. INTRODUCTION  

1.1  The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 protects workers from the 
consequences, actual or feared, of raising concerns about serious misconduct 
or malpractice such as fraud, cheating, or unsafe practices where they work. 

1.2  The Act applies to “workers”, a much broader category than “employees”. It 
covers all employees and those contractors or agency staff working for the 
Councils on Council premises. It also covers suppliers and those providing 
services under a contract with the Councils from their own premises. No 
minimum period of service is required to receive the protection of the Act.  

1.3  Workers are often the first to realise that there may be something seriously 
wrong within the Council. However, they may not express their concerns 
because they feel that speaking up would be disloyal to their colleagues or to 
the Council. They may also fear harassment or victimisation. In these 
circumstances it may be easier to ignore the concern rather than report what 
may just be a suspicion of malpractice.  

1.4  The Councils are committed to the highest possible standards of openness, 
probity and accountability. In line with that commitment we expect workers, 
and other people that we deal with, who have serious concerns about any 
aspect of the Councils’ work to come forward and voice those concerns.   

1.5  This Confidential Reporting Policy is intended to encourage and enable 
employees to raise serious concerns within the Councils rather than 
overlooking a problem or 'blowing the whistle' outside. It makes it clear that 
you can do so without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination or 
disadvantage.  

1.6  This policy is in addition to the Councils’ complaints procedures, its procedures 
for staff to raise grievances and other statutory reporting procedures. Group 
Managers are responsible for making individual workers aware of its existence. 

1.7  This policy has been discussed with the relevant trade unions and has their 
support.  

  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POLICY 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy 
July 2016 

2. AIMS AND SCOPE OF THE CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POL ICY  

2.1  This policy aims to:  

• Encourage you to feel confident in raising serious concerns and to 
question and act upon concerns about practice; 

• Provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback on 
any action taken; 

• Ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are 
aware of how to pursue them if you are not satisfied; and 

• Reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or 
victimisation if you reasonably believe that you are making any disclosure 
in good faith.  

 
2.2  The Confidential Reporting Policy is intended to cover major concerns which 

affect or threaten other people and which fall outside the scope of other 
procedures. These concerns could be:  

• Conduct which is an offence or a breach of the law;  
• A miscarriage of justice;  
• Health and safety risks, including risks to the public as well as other 

employees;  
• Damage to the environment;  
• The unauthorised use of public funds;  
• Fraud or corruption; and 
• Sexual, physical or mental abuse, or other unethical conduct.   
 

2.3  Thus, any serious concerns that you have about any aspect of service 
provision, or the conduct of officers or members of the Councils, or others 
acting on behalf of the Councils that;  

• Make you feel uncomfortable because it doesn’t comply with known 
standards, or with your experience of the standards you believe the 
Councils subscribes to; or  

• Is against the Councils’ Standing Orders and policies; or  
• Falls below established standards of practice; or  
• Amounts to improper conduct;   
 
can be reported under this Confidential Reporting Policy.  

2.4  There are other procedures in place to enable you to;  

• Lodge a grievance relating to your own employment where your concerns 
are about your own position, rather than the protection of the public, use 
the employees’ Grievance Procedure ; 

  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POLICY 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy 
July 2016 

• Make a complaint about a decision of the Councils which has affected you 
or somebody else as a user of the service, use the Complaints 
Procedure ; or 

 
• Complain about the conduct of a councillor, use the procedure for Making 

a Complaint about a Member . 
 

You should not use this policy for those concerns.  

3. SAFEGUARDS: HARASSMENT OR  VICTIMISATION  

3.1  The Councils are committed to good practice and high standards and want to 
be supportive of its workers.  

3.2  The Councils recognise that it can be difficult to make a decision to report a 
concern. If what you are saying is true, you should have nothing to fear 
because you will be doing your duty to your employer and those for whom you 
are providing a service.  

3.3  The Councils will not tolerate any harassment or victimisation (including 
informal pressures) and will take appropriate action to protect you when you 
raise a concern in good faith.  

4. CONFIDENTIALITY AND ANONYMOUS ALLEGATIONS   

4.1  This policy encourages you to put your name to your allegation whenever 
possible. We will not reveal your name without your consent unless the law so 
requires, but we can’t stop people trying to work out who you are.  

4.2  You should bear in mind that concerns expressed anonymously are much less 
powerful because they are much harder to investigate. They will though be 
considered at the discretion of the Councils.  

In exercising this discretion the factors to be taken into account would include:  
 

• The seriousness of the issues raised;  
• The credibility of the concern;   
• The likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable sources; and 
• The possibility of victimisation from peers / colleagues that would be 

difficult to control. 
 

 4.3  But at the appropriate time, you may need to come forward as a witness, either 
in internal proceedings within the Councils or in a court. In those cases we 
may not be able to maintain your anonymity. It is a basic principle of human 
rights that a person should know who is accusing him or her. However, in 
those rare cases where you may be afraid of violence we will try to make 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POLICY 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy 
July 2016 

arrangements to secure your personal safety. In appropriate cases we will 
enlist the help of the Police or victim support groups. 

5. UNTRUE ALLEGATIONS  

5.1  If you make an allegation in good faith, but it is not confirmed by the 
investigation, no action will be taken against you. If, however, you make a false 
allegation frivolously, maliciously or for personal gain or revenge, disciplinary 
action may be taken against you.   

5.2  Any investigation into your allegation of potential malpractice will be 
investigated separately from, and will neither influence nor be influenced by, 
any disciplinary, grievance or redundancy procedures that already affect you.  

5.3  If you blow the whistle under this policy where you participated in the 
malpractice you are complaining about, you cannot escape appropriate 
disciplinary action for misconduct or gross misconduct (see the Councils’ 
Disciplinary procedure). 

If you did participate in malpractice, and later own up to it, it may reduce the 
penalty that you face. This will depend on all the circumstances.  

 
6. HOW TO RAISE A CONCERN   

6.1  As a first step, you should normally raise concerns with your immediate 
manager who will normally refer the matter to the Councils’ Monitoring Officer. 
Where the subject of your concern is your immediate manager then it is likely 
to be more appropriate to raise the concern with the Monitoring Officer direct.  

6.2  In any event the Monitoring Officer should always be advised of potential 
malpractice within the authority as she has statutory duties and responsibilities 
in relation to matters of illegality or maladministration (potential or actual). The 
Monitoring Officer will be responsible for advising the Section 151 Officer (who 
has responsibilities relating to financial probity) and the Executive Directors (as 
the Head of Paid Service), depending on the Monitoring Officer’s view as to 
the seriousness of the allegation.  

6.3 Concerns may be raised orally (face to face) or in writing. If you make a written 
report you are invited to set out:  

• The background and history of your concern, giving the dates of relevant 
events and explaining their consequences; and 

• The reason why you are particularly concerned about the situation.  
 

6.4 The earlier you express concern the easier it is to take action.  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POLICY 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy 
July 2016 

6.5 Although you are not expected to prove beyond doubt the truth of an 
allegation, you will need to demonstrate to the person contacted that there are 
reasonable grounds for your concern.  

6.6 Advice/guidance on how to pursue matters of concern may be obtained from:  

• The Monitoring Officer; 
• The S.151 Officer; 
• The Executive Directors; or 
• Internal Audit. 

 
6.7 You may wish to consider discussing your concern with a colleague first and 

you may find it easier to raise the matter if there are two (or more) of you who 
have had the same experience or concerns.  

6.8 You may invite your trade union, professional association representative or a 
work colleague to be present during any meetings or interviews in connection 
with the concerns you have raised.  

7. HOW THE COUNCILS WILL RESPOND   

7.1 The Councils will acknowledge your concerns and will tell you know what will 
happen next. You may feel that you are not believed straight away. This is 
because senior officers need to be sure that they clearly understand what you 
are saying. Do not forget that testing out your concerns is not the same as 
either accepting or rejecting them.  

7.2 Where appropriate, the matters raised may:  

• Be investigated by management, internal audit, or through the disciplinary 
process;  

• Be referred to the Police;  
• Be referred to the external auditor; or  
• Form the subject of an independent inquiry. 

 
7.3 In order to protect individuals and those accused of misdeeds or possible 

malpractice, initial enquiries will be made to decide whether an investigation is 
appropriate and, if so, what form it should take. The overriding principle which 
the Councils will have in mind is the public interest. 

7.4 Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for 
investigation. If urgent action is required this will be taken before any 
investigation is conducted.  

7.5 Within ten working days of a concern being raised, the Monitoring Officer will 
write to you:  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POLICY 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy 
July 2016 

• Acknowledging that the concern has been received;  
• Indicating how we propose to deal with the matter;  
• Giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a final response;  
• Telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made;  
• Supplying you with information on staff support mechanisms; and  
• Whether further investigations will take place and if not, why not. 

 
7.6 The amount of contact between the officers considering the issues and you will 

depend on the nature of the matters raised, the potential difficulties involved 
and the clarity of the information provided. If necessary, the Councils will seek 
further information from you.  

7.7 Where any meeting is arranged, which can be off-site if you so wish, you can 
be accompanied by a union or professional association representative or a 
work colleague.  

7.8 The Councils will take steps to minimise any difficulties which you may 
experience as a result of raising a concern. For instance, if you are required to 
give evidence in criminal or disciplinary proceedings the Councils will arrange 
for you to receive advice about the procedure.  

7.9 The Councils accept that you need to be assured that the matter has been 
properly addressed. Thus, subject to legal constraints, we will inform you of the 
outcome of any investigation.  

8. THE RESPONSIBLE OFFICER   

8.1 The Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for the maintenance and 
operation of this policy. He/she maintains a record of concerns raised and the 
outcomes (but in a form which where appropriate does not endanger your 
confidentiality) and will report as necessary to the relevant Council.   

9. HOW THE MATTER CAN BE TAKEN FURTHER   

9.1 This policy is intended to provide you with an avenue within the Councils to 
raise concerns. The Councils hope you will be satisfied with any action taken. 
If you are not, and if you feel it is right to take the matter outside the Councils, 
the following are possible contact points:  

• The external auditor; 
• Your trade union;  
• Your local Citizens’ Advice Bureau; 
• Relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations; and 
• The Police.  
 

9.2  If you do take the matter outside the Councils you should ensure that you do 
not disclose confidential information. Check with the contact point about that.  



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING POLICY 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy 
July 2016 

10. CONCLUSION  

10.1  An important element in the maintenance of probity in local government is the 
ability for employees to be able to raise concerns where they perceive 
wrongdoing or malpractice. Individuals, both local government employees and 
other interested parties, need to know that their concerns will be taken 
seriously and investigated.  

10.2  The Confidential Reporting Policy is only one aspect of measures to ensure 
the transparent delivery of services. As part of the government’s ethical 
framework there is a code of conduct for elected members and a similar code 
for Council employees.  

10.3  The Councils have reviewed this policy from time to time, since it was 
implemented in 1999, and annually monitors the effectiveness of the policy.  



  July 2016 

 

 
 
 

South Hams District Council  
And 

West Devon Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Frequently Asked Questions 
Confidential Reporting Policy 

 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS - CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING  POLICY 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy – Frequently Asked Questions 
July 2016 

1. What is the Confidential Reporting Policy?  
 
This is a policy which allows workers employed by the Councils to “blow the whistle” 
on fraud, corruption, abuse or other inappropriate action or behaviour by someone 
inside, or working for, the Councils. The policy is designed to protect the whistle 
blower from possible adverse consequences.  
  
  
2. Who is protected?  
 
Anyone working for the Councils – employees, agency workers, and contractors’ 
staff. The Policy covers “workers” and so includes people who work for the Council 
but are not directly employed by the Council. 
  
  
3. How do I know that I should blow the whistle?  
 
You will probably feel uncomfortable about something that you have seen, or 
discovered because it isn’t right, or doesn’t seem to comply with the Councils’ usual 
standards of behaviour. It may be against the Councils’ Standing Orders and policies; 
or somehow fall below established standards of practice; or amount to improper 
conduct. If in doubt, ask to speak to the Monitoring Officer. He/she will advise you 
and help you make up your mind.  
 
 
4. What should I do if I find something is amiss?  
 
You should normally raise concerns with your immediate manager. They should be 
able to advise you. They may choose to refer the matter to the Councils’ Monitoring 
Officer. He/she needs to know in any event because he/she is responsible for 
ensuring that the Councils stay within the law, and for operating this policy. You can 
go straight to him/her if you wish.    
 
You need to explain as clearly as you can:  
 
• The background and history of your concern, giving the dates of relevant events 

and explaining their consequences; and 
• The reason why you are particularly concerned about the situation.  

 
5. If you prefer you can go to any of these officer s instead:  

 
• The S. 151 Officer; 
• The Executive Directors; or 
• Internal Audit. 
 
 
 



SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL and WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS - CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING  POLICY 
 

Confidential Reporting Policy – Frequently Asked Questions 
July 2016 

 
6. What happens next?  
 
Your manager, or the Monitoring Officer, will acknowledge your concerns and will tell 
you what will happen next. Depending on how serious your allegation is, it may:  
 
• Be investigated by management, internal audit, or through the disciplinary 

process;  
• Be referred to the Police;  
• Be referred to the external auditor; or  
• Form the subject of an independent inquiry.  

 
We will try to keep you informed about what is happening but it may not always be 
possible (especially if it has to be taken out of the Councils’ hands). You will be told 
the outcome.  
  
 
7. What if my allegation is found to be untrue?  
 
If you make an allegation in good faith, but it is not confirmed by the investigation, no 
action will be taken against you. If, however, you make a false allegation frivolously, 
maliciously or for personal gain or revenge, disciplinary action may be taken against 
you.  
  
  
8. What isn’t covered by the policy?  
  
If you have a complaint about the way that you have been treated as an employee, 
you should use the Grievance Procedure .  
  
If you have a complaint about the way you, or someone else, has been treated as a 
user of the Councils’ services, you should use the ordinary Complaints Procedure .  
  
If you think that a Member of the Council has not acted in accordance with their code 
of conduct, you can make a complaint under that code and it will be considered by 
the Standards Committee.  
  
 





 
 

 

Report to: Audit Committee 

Date: 30 June 2016 

Title: Internal Audit Annual Report 2015/16 

Portfolio Area: Support Services  

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Brenda Davis 

Robert Hutchins 

Role: Audit Manager 

Head of Partnership 

Contact: Brenda.davis@swdevon.gov.uk         01803 861375 

Robert.hutchins@swdevon.gov.uk    01392 383000 

 

 

 

Recommendations:   

It is recommended that: 

1. The Audit Committee note that overall and based on work 

performed during 2015/16, and that of our experience from 
previous year’s audit, the Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion is 

of “Significant Assurance” on the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Authority’s internal control framework. 
 

2. Members note the satisfactory performance and 
achievements of the Internal Audit Team during 2015/16. 

 

 

 
1. Executive summary 
 

 
1) This report summarises the work undertaken by the Council’s Internal Audit team 

during 2015/16, reviews the performance of the Internal Audit service and provides 
an audit opinion on the adequacy of internal control. The report is particularly 
relevant to the preparation of the Authority’s Annual Governance Statement which 

is required under the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015. 



 
 

 
 

This report is to inform members of the principal activities and findings of the 
Council’s Internal Audit team for 2015/16 to the 31st March 2016, by:  

 

• Providing a summary of the main issues raised by completed individual audits; 
and 

 
• Showing the progress made by Internal Audit against the 2015/16 annual 

internal audit plan, as approved by this Committee in March 2015, and 

 
• Providing an opinion on the adequacy of the Council’s control environment. 

 
 

2. Background 

 
The Audit Committee, under its Terms of Reference contained in South Hams District 

Council’s Constitution, is required to consider the Head of Internal Audit’s annual 
report, and to monitor the progress and performance of Internal Audit. 

 
The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2015 require that all 
Authorities need to carry out an annual review of the effectiveness of their internal 

audit system, and need to incorporate the results of that review into their Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS), published with the annual Statement of Accounts. 

 
The Internal Audit plan for 2015/16 was presented to and approved by the Audit 
Committee in March 2015. The following report and appendices set out the background 

to audit service provision; a review of work undertaken in 2015/16, and provides an 
opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control 

environment. 

 
3. Outcomes/outputs  

 
The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Head of Internal Audit to 

present an annual report providing an opinion that can be used by the organisation to 
inform its governance statement.  
 

In carrying out our work, Internal Audit assess whether key, and other, controls are 
operating effectively within the area under review, and an opinion on the adequacy of 

controls is provided to management as part of the audit report. Final audit reports, will 
if applicable, include an agreed action plan with responsible officers and target dates to 
address any control issues or recommendations for efficiencies identified.  

 
Details of Internal Audit’s opinion on each audit review carried out in 2015/16 have 

been provided to relevant members of the Senior Leadership Team to assist them with 
compilation of their individual annual governance assurance statements.  
 

 
 

 
 
 



 
 

 

 

 

 
Overall and based on work performed during 2015/16, and that of our 
experience from previous year’s audit, the Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion is 

of “Significant Assurance” on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority’s internal control framework. 

 
 
 

This assurance statement is in line with the definitions below and will provide Members with an indication of 
the direction of travel for their consideration for the Annual Governance Statement 

 
The above statement of opinion is underpinned by our consideration of: 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Full 

Assurance 

Risk management arrangements are properly established, effective and fully embedded, 

aligned to the risk appetite of the organisation. The systems and control framework 

mitigate exposure to risks identified & are being consistently applied in the areas 

reviewed. 

Significant 

Assurance 

Risk management and the system of internal control are generally sound and designed 

to meet the organisation’s objectives. However, some weaknesses in design and / or 

inconsistent application of controls do not mitigate all risks identified, putting the 

achievement of particular objectives at risk. 

 

Limited 

Assurance 

Inadequate risk management arrangements and weaknesses in design, and / or 

inconsistent application of controls, put the achievement of the organisation’s objectives 

at risk in a number of areas reviewed. 

No 

Assurance 

Risks are not mitigated and weaknesses in control, and /or consistent non-compliance 

with controls could result / has resulted in failure to achieve the organisation’s 

objectives in the areas reviewed, to the extent that the resources of the Council may be 

at risk, and the ability to deliver the services may be adversely affected. 

 



 
 

 
Key Findings 2015/16 

 
As stated above we are, overall, able to provide significant assurance on the internal 
control framework. During the year a number of audit assignments have been 

completed for which an audit opinion of “improvements required” has been provided 
(please refer to appendix B for definition of “improvements required”). 

 
We set out below some of the key issues of concern identified. It should be noted that 
agreed management actions plans are in place to address the weaknesses, and we 

consider that if such actions are completed promptly then the control issue will be 
addressed. Many of the findings have previously been reported at audit committee 

meetings during the 2015/16 year. 
 

Cash Collection – inc. Banking Arrangements  (previously reported) 
Whilst cash and cheque receipts are processed promptly and income is banked on a 
regular basis and properly reconciled, some areas for improvement were identified relating 
to the review and clearance of suspense accounts and the forwarding of cheques to 
departments without a record being maintained of details. Suspense accounts have 
subsequently been reviewed and cleared as part of the year end process.  
 
Creditor Payments  – see App B 
Our conclusion was that the creditors system is fulfilling the purpose for which it is intended 
with invoices presented to the Council being processed and paid. The recommendations 

made contribute to the strengthening of existing procedures around the timeliness of 

payments, potential for duplicate payments, processes to allow VAT to be reclaimed 
when using purchasing cards and greater use of periodical payments. 
 
Council Tax - see App B 
Council Tax bills are accurate and the system is operating with generally satisfactory 
controls but there were some areas highlighted where there is scope for improvement, in 
particular more regular review of Single Persons Discount. Staff resources have reduced 
and some of the audit recommendations may help create additional capacity within the 
team to enable key tasks to be completed promptly and effectively.  
 
Business Rates – see App B 
The billing and collection of Business Rates sits in the same service area as Council Tax 
and therefore face similar resource challenges. Areas that require improvement include the 
monitoring and review of account suppressions and broken arrangements. Assurance can 
be given that bills are raised and calculated correctly.  
 
Benefits (draft)  – see App B 
Although some of the agreed actions from our 2014/15 audit report have been 
implemented there remain a number of outstanding issues, which management have 
advised are either due to limited staff resource, or because there is still work to be 

completed as part of the T18 programme. In the short-term this may also mean 
further concerns and pressure for the service. 

 
Quality checks and targeted reviews have lapsed in recent months, possibly due to T18 

changes and related resource issues but do need to be reinstated using a risk based 
approach. However, we tested a sample benefit claims and can confirm that the claims 
were supported by the required data and were calculated correctly. The ability for 



 
 

 
claimants to be able to submit claims electronically would reduce the amount of 

manual intervention needed in processing some claims and create some additional 
capacity. 
 
Procurement  (previously reported) 
The Corporate Procurement Officer has taken a report to the Executive Director, making 
recommendations as to the future direction of the procurement function, at both a strategic 
and an operation level; we are satisfied that the report addresses a number of issues raised 
in our internal audit report. 
 
Household Waste – see App B  
Members will shortly be determining if SHDC and WDBC will move towards the 
formation of a Local Authority Controlled Company (LACC). If approved, the WDBC 

household waste collection service may also be delivered through the LACC and the 
recommendations made provide an opportunity to help ensure fees and charges remain 
appropriate and at the right level and, that items sold to the public are well controlled. 

Based on our work we can confirm that the South Hams “in-house” household waste 
collection service is operating effectively and complies with regulatory requirements.  

 
Trade Waste – see App B  
The Council continues to delivers a reliable commercial waste collection service to its 
customers which meets regulatory requirements. The charging structure for the service 

was reviewed for 2015/16 with some changes made to maintain the viability of the 
service. Controls and compliance with Council procedures could be strengthened and 
further consideration should be given to ensuring the most cost-effective delivery of 

the service moving forward. 

 
Recycling – see App B  
As a Waste Collection Authority, the Council has sound arrangements in place to 

collect recyclable materials from households, with more than 50% of household waste 

being re-used, recycled or composted. Recycling Credit claims are submitted to Devon 

County Council (DCC) on a quarterly basis; DCC carry out an annual audit of SHDC's 

records to confirm that these claims are accurate. SHDC also administers a scheme of 

payments of recycling credits to voluntary groups on behalf of the Waste Disposal 

Authority, from whom it then reclaims the costs. Some areas were identified where 

the “back office” processes and procedures could be strengthened. 

 
Dartmouth Lower Ferry – see App B  
Ferry system controls are heavily dependent on manual processes and in some 

instances they were not considered sufficiently robust.  
 
As part of the Councils’ drive to review and improve services, an external business 

review of the Dartmouth Lower Ferry was commissioned and the report included a 
number of areas for considerations if the ferry operation is to continue to improve and 

remain a viable service in the future. The internal audit recommendations along with 
those coming out of the external business review are to be incorporated into future 

changes planned for the service. 
 

 
 



 
 

 

Complaints - see App B 
The Complaints system provides a basic framework for managing complaints and those 

reviewed appeared in general to have been responded to satisfactorily. The areas for 
improvement identified are being used by management to inform the updating of policy 
and procedures. 
 
Computer Audit – ICT Incident & Problem Management - see App B 
The Sostenuto Sunrise IT Service Management (ITSM) was purchased in 2015 to 
provide a centralised software solution to assist with the administration of ICT services 

for the future. The functionality and configuration of ITSM together with the use of 
inbuilt workflows, reinforces sound operational procedures. It is acknowledged that the 
system is still in the early stages of development and as yet, not all of the available 

functionality is embedded in business as usual.  

 
Business Continuity & Emergency Planning  – see App B 

There are a number of actions required, common to both emergency planning and 

business continuity aspects, which would improve the organisations overall emergency 
preparedness. However, from April 2016 DCC has been contracted to deliver an 
emergency planning and business continuity service to the Councils. We understand 

that the work plan agreed with DCC addresses many of the recommendations raised 
and that these are to be actioned by the end of 2016. 

 
 
The 2015/16 Internal Audit Plan is attached at Appendix A. This has been extended to 

show the final position for each audit. 
 

The reporting of individual high priority recommendations is set out at Appendix B. 
This is an ongoing part of the report to advise the Audit Committee in detail of 

significant findings since the last report and confirm that the agreed action has been 
implemented or what progress has been made. 

 
Appendix C provides a summary of work where the planned work is complete but no 

audit report produced. 

  
Non Compliance with Contract or Financial Procedure Rules 
There are no significant issues to bring to the attention of the Committee for 2015/16. 

Six applications for exemptions to Contract / Financial Procedure Rules have been 
received, five were accepted and one was not necessary. 

 
Fraud Prevention and Detection and the National Fraud Initiative  

Counter fraud arrangements are a high priority for the Council and assist in the 
protection of public funds and accountability. The Cabinet Office runs a national data 

matching exercise (National Fraud Initiative – NFI) every two years but some service 
areas have struggled to find the resource to complete the review of the data matches 

received. Management have been made aware of the situation. The NFI exercise 
identifies potentially erroneous or fraudulent payments in areas such as housing 
benefits, awards of council tax single person’s discounts and creditor payments. 

 
 

 



 
 

 
Irregularities  

During 15/16, Internal Audit have provided advice and support to an investigation into 
alleged misappropriation of Council assets. The matter was referred to the Police and 
the defendant pleaded guilty in Court to stealing diesel fuel to the value of £464.33 

belonging to South Hams District Council. The defendant was committed to prison for 
12 weeks suspended for 12 months and also required to carry out 200 hours of unpaid 

work. The defendant was also ordered to pay compensation of £464.33, a victim 
surcharge of £80 and £85 costs to the Crown Prosecution Service.  

 
4. Options available and consideration of risk  

No alternative operation has been considered as the failure to maintain an adequate 
and effective system of internal audit would contravene the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations, 2003, 2006, 2011 and 2015. 

 
5. Proposed Way Forward  
We continue to be flexible in our approach and with the timetabling of audits to ensure 
that resources are assigned to specific areas of the plan to enable our work to be 

delivered at the most effective time for the organisation.  
 
PROVISION OF INTERNAL AUDIT AND PERFORMANCE – 2015/ 16 

 
There are no national performance indicators in place for internal audit; however the team 
monitor against local performance indicators as follows:- 
 

Local performance 
indicator 2015/16 2015/16 

 
 

Target Actual 

Percentage of audit plan 
commenced 

95% 98% 

Percentage of audit plan 
completed 

95% 98% 

Actual audit days as a 
percentage of planned 

95% 96%* 

Customer satisfaction 
(percentage of customers 
stating that service is 
“good” or “excellent”) 

90% 100% ** 

Draft reports issued within 
target days 

90% 100% 

Average level of sickness 2% 0.5% *** 
Outturn within budget Yes Yes 

 
*  In addition to the planned work, 50 days have been spent on LEAF (Greater Dartmoor 

Local Enterprise Action Fund) and LAG (South Devon Coastal Action Group) grant 
work.  

 
** During the period we issue client survey forms with our final report and it is pleasing to 

note that auditees considered that the team continue to provide a good or excellent 
service. 

 



 
 

 
*** Sickness relating to officers within the combined internal audit team equates to 2 days in the 

period 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016. 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The Accounts and Audit Regulations 1996 issued by 
the Secretary of State for the Environment require 
every local authority to maintain an adequate and 

effective internal audit. 
 

The work of the internal audit service assists the 
Council in maintaining high standards of public 
accountability and probity in the use of public 

funds. The service has a role in promoting robust 
service planning, performance monitoring and 

review throughout the organisation, together with 
ensuring compliance with the Council’s statutory 
obligations. 

 

Financial 

 

Y There are no additional or new financial 

implications arising from this report. The cost of 
the internal audit team is in line with budget 

expectations. 
 

Risk Y The work of the internal audit service is an intrinsic 
element of the Council’s overall corporate 
governance, risk management and internal control 

framework. 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 

N There are no specific equality and diversity issues 
arising from this report. 

Safeguarding 

 

N There are no specific safeguarding issues arising 

from this report. 
 

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

N There are no specific community safety, crime and 
disorder issues arising from this report. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

N There are no specific health, safety and wellbeing 
issues arising from this report. 

 

Other 

implications 

N There are no other specific implications arising 

from this report. 
 



 
 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 

 
There are no separate appendices to this report. 

 
Background Papers: 
 

Annual Internal Audit Plan 2015/16 as approved by the Audit Committee on 12 March 
2015. 

 
Approval and clearance of report 
 

 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 

also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 



  APPENDIX A 

 

 

  
Projects agreed in the 
Audit Plan 

Planned 
Number 
of Days 

Fieldwork 
started 

Issued 
in draft 

Management 
comments 
received 

Final    Opinion  Comments  

  
High 

Standard  
Good  

Standard 
Improvements 

Required 
Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

MAS & Budgetary 
Control 6 ■ ■     ■   Summary in App B below. 

Banking  Arrangements 
(see cash collection 
below) 

5 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary to Audit Committee – 
September 2015 

Creditor Payments 10 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary in App B below. 

Payroll  10 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Summary in App B below. 

Council Tax  10 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary in App B below. 

Business Rates (NNDR) 10 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary in App B below. 

Benefits Payments  10 ■ ■      ■  Summary in App B below. 

Treasury Management 5 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Summary in App B below. 

Main Financial Systems 66           

Cash Collection (see 
banking above) 5 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary to Audit Committee – 

September 2015 

VAT 10 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Summary to Audit Committee – 
January 2016 

Procurement and 
Contract Management 

10 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary to Audit Committee – 
January 2016 

ICT Incident & Problem 
Management  26 ■ ■      ■  Summary in App B below. 

Internet Monitoring 4 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Issued as a combined report, 
summary to Audit Committee – 
September 2015 
 Email Monitoring 4 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   

Performance 
Management -  PIs 10 - - -   - - - - 

Deferred to 2016/17 Performance 
Management –Data 
Quality 

5 - - -   - - - - 

Risk Management 15 ■ ■     ■   Summary in App B below. 

 



  APPENDIX A 

 

 

Projects agreed in the 
Audit Plan 

Planned 
Number 
of Days 

Fieldwork 
started 

Issued 
in draft 

Management 
comments 
received 

Final    Opinion (final reports only)  Comments  

High 
Standard 

Good  
Standard  

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

T18 Transformation 
Programme 10 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Summary in App B below. 

Leisure Centres 10 ■ - - -  - - - - 

A “watching brief” has been 
maintained as the procurement 
exercise progresses, this will 
continue into 2016/17. 

Marketing & Tourism 2 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Summary to Audit Committee – 
January 2016 

Household Waste 
Collection 7 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary in App B below. 

Trade Waste 5 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary in App B below. 

Recycling 5 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary in App B below. 

Grounds Maintenance 5 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Summary to Audit Committee – 
January 2016 

Dartmouth Lower Ferry 8 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary in App B below. 

Street Scene - Car 
Parking 

8 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Summary in App B below. 

Salcombe Harbour 8 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Summary in App B below. 

Housing Advice  5 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Combined report issued, summary 
to Audit Committee – January 
2016 Homelessness 5 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   

Building Regulations 7          Carried forward to 2016/17. 

Development Control 
(Enforcement) 

10          At the request of management, 
review deferred to 2016/17. 

Corporate Governance 
Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS) 

6 - - - -  - - - - 

Review of the Code of Corporate 
Governance presented to June 
2015 Audit Committee under 
separate cover. Input into review 
of constitution. 
 

Exemptions to Contract 
or Financial Procedure 
Rules 

5 ■ - - -  - - - - 

6 Exemption applications received 
and processed in 2015/16, of 
which 5 accepted and 1 was not 
necessary. 



  APPENDIX A 

 

 

Projects agreed in the 
Audit Plan 

Planned 
Number 
of Days 

Fieldwork 
started 

Issued 
in draft 

Management 
comments 
received 

Fina l 

 
Opinion (final reports only)  Comments  

High 
Standard 

Good  
Standard  

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

Gifts & Hospitality 5          Insufficient resource to deliver this 
review which is deemed low risk. 

Culture & Ethics 6          At the request of management, 
review deferred to 2016/17. 

Coastal Communities 
Fund Accountable Body  ■         Unplanned work. 

Defra Flood Recovery – 
Repair & Renew Grant  ■ ■ ■ ■      Unplanned work. 

Grants –Greater 
Dartmoor Local 
Enterprise Action Fund 
(LEAF) & South Devon 
Coastal Action Group 
(LAG) 

 ■         50 days unplanned work. 

Counter Fraud Work 10 ■ ■ ■ ■   ■   Summary in App B below. 

Advice to Information 
Compliance & Other 
Groups 

5          

Advice and guidance has been 
provided to managers and staff at 
all levels across the Council. 

Complaints 5 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary in App B below. 

Business Continuity / 
Emergency Planning 5 ■ ■ ■ ■    ■  Summary in App B below. 

Follow Up of Previous 
Year's Audits 10 ■ ■ ■ ■    -  -  -  -  

Contingency (Unplanned) 
& Advice 20 - -  - -     -  -  -  -  

Audit Management, 
including 
• Audit Planning 
• Partnership audit 
Management 
• Monitoring against the 
plan 
• Reports to 
management and audit 
 

18 ■ - - -  - - - - Includes reporting to and 
attendance at Audit Committee. 

Other Systems & Audit 
Work)            

Overall Total 345           



  APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Planned Audit 2015/16 – Final Reports  
 

The following tables provide a summary of the audit opinion and main issues raised in the reports issued to managers.  
In all cases (unless stated) an action plan has been agreed to address these issues. 

 

Definitions of Audit Assurance Opinion Levels   
 

High Standard  
The system and controls in place adequately mitigate exposure to the risks identified. The system is being adhered to and substantial reliance can 
be placed upon the procedures in place. We have made only minor recommendations aimed at further enhancing already sound procedures.  

 
Good Standard 
The systems and controls generally mitigate the risk identified but a few weaknesses have been identified and / or mitigating controls may not be 
fully applied. There are no significant matters arising from the audit and the recommendations made serve to strengthen what are mainly reliable 
procedures. 
 
Improvements Required 
In our opinion there are a number of instances where controls and procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Fundamental Weaknesses Identified 
The risks identified are not being controlled and there is an increased likelihood that risks could occur. The matters arising from the audit are 
sufficiently significant to place doubt on the reliability of the procedures reviewed, to an extent that the objectives and / or resources of the Council 
may be at risk, and the ability to deliver the service may be adversely affected. Implementation of the recommendations made is a priority. 
 
 
 
 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

 
 
 

Planned Audit 2015/16 – Final Reports  
 

Subject  Audit Findings  Management Response  

Main Accounting 
System (inc. 
budgetary control) 
(Draft) 

Audit Opinion 
 
Good Standard - The majority of the areas reviewed were found to be adequately 
controlled. Generally risks are well managed but a few areas for improvement have 
been identified. 
 
Conclusions 
Improved controls and more timely reconciliations throughout the year has meant 
that the assurance opinion has moved from “Improvements Required” in 2014/15 to 
a “Good Standard”. Potential opportunities to re-engineer some processes were 
identified during the review relating to:- 
 
• Use of Civica W2 software to control reconciliations; 
• Further aligning and improving the efficiencies of the many financial processes 

and procedures; 
• Self-service tools to reduce the level of finance officer support needed by 

budget holders. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Creditor Payments Audit Opinion 
 

Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
Based on our work we can confirm that the controls in place over the payment of 
creditors are generally appropriate and effective. However we have made 
recommendations that service to further improve existing processes and controls, 
relating to: 
 
• Timeliness of raising orders; 

 
Extra resourcing has been allocated to improve 
timeliness of raising orders. It has been suggested that 
the creditor payments functions for the two Councils are 
returned to a centralised service to enable refinement 
and improvement of the process, this is currently under 
consideration by SLT. 
 
Duplicate payment reports are now run monthly, training 
has been provided to the team to ensure proper checks 
are carried out, extra resourcing would allow this to 
occur prior to all payment runs. 
 
There are no plans at present to increase the number of 
periodical payments due to the extra workload involved. 
Review of purchase card procedures to be undertaken 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

• Develop procedure to identify potential duplicate payments; 
• Greater use of the periodical payment function; 
• Review of purchasing card procedures, including processes to allow VAT to be 

reclaimed; and 
• Review of aged credit notes and invoices marked as disputed. 

 

by Dec 2016 (Resourcing dependant). 
 
Review of disputed items undertaken as part of Year 
End procedure, extra resourcing would be required to 
allow regular checking. 
 
Support Services Case Management Manager (SP) 
 

Payroll 
Audit Opinion 
 
Good Standard - The majority of the areas reviewed were found to be adequately 
controlled. Generally risks are well managed but a few areas for improvement have 
been identified. 
 
Conclusions 
Overall we have found the payroll system and process design to be adequate, 
providing suitable key controls. The computerised system is currently supported by 
a manual process of authorisation and certification. Changes of a permanent nature 
(starters, leavers, change of grade etc.) as well as temporary changes (e.g. 
overtime) require an authorised signature. It is intended that these processes will 
become more automated through online functionality in the future. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The process of automating the payroll functions is 
ongoing and a number of actions have already been 
implemented. 

Council Tax (Draft) Audit Opinion 
 

Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures need 
to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are not 
put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
Assurance can be given that the Council Tax bills issued are calculated correctly. 
However controls do need strengthening in some areas; weaknesses identified 
include the lack of regular monitoring and / or review of: 
 
• User's system access rights; 
• Single Persons Discount; 
• The suspense account; 
• Broken arrangements to pay; 
• Accounts sent to the bailiff; and 

 
 
 
We accept these recommendations and as part of our 
system improvements and transformation are seeking to 
improve processes throughout the year. All of the 
findings of the audit will be reviewed and implemented 
where appropriate. 
 
COP Lead for Housing, Revenues and Benefits (IB) 
 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

• Long-term suppressions. 
 
Some recommendations have been made which will may enable the service to 
adopt a different approach in some aspects of the work which could help create 
additional capacity within the team. 
 

Business Rates 
(Draft) 

Audit Opinion 
 

Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
The findings following the review of the business rates system is similar to that of 
Council Tax above. Both taxes are administered by the same officers and 
assurance can be given that the Business Rate bills are calculatedly correctly. This 
review also found that the suspense account was being reviewed and cleared. 
 

 
 
 
We accept these recommendations and as part of our 
system improvements and transformation are seeking to 
improve processes throughout the year. All of the 
findings of the audit will be reviewed and implemented 
where appropriate. 
 
COP Lead for Housing, Revenues and Benefits (IB) 

 

Benefits (Draft) Audit Opinion 
 

Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
We can confirm that some of the agreed actions to our recommendations in the 
2014/15 audit reports have been implemented. However there remain a number of 
outstanding issues, which management have advised are either due to limited staff 
resource, or because there is still work to be completed as part of the T18 
programme. 
 
Following previous Audit recommendations, procedures for the recovery of 
overpayments have been reviewed but there remains a need for additional resource 
to enable recovery of overpayments to be actioned effectively, although the level of 
debt when compared to December 2014 has reduced by £71k. 
 

 
 
 

Some of the recommendations will be addressed 
through our transformation and the increased capacity 
our staff will have with the introduction of an online form. 

 
We have reorganised tasks and divided them differently 
so there is adequate separation of duties. 

 
We have already put resource in place to address 
overpayments, and changed our processes to reduce 
occurrences of overpayment. 
 
COP Lead for Housing, Revenues and Benefits (IB) 
 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

Treasury 
Management 

Audit Opinion 
 
Good Standard - The majority of the areas reviewed were found to be adequately 
controlled. Generally risks are well managed but a few areas for improvement have 
been identified. 
 
Conclusions 
Treasury management was found to be well controlled and in adherence to 
legislative requirements. Investments are in line with the approved investment 
strategy and the Accountants regularly monitor the expected return forecast from 
the Council's investments. 
 

 

ICT Incident & 
Problem 
Management   
(Draft)  

Audit Opinion 
 
Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
Operational processes for the Support Services Contact Centre are generally of a 
"Good Standard" with Sunrise appropriately utilised to assist with the administering 
of incident calls. Moving forward it is important that they reduce the number of 
reactive and minor incidents that are deal with so that they can be more proactive 
and deliver the service that customers and the Council require.  
 
Service improvements could be realised by: 
 
• Ensuring that officers, members and third parties working for the Council are 

aware and comply with the authorities policies and procedures, including 
security, use of equipment and data; 

 
• Embedding the use of Sunrise self-service tools, the dashboard and the 

knowledge database to reduce the level of first line incidents and free-up ICT 
staff to enable them to add value to their service delivery; 

 
• Use of performance and incident information recorded by Sunrise to target key 

areas for improvement, plan for future changes and identify potential issues 
before they occur. 

 

 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

Risk Management 
(Draft) 

Audit Opinion 
 
Good Standard  - The majority of the areas reviewed were found to be adequately 
controlled. Generally risks are well managed but a few areas for improvement have 
been identified. 
 
Conclusions 
Risk management involves five main processes:  
 
• Risk Identification- Identify the key risks; 
• Risk Analysis - Assess the likelihood and potential impact of risks; 
• Management and Risk Control - Identify existing and proposed controls; 
• Risk Funding - Assess the cost benefit of the controls; and 
• Risk Monitoring and Review - Develop action plans to improve the risk profile. 
 
The Councils' Risk Management Strategy addresses each of these aspects to 
ensure that it meets the overall objectives of loss minimisation. The key objectives 
of the Strategy and how these will be achieved are set out in the Risk Management 
Policy. The Risk Management Strategy enables risks and losses to be managed 
and controlled, thus allowing funds and resources to be used in the most efficient 
manner. 
 
Ten of the higher scoring risks recorded within the Corporate Risk Tables were 
reviewed and assurance can be provided that for each, mitigating actions were 
identified and being implemented. Some recommendations were made to further 
strengthen existing controls, mainly relating to the review and publication of policies 
and procedures. 
 
Risk management update reports should be presented to the Audit Committee on a 
six monthly basis. This is now the responsibility of the Business Development 
Group Manager and following a lull in reporting during 2015 as a result of staff 
changes, reporting recommenced in March 2016. 
 

 

T18 Transformation 
Programme 

Audit Opinion  
 
Good Standard  - The majority of the areas reviewed were found to be adequately 
controlled. Generally risks are well managed but a few areas for improvement have 
been identified. 
 
Conclusions 
The Councils have received national recognition for the innovation and success of 
the T18 Programme: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
We continue to actively manage risk with regard to 
implementation of T18.  



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

• The receipt of £700k Transformation Challenge Funding from DCLG; 
• The award of ‘Council of the Year’ at the annual iESE awards; 
• An iESE ‘Gold Award’ for ‘transforming through people’, in recognition of the 

recent changes made to the way the Councils work; and 
• Certificate of Excellence for ‘Working Together’ for work with the region wide 

Better Business for All Partnership. 
 
The Programme is currently under budget and is projected to achieve both the 
predicted savings and all the planned deliverables. The majority of the Programme 
has been delivered to timetable. It is acknowledged that there have been delays in 
achieving some milestones. These have largely been due to unforeseen delays in 
the implementation of some aspects of the technology workstream and limited staff 
resource at some critical points. 
 

 
Pressure continues to be applied to the contractor in 
respect of the technology workstream and mitigating 
actions have been put into place where solutions have 
not been available on time. 
 
A number of transitional resources have been appointed 
to support the ongoing transformation with further 
resources being brought in as required to reduce the 
impact on the Councils during this phase. 
 
Executive Director (SH) 

Household Waste 
Collection 

Audit Opinion 
 
Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
Whilst in the main, we found the controls in place over the day to day management 
of the household waste collection service and contract to be effective, there were a  
small number of areas we were unable to establish the controls in place as key 
officers were unavailable to answer some queries due to work on the Waste 
Review. The recommendations made will contribute to the strengthening of the 
control framework: 
 
• Ensure that all tender documentation is retained centrally so that compliance 

with procurement procedures can be demonstrated even if the officers 
responsible for the procurement are no longer employed by the Council; 

• Review controls over items which are sold to the public; 
• Review postage charged to the public and the fees for the collection of bulky 

waste to ensure that they cover the Councils' costs;  
• Review 'tipping away' fees charged by the Councils to DCC and vice versa, 

to ensure that they remain appropriate and cover the relevant authority's 
costs. 

 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

Trade Waste 
Audit Opinion 
 
Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
There are seventeen dedicated Commercial Waste rounds covering the district, 
serviced by two Commercial Waste vehicles with each contracting property and bin 
mapped using GPS technology. The charging structure for the service was 
reviewed for 2015/16 and some changes made to maintain the viability of the 
service. Controls and compliance with Council procedures could be strengthened 
and further consideration given to delivering the most cost-effective service,  
including: 

 
• Ensuring that all expenditure is incurred in line with Financial and Contract 

Procedure Rules; 
• Introducing a separation of duties over the entry of bin lift data and sack sales, 

the raising of invoices and reconciliation of the waste management system to 
the Debtors system; 

• Reviewing the methodology for charging out centralised costs such as 
transport and staff;  

• Making best use of technology to allow efficient administration of the service;  
• Reviewing the current model for service delivery and considering alternatives. 
 

 

Recycling Audit Opinion 
 
Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
Councils within Devon work to the Devon Waste Management Strategy, which has 
been produced in partnership with Devon County Council and the Environment 
Agency. The Strategy, which is regularly reviewed, aims to comply with the 

 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

requirements of the EU Landfill Directive, including the meeting of targets to divert 
biodegradable municipal waste away from landfill. Whilst SHDC has sound 
arrangements in place for the collection of recyclable materials from households, 
with more than 50% of household waste being re-used, recycled or composted, 
some areas were identified where the “back office” processes and procedures could 
be strengthened, including: 
 
• Ensuring that all expenditure is incurred in line with Financial and Contract 

Procedure Rules; 
• Retaining evidence of procurement so that it is available in the absence of those 

staff who carried out the exercise; and 
• Providing relevant staff with sufficient training to avoid financial errors which 

require retrospective correction. 
 

Dartmouth Lower 
Ferry 

Audit Opinion 
 
Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
The current ferry system, although providing a good basis for the recording of ferry 
transactions, cannot produce reports which provide complete management 
information without varying degrees of additional manual input. Functionality of the 
system needs to be reviewed to capture efficiencies and ensure that the data is 
complete and not vulnerable to manipulation. In the interim, two people should 
record and evidence the reconciliation of income received followed by regular 
checks by an independent officer.  
 
The ferry now uses a tag system that holds crossings paid in advance by customers 
and a reconciliation procedure needs to be developed to track the payments 
received and crossings made. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
The current ferry financial system is not considered to be 
fit for purpose and is not user friendly.  
A major review of DLF is currently underway, including 
consideration of tariffs and shift patterns. 
The DLF management team have also to go through the 
T18 process in the coming months. 
It is planned to address the ferry financial system once 
these two exercises have been completed and when the 
new ferry management structure is in place. 
 
Operations Manager Environmental Services (CA) 

Street Scene – Car 
Parking 

 
Audit Opinion  
 
Good Standard - The majority of the areas reviewed were found to be adequately 
controlled. Generally risks are well managed but a few areas for improvement have 
been identified. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

 
Conclusions 
The popularity of cashless parking continues to rise and the authority’s accounting 
of income from this source was confirmed as accurate. Parking permit transactions 
are processed accurately and payments promptly received. 
 
However, although the process of issuing permits has been engineered into the W2 
workflow system there remain a number of administrative processes required to 
issue a permit and it has been recommended that the variety of different permits 
available and the process of issue are reviewed and rationalised. This will support 
the streamlining of procedures, realise efficiencies for the service and in turn, will 
deliver a more consistent customer experience. 
 

The Executive Member for Commercial Services has 
agreed that a Task & Finish Group be set up in autumn 
2016 to review the SHDC parking permits. 
Updating of the Street Scene software, Sidem, is also 
being considered, to allow virtual rather than paper 
permits to be issued. It is anticipated that virtual permits 
could be issued much more efficiently. They would be 
checked by Civil Enforcement Officers in much the same 
way as for car parking fees paid by mobile phone. 
However, in order to allow virtual permits to be issued, 
the number of permit types needs first to be reduced. 
 
Operations Manager Environmental Services (CA) 

Salcombe Harbour 
 
Audit Opinion 
 
Good Standard - The majority of the areas reviewed were found to be adequately 
controlled. Generally risks are well managed but a few areas for improvement have 
been identified. 
 
Conclusions 
Testing of the eHarbour system confirmed that income due has been appropriately 
entered on the daily batch reports and brought to account and officers are 
competent in the use of the system. 
 
The eHarbour system is separate from the Council's financial systems and this 
means that additional manual input is required to process all of the daily 
transactions. Some action has been undertaken to streamline the process and carry 
out transactions electronically. 
 
Our review highlighted the importance of maintaining a separation of duties, 
although it is acknowledged that this will not be possible in all instances. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We are continuing to work with the eHarbour software 
developers and also with SHDC ICT to investigate how 
the systems can be further integrated in order to reduce 
nugatory duplication and also remove a potential source 
of error. 
 
Unfortunately it is often not practical to properly 
separate the duties because of the small number of 
staff, but it is conducted whenever practicable. 
 
Salcombe Harbour Master (AP) 

Counter Fraud 
 
Audit Opinion 
 
Good Standard - The majority of the areas reviewed were found to be adequately 
controlled. Generally risks are well managed but a few areas for improvement have 
been identified. 
 
Conclusions 
Overall the controls for minimising fraud and corruption within the Councils are 

 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

operating to good standards. The Council regularly submits reports to the Audit 
Committee and keep members informed of any issues and risks. 
 
The Council does has a good track record of minimising risk and the potential for 
fraud but we have highlighted that some service areas have struggled to find the 
resource needed to complete the review of the data matches received from the last 
NFI exercise. 
 

Complaints Audit Opinion 
 
Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 
procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
The Complaints system provides a provides a basic framework for managing 
complaints and those we reviewed appeared in general to have been responded to 
satisfactorily. However there are some areas where improvements could be made 
including: 
 
• Review of Complaints policy to ensure it includes all relevant recommendations of 

the Local Government Ombudsman; 
• Use of a Complaints system for more effective management; 
• Ensuring all staff involved in administering complaints have received adequate 

training and provided with guidance; 
• Ensuring that the Complaints system allows reporting and meaningful analysis of 

complaints received; 
• Ensuring that 'lessons learned' from complaints are recorded and action taken to 

address issues identified; and 
• Consider the benefits of recording suggestions and analysing both these and 

compliments to identify trends. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• A revised joint Complaints Policy (and accompanying 
Vexatious Complaints policy) has been adopted by 
both Councils. This was developed using best 
practice, and input from previous complainants and 
was reviewed and endorsed by the Ombudsman; 

• The intranet and external websites have been updated 
accordingly with relevant guidance and templates; 

• 90 members of staff attended a Complaints Handling 
course run by the Ombudsman and these courses will 
continue to be run periodically for new staff; 

• W2 is live and now reflects the new Policy with a 
facility for monitoring and reporting on outcomes and 
consequent improvements. The internal guidance 
stresses the importance of recording the outcomes 
from each complaint; 

• Responsibility for responding to complaints lies with 
senior officers (ELT); 

• Training has been given to ELT and is being rolled out 
to other staff who are involved in complaints. 
 

Business 
Continuity and 
Emergency 

Audit Opinion 
 
Improvements Required - There are a number of instances where controls and 

 
 
 
 



  APPENDIX B 

 

 

Planning procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks identified. Existing procedures 
need to be improved in order to ensure that they are fully reliable. Fairly extensive 
recommendations have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 
 
Conclusions 
There are a number of actions required, common to both emergency planning and 
business continuity aspects, which would improve the organisations overall 
emergency preparedness. These include: 
• Confirming on-going responsibility for business continuity and emergency 

planning, both on a day-to-day basis, and in the event of an incident; 
• Bringing the Emergency Response Plan, the Business Continuity Plan and 

supporting documents up to date, as well as having arrangements in place for 
their regular review and validation; 

• Ensuring all relevant officers have received adequate training for the 
responsibilities they would be expected to undertake in the event of an 
emergency and that there is sufficient trained staff resource to provide cover for 
a longer term incident; and 

• Ensuring that adequate information and resources are in place to allow 
communications between staff in the event of an emergency, particularly to 
mitigate for the current reliance on ICT systems which may not be available in 
an emergency. 
 
Please note: From April 2016 DCC has been contracted to deliver an 
emergency planning and business continuity service to the Councils. We 
understand that the work plan agreed with DCC addresses many of the 
recommendations raised and that these are to be actioned by the end of 2016. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The Councils have recently entered into a partnership 
approach with Devon County Council and other Local 
Authorities to ensure a more efficient joined up delivery 
of the emergency planning and business continuity 
service across the Devon Region. An action plan is in 
place to ensure that key areas of concern such as 
updating key documents, identifying areas of 
responsibility and training of staff are addressed in a 
timely approach (by the end of 2016). 



  APPENDIX C 

Internal Audit: 2015/16 Progress Report 
 

Planned Audit 2015/16 – Work Complete (No Audit 
Report) 

 
Subject  Comments  
System of Internal Control 
(SIC), and  
Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS) 

Included within the Internal Audit Annual Report presented 
to the June Audit Committee was the internal audit opinion 
providing assurance that the Council's systems contain a 
satisfactory level of internal control. 
 
In addition, there is a requirement for the Council to prepare 
an AGS statement. Internal Audit provided support and 
challenge, as appropriate, to the Senior Leadership Team 
as they drafted the statement in respect of the 2014/15 
financial year. The S151 Officer presented the 2014/15 AGS 
to the Audit Committee on 30 July 2015 with the draft 
accounts. 
 

Exemptions to Financial 
Procedure Rules 

Six applications for Contract / Financial Procedure Rules 
have been received in 2015/16, of which five were accepted 
and one was not necessary. 
 

Leisure Contract  A “watching brief” has been maintained as the procurement 
exercise progresses, this will continue into 2016/17. 
 

 




	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 KPMG Interim Audit Report 2015/16
	Interim Audit Report 2015/16� �
	Contents
	Introduction
	Headlines
	Organisational and IT control environment
	Review of internal audit
	Controls over key financial systems
	Accounts production process
	Specific audit risk areas
	Specific audit risk areas (cont.)
	Key issues and recommendations
	Key issues and recommendations (cont.)
	Key issues and recommendations
	Slide Number 14

	6 Annual Audit Fee 2015/16 - KPMG Report
	I am writing to confirm the audit work and fee that we propose for the 2016/17 financial year at South Hams District Council. Our proposals are based on the risk-based approach to audit planning as set out in the Code of Audit Practice and Public Sect...
	Planned audit fee
	The planned audit and certification fees for 2016/17 are shown below, along with a comparison to the prior year’s fee. All fees are exclusive of VAT.
	As we have not yet completed our audit for 2015/16 the audit planning process for 2016/17, including the risk assessment, will continue as the year progresses and fees will be reviewed and updated as necessary. We will naturally keep you informed.
	Redistribution of Audit Commission surplus
	Following completion of the Audit Commission’s 2014/15 accounts, PSAA received a payment in respect of the Audit Commission’s retained earnings. PSAA will distribute this and any other surpluses from audit fees to audited bodies, on a timetable to be ...
	This distribution will be made directly by PSAA and not via KPMG. Based on current information, PSAA anticipates that the amount of the redistribution is likely to be in the order of 15% of the scale fee.
	Factors affecting audit work for 2016/17
	We plan and deliver our work to fulfil our responsibilities under the Code of Audit Practice (the Code) issued by the National Audit Office (NAO). Under the Code, we tailor our work to reflect local circumstances and our assessment of audit risk. We d...
	CIPFA/LASAAC has confirmed that the 2016/17 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom will adopt the measurement requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Transport Infrastructure Assets for highways network assets. CIPF...
	Under the Code, we have a responsibility to consider an audited body’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to do this we will undertake appropriate value for money (VFM) audit work. The 2016/17 fees...
	Assumptions
	The indicative fees are based on a number of assumptions, including that you will provide us with complete and materially accurate financial statements with good quality supporting working papers, within agreed timeframes. It is imperative that you ac...
	In setting the fee at this level, we have assumed that the general level of risk in relation to the audit of the financial statements and certification work is not significantly different from that identified for the current year’s audit. A more detai...
	We expect to issue a number of reports relating to our work over the course of the audit. These are listed at Appendix 2. A statement of our independence is included at Appendix 3.
	The proposed fee excludes any additional work we may agree to undertake at the request of South Hams District Council. Any such piece of work will be separately discussed and a detailed project specification agreed with you.
	Our team
	The key members of our audit team for the 2016/17 audit are:
	Quality of service
	We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are dissatisfied with any part of KPMG’s work, in the first instance you should contact me and I will try to resolve your complaint. If you are dissatisfied wit...
	Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited
	3rd Floor
	Local Government House
	Smith Square
	London
	SW1P 3HZ
	In setting the fee, we have assumed that:
	Improvements to the above factors may allow reductions to the audit fee in future years. Where these assumptions are not met, we will be required to undertake additional work and charge an increased audit fee. The fee for the audit of the financial st...
	Any changes to our audit plan and fee will be agreed with you. Changes may be required if:
	Our reports will be discussed and agreed with the appropriate officers before being issued to the Audit Committee.

	7 Local Authority Corporate Risk Register Analysis - KPMG Report
	Local Authority Corporate Risk Register Analysis
	Local authority corporate risk register analysis 
	Local authority corporate risk register analysis (cont.)
	Local authority corporate risk register analysis (cont.)
	Local authority corporate risk register analysis (cont.)
	Local authority corporate risk register analysis (cont.)
	Slide Number 7

	8 Annual Governance Statement
	9 Update on Anti-Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Strategy, Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Confidential Reporting Policy
	Appendix A - Anti Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Policy & Strategy 2016
	Appendix B - Anti Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Response Plan 2016
	Appendix C - Anti Money Laundering Guidance and Procedures for Staff 2016
	Appendix D - Anti Money Laundering Policy 2016
	Appendix E - Confidential Reporting Policy 2016
	Appendix F - Confidential Reporting Policy FAQs 2016

	10 Internal Audit Annual Report 2015/16

